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Financial Summary

B 154 &

(Amounts expressed in thousands of RMB)

Year ended December 31

Revenue
Finance (costs)/income, net

Loss before income tax
Income tax expense
(Loss)/profit for the year

from discontinued operations

Loss for the year

As at December 31

Current assets

Assets of disposal group classified
as held for sale

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Investments in associates

Financial assets at fair value
through other
comprehensive income

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Restricted cash

Total assets

Current liabilities

Liabilities of disposal group
classified as held for sale

Non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity
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2016

—ERF

534,974
(386,461)

(457,981)
(147,166)

(717,086)

(1,322,233)

2016

—TREF

2,260,010

2,407,958

8,849
246,667

820,224

5,847,628

479,915

4,727,926
5,207,841

639,787

2017 2018
“E—+F —T-N\&
657,365 789,704
9,695  (591,749)
(842,566)  (784,960)
(105,485) (47,.412)
(151,425)  (363,463)
(1,099,476) (1,195,835)
R+=-—A=+—H
2017 2018
T+ —T-)\F
1,833,381 753,086
- 5105887
7,719,859 1,798,839
708,193 137,351
182,541 =
= 46,458
727,966 357,212
43,285 45,465
11,308,343 8,244,899
2,747,026 3,359,474
- 4533584
8,829,778 2,043,858
11,576,804 9,936,916
(268,461)  (1,692,017)

(FBSRANARE T TRENM)

HE+=A=+—AUFE

2019 2020
—TNF ZB2%F
756,004 572,471
(663,285 (810,611)
(1,398,673) (1,308,722)
(62,453)  (42,591)
332,177 -
(1128,949) (1,351,313)
2019 2020
—F-NF —B-RF
208704 167,199
1678414 1,079,358
11839 12504
94,026 58582
43,754 7,841
385,363 361,030
- 4,002
2422915 1,691,332
3,050,791 5,058,590
2116256 404,873
5,167,047 5463463
(2,744,132)  (3,772,131)
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Operating Summary
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Properties Held by Subsidiaries

Sales volume
Crude oil (millions of barrels)
China oilfields
Kazakhstan oilfields
Export sales
Domestic sales
USA oilfields
Canada oilfields
NGL (millions of barrels)
Canada oilfields
Gas (MMscf)
China oilfields
Kazakhstan oilfields
USA oilfields
Canada oilfields
Net annual production volume
Crude oil (millions of barrels)
China oilfields
Kazakhstan oilfields
USA oilfields
Canada oilfields
NGL (millions of barrels)
Canada oilfields
Gas (MMscf)
China oilfields
Kazakhstan oilfields
USA oilfields
Canada oilfields
Average daily net crude oil production
Crude oil (barrels)
China oilfields
Kazakhstan oilfields
USA oilfields
Canada oilfields
NGL (millions of barrels)
Canada oilfields
Gas (MMscf)
China oilfields
Kazakhstan oilfields
USA oilfields
Canada oilfields

Note: NGL — Natural Gas Liquid
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BINHE
%P (Condor)
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%P (Condor)
JNZ K (Canlin)
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INEX (Canlin)
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2 (Condor)
ANEAX (Canlin)
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2016 2017 2018
“TRF SFLF CTNF
3.24 2.38 3.12
2.12 1.98 1.83
1.10 = =
0.95 = =
0.15 = =
0.02 0.01 0.00

= 0.39 1.29

= 0.16 0.51

= 0.16 0.51
1,717.70 2531539  88,788.30
= = 1.33
1,703.72 = =
13.98 1.43 =

- 2531396 88,786.97

3.27 2.38 3.14
2.15 1.98 1.85
1.1 = =
0.01 0.01 0.00

= 0.39 1.29

= 0.16 0.51

= 0.16 0.51
1,899.18 2532056  88,790.36
= = 1.33
1,8756.30 = =
23.88 6.6 2.06

- 2531396 88,786.97

9,241 9,745 8,777
5,872 5,454 5,230
3,328 = =

4 29 23

= 4,262 3,624

= 1,690 1,399

= 1,690 1,399

5.67 275.17 243.26
5.60 = =
0.07 0.02 0.01

= 275.15 243.25

Miat - NGL — RAREITR

2019
“F-NEF

2.75
1.93

0.82
0.27
0.27
54,792.64
1.78

54,790.86

276
1.94

0.82
0.27
0.27
54,792.64
1.78

54,790.86

8,306
5319

2,987
1,001
1,001
200.70

200.70
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Operating Summary (Continued)

=ERE(E)

Year ended December 31

BZE+-A=t-HLEE

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ZE2F T+ TN\ ZE-NF ZEBE-Ef%
Average realized price THUERER
Crude oil (US$ per barrel of Bl (Zx/ SREH)
crude oil) 36.74 48.96 59.07 52.66 38.60
China oilfields R B 36.73 48.89 64.56 55.92 38.60
Kazakhstan oilfields MafE 7 AR 34.85 = = = =
Export sales HOHE 38.39 - - - -
Domestic sales BNHE 13.25 = = = =
USA oilfields % (Condor) 37.77 47.44 62.43 = -
Canada oilfields INZ K (Canlin) = 49.32 51.24 44.95 =
NGL (US$ per barrel) RARBRINE (X, 58) - 26.64 23.71 11.68 =
Canada oilfields ANEX (Canlin) - 26.64 23.71 11.68 =
Gas (US$ per MMscf) KRR (Ex,/ TEE
VYAER) 083 1.50 1.28 1.06 6.20
China oilfields A - - 6.36 6.19 6.20
Kazakhstan oilfields MaE 7 AE 0.78 = = = =
USA oilfields % (Condor) 2.30 4.47 = = =
Canada oilfields INEX (Canlin) - 1.50 1.28 1.06 =
Lifting costs (US$ per barrel of BEEFBRAR
crude oil) (Note 1) (Bn/BREER)(H#1) 8.31 7.95 9.39 8.79 9.88
China oilfields B 8.31 8.48 12.37 10.72 9.88
Kazakhstan oilfields MBiEm A 2.25 - - - -
Canada oilfields INE K (Canlin) = 7.73 9.09 8.47 =
Cash net-back BEFOE
(USS$ per barrel of crude oil) (2n/BREE)
China oilfields B 26.94 38.87 50.01 43.69 27.28
Kazakhstan oilfields MRiER AR 14.26 - - - -
Export sales HOHE 14.80 - - - -
Domestic sales BANHE 9.25 - - - -
Canada oilfields INEAX (Canlin) - 5.55 3.98 2.25 =
Wells drilled during the year (Gross) FREH(AY) 2 15 28 14 29
China oilfields FEhA - 15 28 14 29
Successful RINE R = 15 28 14 29
Dry g3 - - - - -
Kazakhstan oilfields TR ATE 2 - - - -
Successful RINE R 2 - - - -
Dry B - - - - -
Note 1: Lifting cost refers to direct cost incurred to produce a barrel of oil controllable ~ MfiF 1 - FOMKABIEAE —RA M2 BEEAEHIKAE

HAERANMZ2E  REEM  WMRHAR
AXAREEREREY TEEER - REZZ
ERAWIF—RAR BRI o

at the field level. Production costs such as safety fee, environmental
expenses, technical and research expenses and overhead are not included
because they are not directly attributable to the production of a barrel of oil.
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Operating Summary (Continued)
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Crude Oil Reserves
(thousands of barrels)

Subsidiaries

Total proved

China oilfields (Daan)
Canada oilfields
USA oilfields

Total proved+probable
China oilfields (Daan)
Canada oilfields

USA oilfields

Total proved+probable+possible
China oilfields (Daan)

Canada oilfields

USA oilfields

Equity-accounted entities
(MIE share)

Total proved

China oilfields (Area 28/03)
Kazakhstan oilfields
Journey Energy Inc

Total proved+probable
China oilfields (Area 28/03)
Kazakhstan oilfields
Journey Energy Inc

Total proved+probable+possible
China oilfields (Area 28/03)
Kazakhstan oilfields

Journey Energy Inc

Total proved
Total proved+probable
Total proved+probable+possible

Fm#E (TH8)

B A A FEE

ROREAE
HEHE (K%)
JZ X Canlin
% (Condor)

RO EREHEAR
FEHA (KE)
JNE K Canlin

2 (Condor)

B BERTHERELAS
REHE (K%)
JE X Canlin

% (Condor)

RREBZARNERTFEE
(XEEEGHS)

RERELE

B A (28/03 [ 15)
BaE 7 AR
Journey 1B B

R BERELE
B A (28/03 & 15)
PiER A
Journey B B

R BERTHEREAR
B (28/03 & 15)

g ANA

Journey 2 B

RAREBAE
FARGEREAE
59 BERTEHEAR
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2016

—EREF

10,668
10,552

19,5657
18,893

664

28,319
26,487

1,832

17,749

12,611
5,138

41,649

32,457
9,092

49,546

40,454
9,092

28,417
61,106
77,865

Year ended December 31

BZE+-A=t-HLEE

2017 2018 2019
T+ —E-\f —T-NE
19,366 16,438 9,817
8,475 9,058 9,817
10,844 7,380 =
47 = =
27,453 22,506 12,343
12,489 12,928 12,343
14,893 9,578 -
71 - -
32,274 27,341 14,453
17,281 17,763 14,453
14,893 9,578 -
100 - -
11,618 8,530 6,250
7,540 8,530 6,250
4,078 - -
32,568 30,790 25,500
- 3,780 3,780
24,984 27,010 21,720
7,584 = =
53,836 46,919 42,199
= 4,449 4,449
46,252 42,470 37,750
7,584 = =
30,983 24,968 16,067
60,021 53,296 37,843
86,110 74,260 56,652

2020
—g-%%

8,911
8,911

15,951
15,951

19,864
19,864

5,700

5,700

19,960

19,960

33,360

33,360

14,611
35,911
53,224



Operating Summary (Continued)
SEBEBRHE(8)

Year ended December 31

BZE+-A=t-HLEE

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

ZE2F T+ TN\ ZE-NF ZEBE-Ef%

Gas Reserves (millions of SCF) AARHRE
(ABEEYFER)
Subsidiaries WBAAFEEE
Total proved RYRERAE 155 1,210,712 1,036,569 - -
China oilfields (Daan) MEHE (K% 62 - - - -
Canada oilfields INEAX Canlin - 1,210,705 1,036,569 = =
USA oilfields 2% (Condor) 93 7 - - -
Total proved+probable RAESEHEAR 1,356 1,801,464 1,549,556 - -
China oilfields (Daan) RERA (K%) 187 - - - -
Canada oilfields INE K Canlin - 1,801,455 1,549,556 = -
USA oilfields %[ (Condor) 1,169 9 = = -
Total proved+probable+possible R BERTHFHELE 3829 1,801,471 1,549,556 = -
China oilfields (Daan) MmEHE (K% 352 - - - -
Canada oilfields IZ X Canlin - 1,801,455 1,549,556 - -
USA oilfields 2 (Condor) 3,477 16 - - -
Equity-accounted entities RRZARNERTFEE
(MIE share) (FEFELEHT)

Total proved RAREAE 46,696 47,989 11,630 9,470 8,010
China oilfields (Area 28/03) PR 05 (28/03 21 = = - - -
Kazakhstan oilfields RiER AN 14,373 8,708 11,630 9,470 8,010
Journey Energy Inc Journey B B 32,323 39,281 - - -
Total proved+probable R BEHRELE 76,408 87,431 31,530 34,450 30,490
China oilfields (Area 28/03) R ELH A (28/03 &1 = - - - -
Kazakhstan oilfields g AnE 29,773 28,830 31,530 34,450 30,490
Journey Energy Inc Journey B B 46,635 58,551 - - -
Total proved+probable+possible R BERTHEREAR 84,016 113,099 55,030 56,230 47,840
China oilfields (Area 28/03) B (28/03[&5) = = = = -
Kazakhstan oilfields RiER AN 37,381 54,548 55,030 56,230 47,840
Journey Energy Inc Journey B B 46,635 58,551 - - -
Total proved RAGEAE 46,851 1,258,701 1,048,199 9,470 8,010
Total proved+probable RAESEREAR 77,764 1,888,895 1,581,086 34,450 30,490
Total proved+probable+possible RE BERTHFEEAE 87,845 1914571 1,604,586 56,230 47,840
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Operating Summary (Continued)
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i

NGL Reserves (thousands of barrels)

Subsidiaries

Total proved

China oilfields (Daan)
Canada oilfields
USA oilfields

Total proved+probable
China oilfields (Daan)
Canada oilfields

USA oilfields

Total proved+probable+possible
China oilfields (Daan)

Canada oilfields

USA oilfields

Equity-accounted entities
(MIE share)

Total proved

China oilfields (Area 28/03)
Kazakhstan oilfields
Journey Energy Inc

Total proved+probable
China oilfields (Area 28/03)
Kazakhstan oilfields
Journey Energy Inc

Total proved+probable+possible
China oilfields (Area 28/03)
Kazakhstan oilfields

Journey Energy Inc

Total proved
Total proved+probable
Total proved+probable+possible

NGL f#& (T)
WEBLAfEEE

R EARE
FREHE (K%)
Z K Canlin
2 (Condor)

RO EREHEAR
REHE (KZ)
JNZ K Canlin

2 (Condor)

R BERTARRELAE
FREHE (K%)
JNZ K Canlin

2 (Condor)

EREARNERFEE
(AREELHT)

RRRELE

PR 05 M (28/03 21,
Mg ATA

Journey 2B

R BEMRELE
B A (28/03 2 15)
MafE 7 AiE
Journey 1B B

RE BERTHFEEAE
PR 05 M (28/03 21,
Mg ATA

Journey 2B

REREAR
RRRBERELR
59 BERIEFEAE
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2016

—EREF

730

730

994

994

994

994

730
994
994

Year ended December 31
BZ+t-A=t-BLEE
2017 2018 2019

“E—+F —E-N\F —E-NE

13,069 12,379 =
13,069 12,379 =
19,408 18,783 =
19,408 18,783 =
19,408 18,783 =
19,408 18,783 =
2,143 1,330 420
856 1,330 420
1,287 = =
4,462 3,110 1,710
2,588 3,110 1,710
1,874 = =
6,634 5,070 3,080
4,660 5,070 3,080
1,874 — -
15,212 13,709 420
23,870 21,893 1,710
25,942 23,853 3,080

2020
—g-%%

310

310

1,460

1,460

2,540
2,540
310

1,460
2,540



Chairman’s Statement
TEREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of MIE Holdings
Corporation (“MIE” or the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present the annual results of
the Company for the year ended December 31, 2020.

In 2020, the Group successfully extended the commercial
production period of the Daan OQilfield production sharing contract
(“Daan PSC"). According to the terms of the petroleum contract,
the production period before the extension expires on December
31, 2024. Both China National Petroleum Corporation (the “CNPC")
and the Group believe that the Daan Oilfield has great development
potential, and the extension can enable both parties to obtain
economic benefits through further development. Therefore, the
Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, executed a
modification and supplementary agreement of the petroleum
development and production contract for Daan Qilfield
("Supplemental Agreement”) on June 4, 2020, according to the
Supplemental Agreement, the production period will be extended
to February 29, 2028.

In 2020, the Group continued to implement a low-cost strategy for
Daan project, one of the high-quality and low decline oilfields of the
Group. We strived to reduce costs, improve efficiency, stabilize old
well production, slow down production decline and generate higher
operating cash flow. In 2020, the lifting cost of the Daan project
was only US$9.88 per barrel, representing a decrease of US$0.84
per barrel as compared to 2019. The overall production decline was
maintained at a relatively low rate of 3.1%, a significant
improvement as compared with 4.4% in 2019, reflecting the
Group's leading operation and management capability for oilfield
projects in China.

On the operating performance of the Group, in 2020, the gross oll
and gas production of the Group from PRC segment decreased by
0.2% to 4.63 million barrels of oil equivalent (“MMBOE") as
compared with 2019, the net production increased by 12.4% to
2.18 MMBOE. The revenue from PRC segment decreased by
24.3% to RMB572.5 million in 2020 as compared with 2019. In
2020, EBITDA from the PRC segment decreased by RMB638.4
million to negative RMB142.1 million from RMB496.3 million in
2019 and the respective adjusted EBITDA decreased by RMB137.6
million to RMB362.5 million.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

TRHEE(E)

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic had a huge adverse impact on
the oil market, and the world's oil demand and supply both declined
significantly and even the negative oil price of crude oil futures
appeared for the first time in history. The average realized crude oll
price of the Group from the PRC segment decreased by 31.0% to
US$38.60 per barrel. The average realized crude oil price of the
Group from the Daan project in China during the five years from
2016 to 2020 was only US$48.67 per barrel.

The liquidity issue faced by the Company aggravated with the
decreased revenue and increased finance cost, making the Group
unable to make the scheduled interest payment in relation to the
Senior Notes when the related interest grace period expired on
May 11, 2020. The non-payment resulted in an event of default
under the Senior Notes (“Default”), which also triggered cross-
defaults under other bilateral loans entered into between the
Group’s member companies and other lenders.

After the Default, while continuing to focus on operating the
business in a safe and efficient manner under extremely low oil
prices and successfully extending the commercial production
period of the Daan PSC with CNPC the Company has been
proactively discussing with various creditors in relation to the debt
restructuring, including but not limited to extension of maturity,
deferral of interest payment and reduction of interest rate, which
are expected to conducive to improve the Group's financial position
and address the Company's liquidity concerns.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my most sincere
gratitude to all our shareholders, management team and dedicated
staff, creditors, advisors and business partners for your continued
support and understanding through this difficult and challenging
period.

Mr. Zhang Ruilin
Chairman
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Directors and Senior Management

SERERETEE

Zhang Ruilin, aged 50, has been an Executive Director and the
Chairman of the Company since March 20, 2008. Mr. Zhang is one
of the controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Zhang has
over 30 years of experience in the oil and gas business. Following
the takeover of the Company by Far East Energy Limited ("FEEL")
in August 2003, Mr. Zhang joined us in September 2003 and has
been a Director of the Company. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing our overall strategies, planning and day-to-day
management and operations. Mr. Zhang is also a director for the
various subsidiaries of the Group.

Zhao Jiangwei, aged 49, has been an Executive Director and the
senior vice president of the Company since December 19, 2008.
He is one of the controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Zhao
has over 28 years of experience in the oil and gas industry.
Following the takeover of the Company by FEEL in August 2003,
Mr. Zhao joined the Company in September 2003 and has since
been a director of the Company. He is and will continue to be
primarily responsible for assisting the Chairman in overseeing the
operations at oilfields in the PRC. Mr. Zhao obtained a bachelor of
arts degree from Daging Petroleum College in 1999.

Xie Na, aged 45, has been the Non-executive Director of the
Company since November 13, 2015. She has previously held
various positions at Shanghai Life Insurance Company Ltd., Sequoia
Capital China and Monitor Group. Ms. Xie has very extensive
experiences in equity investment, portfolio investment focusing on
consumables and TMT as well as marketing, operations and post-
investment management. She had led investment projects such as
Peak Sport Products Co. Limited and Sky-mobi Limited (symbol:
MOBI. NASDAQ). Ms. Xie has been serving as an independent
director of Thinkingdom Media Group Ltd., a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603096) since November
2017 and she is also an executive council member of the China
Women's Chamber of Commerce and the vice president of China
Energy Storage Alliance. She was also a visiting professor of the
Graduate University of Chinese Academy of Sciences. Ms. Xie
obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Computer Engineering from the
University of Toronto in 2002 and a master’s degree in Business
Administration from Stanford University in 2004.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Mei Jianping, aged 60, has been our Independent Non-executive
Director since November 27, 2010. Mr. Mei has been a professor
of finance at Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in Beijing,
China since 2006 and a fellow at Financial Institutions Center, the
Wharton School of University of Pennsylvania since 2004. He was
a tenured associate professor of finance from 1996 to 2005 and an
assistant professor of finance from 1990 to 1995 at New York
University. From 2003 to 2008, he also taught at Tsinghua
University as a special term professor of finance. Mr. Mei has been
a director of Cratings.com Inc., USA since 1999. Since June 2008,
Mr. Mei has served on the board of Powerlong Real Estate
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1238.HK), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Mei was a board member of Zhong De
Securities Company Limited from 2009 to May 2016. Mr. Mei also
served as the chairman of board of Shanghai Zhangjiang JRtan.com
Inc. from 2000 to 2012. From November 29, 2013 to December 27,
2017, Mr. Mei served as an independent non-executive director of
Ground International Development Limited (stock code: 989.HK),
and since August 11, 2014, Mr. Mei has served as an independent
non-executive director of China Rundong Auto Group Limited (stock
code: 1365.HK) (both companies of which listed on the Stock
Exchange). Mr. Mei has served as an independent director of
Cultural Investment Holdings Co., Ltd, a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600715) since December
2015. Mr. Mei worked as a consultant for various financial
institutions, such as Deutsche Bank, UBS, Prudential Insurance of
America and Asia Development Bank. Mr. Mei has published a
number of books and articles on topics related to finance. Mr. Mei
received a bachelor's degree in Mathematics from Fudan University
in 1982, a master’s degree in Economics and a Ph.D. in Economics
(Finance) from Princeton University in 1988 and 1990, respectively.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Jeffrey Willard Miller, aged 58, has been our Independent Non-
executive Director since November 27, 2010. Mr. Miller has over
34 years of experience in the oil and gas industry. Since 2012, Mr.
Miller has been Managing Partner and Co-Founder of Vortus
Investments, an energy private equity firm founded in later 2012.
From 2008 to 2012, as the director of upstream and investments
for Mercuria Energy Trading Inc. (“Mercuria”), one of the world's
largest independent physical energy trading firms, he was
responsible for Mercuria and certain of its affiliates’ global portfolio
of oil and natural gas assets, the majority of which are located in
North and South America. Prior to joining Mercuria, Mr. Miller
spent four years, from 2004 to 2008, as president of Moncrief Qil
International (“Moncrief”), a private oil and natural gas company
with assets in the former Soviet Union as well as North America.
Prior to his career at Moncrief, Mr. Miller was a managing director
in global energy investment banking for UBS AG, the successor of
Dillon, Read & Co, which he joined in 1993. Mr. Miller was an
investment banker with a focus on the energy industry and has
extensive experience in the fields of corporate finance. throughout
his career as set out above, Mr. Miller has been involved in a
substantial number of transactions including initial public offerings,
debt offerings and M&A, which require expertise in financial
analysis. As an investment banker, Mr. Miller also had extensive
experience in valuation analysis, which involved reviewing and
analyzing audited financial statements of public and private
companies. Mr. Miller's professional career began in a technical
capacity as a petroleum engineer with Exxon. Mr. Miller received a
bachelor's degree, magna cum laude, in Petroleum Engineering
from Texas A&M University and a master’'s degree in Business
Administration from the Columbia Business School.

Guo Yanjun, aged 68, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since November 13, 2015. He has
extensive entrepreneurship experience and experience in corporate
operation and management. Mr. Guo graduated from Renmin
University of China with a Diploma in Law in 1984. Mr. Guo is
currently an Independent Non-executive Director of Mei Ah
Entertainment Group Limited (stock code: 391.HK, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange). He is also the chairman of CNHK
Tech Co. Ltd, CNHK Media Limited, CNHK Media (H.K.) Advertising
Limited and CNHK Publications Limited.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Mei Liming, aged 40, is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. Mr. Mei joined the Group in January 2005, and has since
worked across various functions of the Group, including as an
accountant, finance manager, vice finance controller, chief financial
officer and vice president of corporate finance and merger and
acquisition, and served as an Executive Director of the Company
from November 2019 to June 2020. During his career in the Group,
Mr. Mei has gained a strong understanding of the Company’s
business and the oil and gas industry through his years of service
in different key positions of the Group. Since joining the Group, he
has also been involved in all aspects of the capital market
transactions of the Group, including the Group's initial public
offering on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), all of the Group's senior notes
offerings and various merger and acquisition transactions, gaining
extensive knowledge and experience in financial management and
capital markets. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Mei worked as
an accountant at SONY Corporation in 2004. Mr. Mei graduated
from the Beijing Institute of Petrochemical Technology with a
Bachelor of Accounting in 2003.

Li Tiefeng, aged 40, is our Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Li has over
17 years of experience in financial management. Mr. Li joined the
Group in July 2005 and has since worked across various functions
including as finance manager and operational manager. Mr. Li
gained extensive knowledge and experience in the finance, tax and
corporate operational management in oil & gas industry while
working in the Group. Mr. Li graduated from University of Science
and Technology Beijing with a Bachelor of Accounting in 2005. He
obtained his Medium Level Accountant qualification in the PRC.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Lian Yunfei, aged 45, is a vice president and general counsel of
the Group. Ms. Lian has over 17 years of experience in the legal
field. Prior to joining us, Ms. Lian worked as an associate at Baker
& McKenzie Hong Kong office between 2007 and 2009 focusing on
mergers and acquisitions and general corporate advice. Ms. Lian
worked for the Company as general counsel between November
2009 and January 2015. Thereafter, she worked as North Asia
general counsel of a US multi-national corporation between 2015
and 2017. She re-joined the Company in August 2017 until now. In
her early career, starting in 2001, she worked at a law firm in
Canada, focusing on general practice. Ms. Lian obtained a juris
doctor degree from the Faculty of Law at the University of British
Columbia in 2007. She received a Master’s degree in Engineering
from the University of Florida in 2001 and a bachelor’s degree in
Science from Shanghai University of Science and Technology in
1996. She is admitted to practice law in New York.

Save for Mr. Zhao Jiangwei, senior vice president and Executive
Director, being the brother-in-law of Mr. Zhang Ruilin, our Chairman
and Executive Director, there are no other familial relationships
between any of our Directors and senior management.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEREAWmE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is pleased to present this
corporate governance report in the Group's Annual Report for the
year ended December 31, 2020.

The Board of the Company has responsibilities towards the
shareholders and related stakeholders to ensure the Company’s
successful operation. Sound corporate governance is not only vital
for the Company to cope with the evolving regulatory environment
and reinforce the relationship with its shareholders and
stakeholders, but also important for the Company’s success and
sustainable development. We are committed to achieving a high
standard of corporate governance and have promoted corporate
governance practices appropriate for our business operations and
development.

The Board considers that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard
shareholders’ interests, enhance corporate value and
accountability, formulate its business strategies and policies and
enhance transparency.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are established
based on the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code"), as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company has
applied and complied with the applicable provisions of the CG Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, except the
deviations with respect to Code Provision A.4.2 as further explained
in the paragraph headed “Non-executive Directors and Directors’
Re-election” below.

The Company shall review and improve its corporate governance

practices on a regular basis to ensure a continuous compliance of
such practices with the requirements of the CG Code.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TERER®RE (B)

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as code of conduct for
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all the
Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code and its code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by directors throughout
the year ended December 31, 2020.

STRUCTURE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Audit Remuneration
Committee Committee
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As at December 31, 2020, the Board comprised six members,
including two Executive Directors, one Non-executive Directors and
three Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year, members of the Board are listed as follows:
Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhang Ruilin (Chairman)
Mr. Zhao Jiangwei
Mr. Mei Liming (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned as an Executive Director with effect from June 18, 2020)

Non-executive Director:
Ms. Xie Na
Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Mei Jianping
Mr. Jeffrey Willard Miller
Mr. Guo Yanjun

The biographical information of the Directors is set out under
“Directors and Senior Management” on page 13 to page 15 of this
annual report.

The relationships among members of the Board are disclosed
under “Relationships among Directors and Senior Management”
on page 17.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out under
the Code Provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices and made recommendations to the Company
regarding the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the Company’s compliance with the Model Code, the code of
conduct and compliance manual for employees and Directors, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.
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The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by
Mr. Zhang Ruilin and Mr. Mei Liming respectively. The Chairman
provides leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning
of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the
Company’s business development and daily management and
operations generally.

Mr. Zhang Ruilin and Mr. Zhao Jiangwei, being the Executive
Directors, are collectively responsible for the operation of the
whole group. Executive Directors should actively communicate
with Non-executive Directors, and maintain an open and
responsible attitude in respect of any reasonable administrative
suggestions and enquiries raised by the Non-executive Directors.

The three Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
review the management’s performance in fulfilling established
corporate targets and principles. They should also ensure that
financial information is reported clearly and accurately, and the risk
management and internal control systems are implemented
effectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive Directors
(representing one-third of the Board) with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Independent Non-executive Directors assume no management
responsibilities in the Company, and hold no more than (either
legally, beneficially or deemed) 1% of the total issued share capital
of the Company; nor have they acquired any interest in securities
of the Company either by gift or other methods; hence their
independence is strongly guaranteed. In accordance with
independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
the Independent Non-executive Directors have provided an annual
confirmation of independence to the Company. The Company
considers all Independent Non-executive Directors to be
independent.
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EE RITHARE BB 2 Bl B SR M AR ST MG
RAKLEE - TREHELE YREEER
HBRUEE - TRARBE IR AR B EEE
ENBEENEEMERE -

RAREERBTIRAEEIERSNITES » &

EEKRENES - TEFTHEFNTES

BE UHIERTERRENEAGIENTR
EEMEATHARREENREE -

ARBBEFBIUFATESIEEEBHEER
BREMNEEXBRMRE TENKRE - tfIRA
FERI TS B RIS RBMT S ERER SR - DA S B
RERERE RN RROEREN

BE_Z_ZTHFET_A=+—HLFE E=F
E-ENALTRANGAZEE) =B
ﬂﬁi%%ﬁ%A_“Z—)/ﬁ Z2E AV
FRTERRABREEXEERA ST
%%ﬁﬁiiﬂ%mﬁmo

BYFRTETEARARA N EEEMNERR
% BEEZLHESRE  AWEAFER
NAIEBHITRABETEB1% © TIARARR
A EME T - BISAR R TR E S5
@ HEVERR T ENHRE - RIELTAR
AIF 313 RMIBIU LS| RBIUFATES
ERFBEUIER L - ARRHER BB
HMITESEUIE -

2020 &3k



ﬁ%%iﬁi&i(fé)

Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are involved
in communications with the auditors, which fully exhibits the role
of independent supervision. During the reporting period, no
objections regarding the proposals of the Board or Board
Committees have been raised by Independent Non-executive
Directors.

Non-executive Directors serving the Board and Board Committees
are equipped with different skills, specialties, backgrounds and
qualifications, benefiting the Board a lot. Independent Non-
executive Directors not only act as Non-executive Directors, but
also equip the Board with expertise and business specialty
supplementary to management, thus providing unique opinion and
independent judgment for the possible situations during the
implementation of the Company’s business. Independent Non-
executive Directors are acting as chairmen and members of Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
under the Board of the Company.

The Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) of the Company are appointed for a specific term of
three years. All the Directors of the Company are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meetings. Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or if their number is not three of a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The
Company's Articles of Association also provides that all Directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Directors shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment. The retiring Directors shall be
eligible for re-election.

Code Provision A.4.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Mr. Zhao
Jiangwei was re-elected as executive director of the Company at
the annual general meeting held on June 30, 2017, but did not
retire by rotation during the year ended December 31, 2020. This
constitutes a deviation from Code Provision A.4.2. The reason for
such deviation is set out below.
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The publication of the announcement of the 2019 annual results
was delayed because the existence of multiple uncertainties
relating to going concern of the Group and the progress of
measures taken by the management. Therefore, the auditing
process for the 2019 annual results was not completed until
November 27, 2020. Given the delay in publication of the 2019
annual results announcement, the annual general meeting to,
among other things, adopt the audited financial statements and re-
elect directors was also delayed. The Company did not hold its
annual general meeting until January 14, 2021, making the term of
Mr. Zhao extending more than three years.

The Company considers the deviation one off in nature, being
caused by the unexpected delay of the annual general meeting and
should not have any material impact on the Company.

The Board is responsible for leading and supervising the
businesses, strategic policies and performance of the Company, as
well as being collectively responsible for facilitating the successful
development of the Company by detecting and supervising the
Company's affairs. The Board makes objective decisions in the
interest.

The Board has delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and
delegated through him to senior management the authority and
responsibility for carrying out the Company's day-to-day
management and operation. The delegated duties and
responsibilities will be reviewed on a regular basis. The
aforementioned senior executives shall obtain the approval from
the Board prior to entering into any significant transactions.

In addition, the Board has established the Board Committees and
delegated responsibilities as set out in their respective written
terms of reference.

All Directors (including Non-executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors) have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board,
facilitating an efficient and effective operation thereof. All Directors
shall ensure that they will perform their duties in good faith, comply
with applicable laws and regulations and act in the interests of the
Company and shareholders at all times.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information of
the Company and the services and advice of the company secretary,
to ensure that procedures of the Board and all applicable laws and
regulations are complied with. Upon request, Directors, may seek
independent professional advice when appropriate for discharging
their duties to the Company, at the Company’s expense.

Directors shall disclose to the Company details regarding other
offices held by them, and the Board shall review the contribution
required from each Director in performing his duties to the
Company on a regular basis.

The Board reserves the decision-making power over all important
issues, including the Company’s policy matters, strategies and
budget, internal controls and risk management, significant
transactions (especially those that may involve conflict of interest),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
operational issues. The responsibilities of the management are
implementing decisions made by the Board, directing and
coordinating the Company’s daily business.

In respect of legal actions against Directors and senior management
arising out of corporate activities, the Company has made
arrangements for appropriate insurance cover Directors and
executives regarding their duties.

Every newly appointed Director will obtain on-board induction upon
first occasion of his/her appointment, in order to ensure appropriate
understanding of the Company’s business and operation and full
awareness of the Directors’ duties in accordance with the Listing
Rules and related laws. The Director shall keep abreast of the
duties as a Director of the Company, and the conduct, business
activities and development of the Company.

All Directors are continually updated on the legal and regulatory
regime as well as the business environment, so as to assist in their
performance of duties. The Company will make arrangements
when necessary and provide briefing and professional development
training to Directors.

All Directors should participate in appropriate continuing
professional development for developing and updating their own
knowledge and skills, so as to ensure that they can remain
informed and continue to make contribution to the Board as
appropriate. The Company will arrange internal briefing sessions for
Directors and distribute reading material on relevant topics where
appropriate. The Company encourages all Directors to attend
related training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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In order to keep Directors abreast of professional developments, the
Company organises training sessions to Directors from time-to-time
on updates of rules and regulations, market developments, and other
relevant topics.

On December 30, 2020, the Company introduced Listed Issuer
Regulation Newsletter to the Directors, including further guidance on
companies’ disclosure of counterparties in transactions, an update
on backdoor listings and continuing listing criteria one year after the
Rules amendments; a reminder for companies to plan for the
upcoming financial reporting period amid Covid-19; and an
introduction of the Listing e-Forms. And the Company also
introduced HKEX's First Enforcement Bulletin, including guidance to
issuers, directors, and any parties responsible or involved in Listing
Rule compliance and corporate governance and the director
onboarding process and summarise the key messages arising from
concluded disciplinary cases in the first 10 months of 2020.

All directors attended the above mentioned trainings.

Three Committees have been established under the Board, namely,
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to supervise particular aspects of the
Company. All Board Committees of the Company are established
based on functions and powers set out in the written terms of
reference which are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange for shareholders’ reference.

A list of the chairman and members of each Board Committee is
set out under "Company Information” on page 2. All members of
the Board Committees are Independent Non-executive Directors.

Board Committees are also equipped with sufficient resources to
perform their duties, and can seek independent professional
advices when appropriate (upon reasonable request) at the
Company’s expense.

Committees Audit Committee Remuneration Committee
ZEEg EREES ¥MEES
Chairman Independent Non-executive Director:

Mr. Jeffrey Willard Miller Mr. Mei Jianping
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Nomination Committee

REZEE

Independent Non-executive Director: Independent Non-executive Director:

Mr. Mei Jianping
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Committees Audit Committee

ZE8 ENZES

Composition All other members are Independent

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Mei Jianping and
Mr. Guo Yanjun

AR

KEDBBUFRTES

BRYEL  HHERL

Main responsibilities ©

IERE .

Review financial statements and
reports before they are
submitted to the Board, and
consider any significant or
unusual issues raised by
external auditors

Review the relationship with the
external auditors by reference to
the work performed by the
auditors, their fees and terms of
recommendations on the
appointment, re-appointment
and removal of external auditors
to the Board

Review the adequacy and
efficiency of the Company's
financial reporting system,
internal control system, risk
management system and
related procedures
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BRIV HRE LRS- WEBI
BERgMRENEMNERRTS
BEE
LEZHMHIE HBRARE
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BFEERREXN

Remuneration Committee

FHzEE

All other members are Independent
Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Jeffrey Willard Miller and

Mr. Guo Yanjun
REDRBUIFNTES :

Jeffrey Willard Miller %&4
PEEEE

* Review and make suggestions
on the remuneration of
Executive Directors and senior
management to the Board

* Review and make suggestions
on the remuneration of Non-
executive Directors to the Board

* Review and make suggestions
on the Company’s remuneration
policies and structure of
remuneration of all Directors
and senior management to the
Board

* Review and make suggestions
on the appointment letter of
Executive Directors newly
appointed during the year to the
Board

* Review and approve the
compensation arrangements of
Executive Directors and senior
management

*  Assessing performance of
Executive Directors

o REMTEZRRAEEENHK
MifrBRESeRTER

o FRUNFRTEFNFMAE
ZERLESR

o BERURALAHEZREELD
RERENHEMBE N RBNE
ZERLES

o EFANFAMERTEENED
HAEFSREES

o EFRMAERTEERSRER
ERREZH

o FHERTEFERR
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Nomination Committee

REZEE

All other members are Independent
Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Jeffrey Willard Miller and

Mr. Guo Yanjun
RELRBEIFRTES -
Jeffrey Willard Miller %4
PEERE

Review the structure, size and
composition of the Board, and
make suggestions on any
changes

Formulate, develop and review
the Board Diversity Policy and the
measurable objectives for
implementing the policy
Formulate, develop and review
the policy and relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment
of Directors

Identify suitable candidates for
appointment as Directors

Make suggestions on the
appointment or re-appointment of
and succession planning for
Directors to the Board

Assess the independence of
Independent Non-executive
Directors
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Audit Committee
EREES

Committees
ZEg FMzee
Number of meetings Three meetings were held for

held in 2020 and reviewing of the Group's financial
summary of work  performance and reports, financial
done reporting and compliance
procedures, reviewing and reporting
on the Company's internal controls
and risk management system and
procedures, work scope and further
engagement of external auditor,
related party transactions and
arrangements focusing the staff on
possible inappropriate acts.
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When evaluating the composition of the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider different aspects required by the Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualification, skills,
knowledge, industry and regional experience. The Nomination
Committee will discuss and reach consensus on measurable
objectives of diversification of members of the Board and make
recommendations to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a set of nomination
procedures for selection of candidates for directors by making a
reference to the skills, experience, expertise, personal conduct and
time commitments of individuals, the Company’'s needs and
relevant laws and regulations. When necessary, external
recruitment professionals may be engaged to carry out the
selection process.

Remuneration Committee

One meeting was held for granting

BIT1REH  Fwki EE 8 -

Nomination Committee

REZEE

One meeting was held for director
appointment.
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The details regarding Directors’ attendance of meetings held by the
Board and the Board Committees as well as the general meetings
during their tenure during the year ended December 31, 2020 are
set out in the table below:

Board
Exg
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Zhang Ruilin RARELE 5/5
Mr. Zhao Jiangwei WIBEE 5/5
Mr. Mei Liming BERAEE
(resigned with effect from June 18, 2020) (R=F=FFE~A+/\AHL) 3/5
Non-executive Director FHTES
Ms. Xie Na EilLi e 3/5
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Mei Jianping 1L 3/5
Mr. Jeffrey Willard Miller Jeffrey Willard Miller 5£4 3/5
Mr. Guo Yanjun BHEBEE 3/5

Note 1: The Annual General Meeting for year ended December 31, 2019 was delayed
to January 2021 and hence no annual general meeting was held during the
year ended December 31, 2020.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, apart from regular
Board meetings, the Chairman also held meetings with Non-
executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) without the presence of other Executive Directors.
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/ERRY
Annual
Audit  Nomination Remuneration General
Committee Committee Committee Meeting
(Note 1)
EVEEE REEEE FMEEE RRBEFAE
(it1)
N/A D ER N/A T ER N/A DA 0
N/A T N/A i N/A T 0
N/A A N/A A N/A NE A 0
N/A D ER N/A T ER N/A DA 0
33 11 11 0
33 171 1”1 0
33 17 17 0
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The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

The Board is responsible for presenting balanced, clear and concise
annual reports and interim reports, announcements on inside
information and other disclosures as stipulated by the Listing Rules
as well as other statutory and regulatory provisions.

Due to the potential interaction of the multiple uncertainties
regarding the action plan of the Company and the possible
cumulative effect on the consolidated financial statements, the
Company’s auditor (the “Auditor”) has expressed that it is not
possible for the Auditor to form an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31,
2020 (the “Disclaimer”), the details of which are described in the
“Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of the Independent
Auditor’s Report of this annual report.
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Management’s position and basis on the going concern
assumption, and its view on the Disclaimer

As detailed in Note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2020 (“Note 2.1.1"), conditions
existed as at December 31, 2020 indicating the existence of
material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt regarding
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. In view of such
circumstances, the management of the Group (the
“Management”) has given careful consideration to Group's current
liquidity, performance and available sources of financing in
considering the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The
Management has also taken or will continue to implement the
measures as further detailed in Note 2.1.1 to mitigate the Group's
liquidity pressure and to improve the conditions of cash flow.
Taking into account the successful and continued implementation
of such measures, the Management and also the Directors are
satisfied that the Group will have sufficient working capital for a
period of not less than 12 months from December 31, 2020, and
hence it is appropriate to prepare the Group’s consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. The Management and
Directors are of the view that the Group will, based on the action
plan devised, have sufficient cash resources to satisfy future
working capital and other financing requirements as and when they
fall due for the period of not less than twelve months from
December 31, 2020.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome
of these measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties,
including: (i) the Lenders and the Noteholders not taking any
actions against the Group to exercise their rights to demand
immediate payment of the principals and interests of the Cross-
Defaulted Borrowings and the 2022 Senior Notes before the
finalisation of the Debt Restructuring Plans and execution of the
Restructuring Agreements; (ii) successfully securing the required
agreement of the Lenders and the Noteholders and completion of
all necessary procedures by the Group for the Restructuring
Agreements under the Debt Restructuring Plans to be executed;
and the Group’s ability to continuously comply with the terms and
conditions stipulated therein upon execution; (iii) actual oil prices
throughout the forecast period being in line with the projected
levels included in the cashflow projections; and (iv) the Group's
ability to generate operating cash flows and to obtain additional
sources of financing, other than those mentioned above, to finance
the Group's oil exploration and production business, including
capital expenditures needed to drill new wells, as well as other
funding needs.
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There was no disagreement between the Management of the
Company and the Auditor regarding the Disclaimer, considering
that the consolidated financial statements have been prepared by
the Management on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends on the outcome of the measures under management’s
assumptions, which are subject to multiple uncertainties. In all
other respects, in the opinion of the Auditor, the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Action plan to address the Disclaimer

Details of the action plan of the Group to address the
Disclaimer

In order to address the uncertainties which may cast doubt
regarding the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and
with a view to removing the Disclaimer, the Company had taken
and intends to continue to implement the measures as further
detailed in Note 2.1.1 to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to
improve its cash flows, including:

(i) Continuing our ongoing efforts in convincing the creditors not
to take any actions against the Group for immediate payment
of the principals and interest of the Cross-Defaulted
Borrowings and the 2022 Senior Notes;

(i) Negotiations with various creditors in relation to the Debt
Restructuring Plans to revise certain key terms and
conditions, including but not limited to deferral of interest
payment, reduction of interest rate and extension of maturity;

(i) Successfully extended the term of Daan PSC to February
2028, which would enable the Group to improve the Group's
operating cash flows through increased production; and

(iv)  Continued to seek other alternative financing, including
proceeds from the disposal of non-core assets, to finance the
settlement of its existing financial obligations and future
operating and capital expenditures.
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The Management and Directors believe that the current action
plans are the most commercially practicable plans and measures in
addressing the Group's liquidity matters and going concern. The
Management and the Directors will focus on the current action
plans and the implementation thereof, while keeping viable options
open as they continue their efforts in addressing the going concern
issue and Disclaimer.

Impact of the Disclaimer on the Company’s financial position

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down
the carrying value of the Group's assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and
to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities. The effect of these adjustments has
not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Audit committee’s view on the Disclaimer

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) had
critically reviewed the Disclaimer and also the management’s
position and action plan of the Group to address the Disclaimer.
The Audit Committee is in agreement with the Management with
respect to the Disclaimer and the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, and in particular the actions or measures to be
implemented by the Management or the Group.

Removal of Disclaimer

Based on the Company’'s discussion with the Auditor, as the
Disclaimer relates to a going concern issue, in preparing the
financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2021, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and the appropriateness of preparing
the Group’s consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis, based on the conditions and circumstances as at December
31, 2021. In accordance with the International Standards on
Auditing, sufficient appropriate audit evidence should be made
available regarding the appropriateness of the Management's use
of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
Group's financial statements, so that to enable the Auditor to
conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether multiple
uncertainties exist regarding the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern.
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The Management’'s assessment of the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern as at December 31, 2021 should be based on
the conditions and circumstances as at December 31, 2021 and
cash flow projections covering a period of not less than 12 months
from December 31, 2021. As such, the Auditor is unable to
ascertain whether the Disclaimer can be removed for the next
financial year at this stage.

Assuming all the above plans or actions can be completed as
planned and no new circumstances and conditions have occurred,
subject to satisfactory completion of review of the Management’s
assessment of the Group's going concern, together with sufficient
and appropriate evidence, the Disclaimer may be removed in
connection with the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ending December 31, 2021.

The Company’'s external auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers,
whose responsibilities in respect of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements are set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 112 to 116.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, remuneration paid or
payable to the Company’s auditors (i.e., PricewaterhouseCoopers
and its member firms within the same network) is set out below:
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Audit and audit related services Eit R B EERE
— Included in continuing operations — BEERELE 4,959

Non-audit service* BT AR *

— Included in continuing operations — BEAERELE 414
5,373

* Non-audit services primarily represent tax and related services.

* JEEEATARTS = BRI BB AR o
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Risk management and internal controls are part of the core
operational management activities and business activities of the
Group. The Board aims to establish a comprehensive risk
management system which complies with the Group's strategies
and business features, perfect the organizational structure of risk
management, standardize risk management processes, adopt
qualitative and quantitative risk management methods, carry
forward risk identification, evaluation and mitigation, and facilitate
the sustainable and healthy development of different businesses of
the Company. The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate
internal control system so as to safeguard shareholders’
investments and the Company’s assets, and reviewing the
effectiveness of internal controls on a yearly basis, with the
assistance of the Audit Committee.

The Company’s risk management system and internal control
system are established for an efficient and effective operation, so
as to ensure reliable financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, identification and management of
potential risks and safeguarding of the Group’s assets. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. Senior management of the Group reviews
and evaluates internal control procedures, monitors any risk factors
on a regular basis, and reports to the Audit Committee on the
results and measures for handling differences and risks identified.
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Risk management structure and other details

The risk management system and internal controls of the
Group are guided by the “three lines of defense” as listed
below:

The Board
BEEE

|

Audit Committee

EREES

|

Senior Management of the Group

SESREERE

I |
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1st Line of Defence
Operational 2nd Line of Defence

Management and Risk Management

Internal Controls =157
FE—iEfis [ f B TR BB B
BT RN

3rd Line of Defence
Internal Audit
E=EhE
W*B%Wﬂa

As the highest level decision-making body for the Company’s risk
management and internal controls, the Board is responsible for
reviewing the effectiveness of overall risk management and
internal control systems. The Audit Committee, on behalf of the
Board, performs the duties regarding risk management and internal
controls, supervises management design, implements and
monitors work regarding risk management and internal control
system, fully understands various significant risks and
corresponding management faced by the Company, and supervises
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system.
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Three lines of defence

1st line of defence: operational management and internal
controls

The 1st line of defence comprises the Company’s internal
control system, including (i) corporate policies shared with
staff via the internal network; (ii) operational policies,
procedures and practices covering authorization and
transaction approval, etc.; (iii) application of financial reporting
standards and (iv) review of financial performance and
significant judgments.

(1) Company policies:

° The Corporate Management Manual is
categorized into three parts: the Organization
Chart, Segregation of Duties and Authority Guide,
and Management System Compilation. The
Organization Chart depicts the internal
organizational structure of the Company. The
Segregation of Duties and Authority Guide covers
the key components of all functions of the
Company’s project companies, the Board
Committees and management. It establishes clear
management responsibilities, authorization and
accountability. The Management System
Compilation covers the processes and approval
procedures related to internal controls within the
Company, clarifying the responsibilities and rights
of various departments. Since 2016, we have
initiated a plan to reorganize and amend the
Corporate Management Manual in a bid to update
related systems and enhance operation efficiency
based on the latest organizational structure and to
update it regularly in accordance with
organizational changes and management
requirements.

° The Staff Manual regulates the behaviors of the
staff of the Company, aiming at facilitating the
penetration of integrity and moral values into the
Company.
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o The Whistleblowing Policy encourages the staff
and other business-related personnel to report
events involving misconducts or fraud in the
Company, without being persecuted.

° The Information Disclosure Policy regulates the
handling and publishing of inside information of
the Company. We ensure that inside information
is saved and accessed in an absolutely confidential
manner until the Company makes timely disclosure.

The Information Disclosure Policy includes:

o Applicable scope of policy

° Form of information disclosure

° Periodic reports

° Management of matters relating to information
disclosure

(2) Operational policy:

The Accident Management Regulations help the
Company to systematically and timely report and handle
accidents in a detailed, unified and coordinated manner,
with corresponding follow-up and monitoring conducted
by the Integrate Administration Department who carries
out the internal audit function.

2nd line of defence: risk management function

The 2nd line of defence comprises several risk monitoring
practices of the Company, and is subject to the supervision of
the Audit Committee. The Company has adopted a risk
management event library, and developed an exhaustive plan
in respect of various risks, so as to support the Company’s
risk management program and assist the operating
departments to identify and report significant risks affecting
the Company in a timely manner. The Company’s risk
management event library adopts a top-down risk
assessment approach at the corporate level, and within each
operating unit, a bottom-up approach is adopted for re-
examination by using the individual risk register (based on the
impact from risks). The risk management event library
identifies the main challenges faced by the Company, thereby
assisting the Board and the management to make informed
decisions.
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The Company’s risk management event library and register
classify risks into five different categories for assessment:
strategic, market, legal, financial and operational risks. The
Company has noted the major risks posing significant impact
on the above categories, and will periodically assess each
major risk for its potential impact on finance and opportunity
of occurrence. The existing controls are able to identify and
address all the major risks and help improving the skills,
benefits and costs required for the risks.

In accordance with the requirements of the Audit Committee,
the company regularly reviews the risk register of various
projects to prepare the Company’s risk management report.
Since 2016, after a review of the risk management
procedures, in order to comply with the Company’s financial
reporting regulations, the Internal Audit function of the
Company carried out risk review periodically and approved
the Company’s risk management report, to submit to the
president office meeting, Audit Committee meeting and the
Board, and finally for the approval by the Board, to facilitate
the Audit Committee's effective monitoring of the Company’s
major business risks and how the management copes with
and mitigates the risks.

Details of the Company’s major risks and potential risks are
set out on pages 41 to 44.

3rd defence: internal audit

The internal audit function of the Company is responsible for
internal audit, which plays an important role in assessing the
efficiency of the Company’s risk management and internal
controls system, and is responsible for reporting to Audit
Committee periodically. The audit function of the department
covers the whole Group, with evaluations handled by the role
of the internal audit function of the Company. The role of the
internal audit function of the Company is required to report to
the Chief Executive Officer and may also contact with the
Chairman of Audit Committee directly, and periodically submit
the internal audit report on the efficiency of the controls
system in accordance with the established audit plan to Audit
Committee. During the year under review, the Audit
Committee was responsible for approving the annual audit
plan and reviewing reports in relation to audit results and risk
management.
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The role of the internal audit reviews the Group's internal
audit function based on risks of each project company at the
operating and corporate level, and agrees on correction and
improvement measures. The head of the internal audit
department will follow up on the recommended
implementation and report relevant results to the Audit
Committee.

External auditors

External auditors of the Company raise independent queries
regarding various businesses, operations and the
performance of internal auditors (especially any significant
internal monitoring involving financial reporting confirmed
during audit), so as to further improve the 3rd line of defence.
External auditors will report any defects in the controls to the
Audit Committee.

Audit Committee and the Board

The Audit Committee reviews and examines the audit report
and statements submitted by management of the Company,
each financial department, internal auditors and external
auditors according to the requirements on reporting, and
discuss any significant issues. Regular risk management
reports can be generally divided into two reports, internal
audit and controls report, and company risk management
report, for further discussion. The internal audit report is
submitted in accordance with the audit plan annually, and the
Audit Committee reviews company risk management report
in order to keep in line with the timing of financial reporting of
the Company. The Audit Committee examines the impact of
any defects in respect of content of reports, evaluation of
efficiency of risk management and internal controls system,
and whether responses are valid, and determines whether to
conduct more extensive regulation. Besides, the Audit
Committee will review the performance of internal auditors
and external auditors, and the advice of external auditors on
the internal finance department.

The Board holds meetings, proposes recommendations in
respect of the final results submitted by the Audit Committee,
and discusses to find out the final resolutions.

Governance Report (Continued)
TEERHE(E)

ABMBFANABERZHBEARELE

MEXEE@ EEENRARRTSEENA

BEZINGE YR EMEMBENER -

Wﬁﬂ%'ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂE’Jﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬂﬁ?ﬁ@%ﬂﬁ%%
BN WREZE B REHRAME

SMEB R BY B

ARBINEZBEDE T RER - &&
KA ERER T AR K LR R ERE
BIZF RIS R B RRERD
E?W\HZE*T VMBI EH  E—F5%
FZEHR - INEZBEERERE
DAELi&ETT@*T M NTEEHZBE °

ERZEERESE
ERZBERBEERER  REAMES
HARREEE - S B - REE

HED RSN R AR TR R M) B A E K
Rt - FELBEREEFRHES MUK

e BRAREERS —ROFAABE
Bt REE - REEREEMORS

AERRARE » ABP B RS RET
TERER  ERZEEREEAAAH
M EmEE B Qe ERERER
H o BEZZEERREAND  ATERER
EI%&W*EWTI%\}LE’JEZAZ B ST AESA

ECEBRNTE  RESHEEE
Tﬁ)& WARTERGHRINEEZHNE
R fbhh BEREZEGHTZABET
FEESNIEAZ BRAM Y R IR - BAR NS AR B
B A B FINER -

EZeRREZ% AEZREERKE
RRRERELES - WETE A

BHREBRTER -

2020 &3k



w

%%5@$&¢(%§>

Main scope of work conducted in 2020 in relation
to risk management

Based on compliance control management, the Company will
establish a sound all-around risk management system
consistent with the highest international standards and
continuously improve risk controls and technology based on
risk governance, guided by risk preference, with risk
quantitative tools and risk performance appraisal as primary
measures, so as to achieve the balance between risk control
and business development.

The specific work conducted by the Company in 2020 is as
follows:

° Reviewed the Company's risk management register,
record the Company's risk trend and specific ratings;

o Reviewed the guide for project risk evaluation, provide
practical and comprehensive project tools, and helped
improve management of major risks during project
cycles;

o Discussed existing and potential major risks, and

measures and other activities adopted for addressing
such risks.
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List of significant risks

Governance Report (Continued)

4. EZERARYT

In 2020, the top 10 major risks in relation to the Company's RZE-ZTF . U TZEAEANGE
business and operations are as below. The Company BRELSHBENTATIERR - NAF]
arranges, selects and prioritizes the risks encountered by #5535 A S 750 BT E A R B hN LA BR I8
existing business, to compile the list of major risks. During EENETELENT  BEFERP -
the compilation of the Company's major risks, we held a EREANNFEERBABER - A7
special meeting with management to discuss and review ERERITTEMERLAwm IR A
responses to individual risks. Review of risk procedures is 2 (8 51| /2 ) FE X9 8 6 » IR AT BB R 7
helpful to emphasize potential risks and identify new risks. BEPRREEERR - WRBEHOER -
Major risks Risk description and risk response

TEREMRE

Risk of oil and gas price fluctuation

HRERRE R

Risk of oil and gas resources

HRERER

JeB B 3 e PR

International oil price is subject to the impact of various factors: changes
in global and local political and economic conditions, supply and demand
of oil and gas, and contingencies and controversies with international
impact. Domestic oil price is determined and adjusted with reference to
the price of international crude oil. The Company’s businesses involve
both domestic and overseas markets and are therefore subject in
particular to the impact of risks of price fluctuation. However, the
Company avoided the risk through setting up relevant personnel to
continuously focus on the fluctuations of crude oil price and report.
FOMBR 2 Rt EBUALENEL  mRNEFRIRABEEY
EHNREBHNFRELTEEARNTE - BRHEBEL2RERRHER
wE - BNRERERETSRAERELMAR RARAGRBEEB IR
B AN - Bt - @R INERRBRELATE o NRRFIR T
A BRE BT RO B AR 6K B BRI R o

The implementation of the Company’s business activities may be
impacted, due to the uncertainties in the exploration and development
of oil and gas resources, or the uncertainties during the purchase of oil
and gas resources with substantial funds. Although detailed assessment
and feasibility study and analysis on investment projects in the prior
period have been conducted, the Company cannot avoid the risk arising
from the uncertainties of oil and gas resources.
HRARAENABERARERENDENAZFEETRETN - 3%
AREESBEMRERAEFEFETEEN  ERAFKLLER N
REEHRIINZE - ARAREIER AT IE B E1T T AT B
TR S - B2 ANERE RN NEE TR e R
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Major risks

TERBE

Investment risk

RERER

Exchange rate risk

BEE 781 = e gz

Risk in international operations

SR EER

Governance Report (Continued)

Risk description and risk response

JEB B 3 e P

Since the oil industry is a capital-intensive industry, the Company has
adopted a prudent investment strategy to carry out strict and detailed
feasibility study and analysis on investment projects. However, during
the implementation of the projects, the projects may fail to achieve the
expected benefits due to large variations in market environment, price
of equipment materials, construction cycle, etc., therefore, some
investment risks are presented.

FHITXBRNESBRETE  ARARDERIRTEENRERE - ik
BIE B ETRB AN RTHRRES T - BEEE BieRES -
BRI EATHIRE  REMBOER  IEAPREFRERRE L - &
BHEEMIREEHNON G  BtFE—CHRERR -

The fluctuation in exchange rates will inevitably have an impact on the
profit of the Company. Besides, the adjustments in the national interest
rate policies will also impact the Company's financing cost, thereby
impacting the profit of the Company.
EXpRSg NN EARFNNEEETE - BRMEERNH
BT ERRARMENE B ARRRIFHE -

The Company engages in oil and gas businesses in some overseas
territories. Overseas businesses and assets are governed by the laws
and regulations of the country where the business, so the complexity of
internal political and economy, including international sanction, instability
of tax and fiscal policies and culture difference, may increase the risk of
overseas business expansion and operation of the Company. Although
the Company tries to explore overseas businesses in the countries other
than those with economically or politically unstable situations, and
conducts detailed surveys prior to the commencement of projects, it is
unable to completely avoid the impact from contingencies in the
countries where its businesses are located.
RRAREFEIIND DR FHRER « JINEBME EX B FFEBEE
ERNEE  ARBEREUS - KBEMN - SEBEERHE - MRECR
PREARXCZRSE - #AIEMAER R BGINEBIRR L LR ERE -
HARNREERPREBRUSKE T RENBRFETEINEBNFRA -
FEEEIE B BT AR AT - E TR ERNREERLGAR
AIERTE -
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Major risks

TERBE

Risk of national policies

B R BUR BB

Production safety and
environmental risk

2 EERKRRAR

Market competition risk
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Risk description and risk response

JEB B 3 e P

The Chinese government oversees the domestic oil and gas industry,
therefore, its regulatory policies may impact the Company’s business
activities. The changes in government regulatory policies, such as tax
and fiscal policies, energy-saving and emission-reducing policies, may
impact the business performance of the Company.

PRI EE AR RAMRARITHEETESE  HEERXRGTZERQT
RETER) - IR - SRR BFEERREREFRNEE RN E (L - #
EREBRNRINREEE -

As a high-risk and environmentally-unfriendly industry, oil exploration is
vulnerable to natural disaster threats, and the production environment is
flammable and prone to explosion. Emergencies such as well blowout
and drill sticking may result in heavy economic losses and social impact
as well as pose major harm to personal safety. Although the Company
always stresses the importance of and implements safe production, and
endeavours to avoid various accidents and makes insurance
arrangements for major assets and inventories and against losses it may
cause to any third-party, it still cannot make provisions for the full extent
of the economic losses and adverse impacts which could be brought by
such emergencies.

FHARE—ESMN - 5F Z5RRRETHIEZXEARALERBEN S
FERITHR  REFHARGTEREAKLEEREL  HEXEURBAFL
BEKERGE 0 HE - R#EZ - KRR —ERAWTRITLEEE -
BEEANZINBASESRELE  YATEEE FTERUEHEFE =S
FERMBLAEERRE BNTETE2BELERESHERQTENR
BB RRIATE -

With the gradual opening of certain domestic petroleum and
petrochemical markets, the Company faces more fierce competition
from other domestic oil producers and foreign oil producers in relation
to, for example, obtaining rights to enter resource countries, seizing oil
and gas resources and expanding the market when it is making efforts
to strengthen its own business. With a price advantage in a competitive
environment, the Company keeps developing more advanced
technology and reducing its cost. However, its earnings will inevitably
be impacted by market competition.
BEZEBIAE A LM ALTSHE LM - AR ETEINAERERS -
ERER 0 H M A EE A A] - A RBISNG A R FE 5 L3 [ AN SR I 1S
ABREER - BIEERER - AEMSAIE @ EREASBZIEHRSE -
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Major risks Risk description and risk response
FERK B i i K% BE
Confidentiality Information on the Company’s oil reserve and unsigned investment

projects is strictly confidential. It is a policy of the Company that any
staff should be obligated to keep information confidential. But even so,
risk of information leakage brought by job hopping, change of
employment or other events is still unavoidable.

R R RARNREEEERAZIREBBGEEREAKREEE  ARAIRESR
THRARKEEEEERERNE - BT AIREEE A SPERRBISE
BN - ERK S B INR A R AR

o

Property safety risk With oil and gas exploitation as its principal business, the Company
establishes comprehensive rules and regulations and strict monitoring
process on aspects such as use of assets, production and
transportation. But since oil and gas exploitation is an outdoor activity,
there is still a risk that assets may be lost or stolen.

MEZTRER RRAREBREFHRMAKRRLE  HAXRRYUEEER £E  EHF
ERATENREGNELETRRER - BENARFAREBEEINE
7 AP AE R HIRERWE - ENEERKIIBROER

Potential risks 5. EERRK

In addition to addressing various major risks faced by the BREFSARFEMENSEEZZRARI
Company, the Audit Committee also reviews specific ERLZESHLRE THRENEERAR -
potential risks. Such potential risks often stem from changes HEEBERBBERBLE  BUA &
in economic, political, legal or technical environments, and EREMIBIBNEE) ST EE
may but not necessarily fall into the scope of current major FT—FTEREANTERKRIER - AT
risk categories. In the opinion of the Company’s Audit BEREEERE RS BERRAEEIE
Committee, such potential risks may have a significant impact EX%KS’J BEZE  BEitemd EHAR
on the Company; therefore, it will aim to minimize such NRRBEZEN S E R RIS
impact and develop risk mitigation plans.

Potential risks Risk description and risk response

BER [ B 3 o e pE

Network security risk Due to increase in network viruses, hacker attacks and failure in network

maintenance, leakage of data information becomes more and more
frequent. Although the Company has installed software such as firewall
to protect data and reduce network security risks, it is unable to
eliminate the impact of such risks as it has both domestic and overseas
businesses.

Mk 2 E R WEARE  BREUE  ZAOHEHEERNBIBREEINREHIEM - &
RRRLET N ESHRRERE M&T%%Tzi\ﬂ % - BRAETE
BAING B EBERE - DA R R Z AR RE T E
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Work focus in 2021

In 2021, the Company will focus on improving its risk
management framework and procedures, strengthening
internal risk communication, raising risk awareness and
defining risk bearers in accordance with the CG Code and
best practices in the industry. We will arrange risk awareness
related trainings for our main operating departments, and
continue to assist the various business departments to
enhance their risk management procedures in accordance
with the Company’s risk management framework and
guidance. In addition, we will identify major risks and make
arrangements in relation to the report and improvement of
risk countermeasures, potential risk framework and close
monitoring initiatives.

Statement of the Board on internal control
responsibilities

The Company's internal controls are aimed at reasonably
ensuring operation legality and compliance, asset safety and
authenticity and completeness of financial report and related
information, improving operating efficiency and effectiveness,
and facilitating the implementation of development strategy.
The Company has comprehensively assessed the
effectiveness of its own internal controls and reported such
assessment to the Audit Committee and the Board in 2020.
No material weakness was identified during the assessment.
In the opinion of the Board, for the year ended December 31,
2020, no events that may have significant impact on the
Company’s operation, financial reporting and compliance have
been identified, and the existing risk management and
internal control system remains effective and adequate to
guarantee the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

Governance Report (Continued)
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The Company discloses information in accordance with the rules
and regulations of the Securities and Futures Commission in Hong
Kong and the Stock Exchange, releases its periodic reports and
interim announcements to the public in accordance with law, and
discloses important information such as the Company’s financial
results, material information changes and information on significant
projects to the market on a timely basis, bearing in mind the
timeliness, fairness, accuracy, authenticity and completeness of
information disclosure, therefore protecting the legal interests of
investors and stakeholders.

Ms. Chan Wing Sze (“Ms. Chan”) had been the company secretary
of the Company during the period from 1 January 2020 and has
resigned on 15 January 2020. Ms. Yuen Wing Yan Winnie (“Ms.
Yuen"”) was appointed as the company secretary of the Company
in place of Ms. Chan since 15 January 2020. Each of Ms. Chan and
Ms. Yuen was nominated by Tricor Services Limited, the external
professional service provider, and engaged by the Company as its
company secretary. Each of Ms. Chan and Ms. Yuen had complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2020. The company secretary reports to the Chairman
of the Board and Chief Executive Officer regarding corporate
governance issues, and all Directors can seek her advice and
support. The company secretary is also responsible for providing
advice to Directors and the Board Committees on the latest laws
and regulations, such that procedures of the Board as well as all
applicable laws, regulations and rules are complied with. The
company secretary’'s primary contact person at the Company is
Ms. Lian Yunfei, the general counsel of the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

ARRERESES AR EHEREEY
BRI ERES EERTRTEARE -

ARHEINEME *E;EHﬂ#&ttZiﬁfﬁi/‘ﬁt ' R
RIS IE T AR BMIEEE - RAREARE
BEE - %Kﬁﬁlﬂ%égﬁm M2 TE
5&%%&%& D RN - EEMEAN

TR UREREE NN SBERALTNAE
R o

REFZLE((RXEDR-_F_FF—HA—H
EMEEEARBARMELR — T _FF—
ATHBBRE - RBEMXE(REXL DR =-F
—TFE-A+RABEZERRRRRARWME
BHRZ L - RA T MRZTGHIMNERBEH
EEEEEXRHTARQRIERS - XXARF

ZERRAME RBE_Z_ZF+-A
=t+—BLFE BREERRZXEZACET
EHRAIE 329 - EEZT DR+ IE/NFH

HEZEXE) - ARMEREREERNESS
EEMTHASER  IAESHAREQA

Wimﬁﬁ&§%°@ﬂwiﬁﬁﬁﬁ%$&
ZEENRFHER  BEERMUERAERE
ZERFEMEERER RANRIIDES
BT o ERARRZ E B ARARRARA
RERESRLL -



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

MMz

ERE RS (B)

To safeguard the rights and interests of shareholders, the Company
will propose a separate resolution in respect of each significant
matter (including the election of individual Directors) at general
meetings. All resolutions put forward at the general meeting will be
voted on by poll in accordance with the Listing Rules, and the poll
results will be announced on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the
written requisition of any two or more members of the Company
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or,
in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office,
the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held
as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company. General meetings may
also be convened on the written requisition of any one member of
the Company which is a recognized clearing house (or its
nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a
principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such
requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. If
the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within
a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by
the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies law or the Articles of Association of the Company.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may

send relevant written enquiries to the Company by post or email as
per the below contact information.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests by post or
email:

Address: Room 1901-07, 19/F, Sun Hung Kai Centre,
30 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
(with the Board of Directors as designated recipient)
Tel: 852-2511-0028
Fax: 852-2511-1983
Email: investors@mienergy.com.cn

Shareholders must deposit or send (as the case may be) the
original of the duly signed written requisitions, notices or
statements or enquires to the above address, and provide their full
names, contact details and identification such that the Company
could reply to them. It is likely that the shareholder information will
be disclosed as required by law.
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The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for strengthening relationships with
investors and increasing investors’ understanding of the Company’s
business performance and strategy. Also, the Company
understands that maintaining transparency and disclosing the
Company's information on a timely basis are very important for
shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions.

For this purpose, the Company has set up a website
(http://www.mienergy.com.cn), where relevant latest information,
the up-to-date state of the Company’s business operation and
development, the Company's financial information and corporate
governance practices and other data are available to the public.

The Company endeavors to maintain an ongoing dialogue with
shareholders, especially through annual general meetings and other
general meetings. The Chairman of the Board, all Non-executive
Directors, Independent Non-executive Directors and the Chairmen
of all Board Committees (or their representatives) will attend annual
general meetings to meet shareholders and respond to their
enquires. The Company’s general meeting is a platform for the
Board and shareholders to communicate with each other.

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends
pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code that has become
effective from January 1, 2019 which sets out the factors in
consideration of the payment of dividend. The Board endeavors to
maintain a balance between meeting shareholders’ expectations
and prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend policy
and will continually review the same and make modifications when
appropriate.

During the year under review, no changes have been made to
Articles of Association of the Company. An up-to-date version of
the Company’s Articles of Association is available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Report of the Directors
ESEEWmE

The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2020.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal business of the Company, its subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities is to engage in the exploration, development,
production and sale of crude oil and other petroleum products
under production sharing contracts and other similar arrangements.
The Group currently has the following oil and gas properties: (1)
two producing production oil sharing contracts in northeast China;
and (2) participating interests in an exploration contract and six
production contracts in Kazakhstan held by Emir-Qil.

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2020
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on pages 119 to 121.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended December 31, 2020 (2019: Nil).

The business review of the Group for the year has been set out in
pages 11 to 12 of the Chairman’s Statement, pages 93 to 111 of
the Management Discussion and Analysis, and this Report of the
Directors.

Please refer to the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 122 to 123 and note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 227 for movements in the reserves of the
Group and the Company, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2020.
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Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the senior notes are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Distributable reserves of the Company at December 31, 2020 are
disclosed in the consolidated statements of changes in equity.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
group is set out on page 5 of the annual report.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
disposed of or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities for
the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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(i)

Stock Incentive Compensation Plan (“Plan”)

The Board adopted the Plan prior to the listing of the
Company on the Stock Exchange designed to attract and
retain the best available personnel for positions of substantial
responsibility, provide additional incentive to employees and
directors and promote the success of our business.

The exercise price of the granted share options is equal to or
higher than the market price of the shares on the date of the
grant. Each share option gives the holder the right to
subscribe for one share of the Company. The share options
granted under the Plan typically vest over a two or three year
period at each anniversary of the grant date, subject to the
participant continuing to be an employee on each vesting
date.

The Company has undertaken that no further share options
will be granted under the Plan upon the listing of the
Company, but the provisions of the Plan shall in all other
respects remain in full force and effect and share options
granted under the Plan prior to the listing of the Company
continue to be exercisable in accordance with the Plan and
agreements entered into pursuant to the Plan.

Cancellation of Vested Options

Prior to the listing of the Company, the Company granted,
pursuant to the Plan, share options to certain employees and
directors of the Company, entitling the option holders to
subscribe for an aggregate of 29,902,758 ordinary shares of
the Company of USD0.001 each at the exercise prices of
US$0.13 and US$0.25 per share (“Pre-IPO Grant”).

As the exercise prices of vested options under the Plan have
been consistently higher when compared with the prevailing
market price of the Shares. As a result, the options could no
longer serve as an effective incentive. In view of this, the
Company offered to grant new share options pursuant to the
Scheme to cancel vested options under the Pre-IPO Grant,
subject to the option holders consenting to such cancellation.
As a result, 3,079,266 vested options under the Plan were
cancelled on May 16, 2019. No compensation was paid to the
holders for cancellation of the vested options.

As at December 31, 2020, there are no outstanding options
granted under the Plan.
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Share Option Scheme (“Scheme”)

On November 27, 2010, the Board adopted the Scheme to
enable the Company to grant options to selected participants
as incentives or rewards for their contributions to our Group.
Participants of the Scheme include any executive Director,
non-executive Director or full time employee of the Group as
invited by the Board. The Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing from the approval of the
Scheme. Accordingly, the Scheme expired on November 27,
2020 but provisions of the Scheme remain in full force as
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted prior thereto.

The exercise period of any option granted under the Scheme
must not be more than 10 years commencing on the date of
grant. The acceptance of an offer of the grant of the option
must be made within 28 days from the date of grant with a
non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from the grantee. The
exercise price determined by the Board will be at the higher
of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;
(ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant and (iii) the
nominal value of the shares.

The share options granted under the Scheme typically vest
over three years on the last day of each year starting from the
subsequent year of the grant, subject to the participant
continuing to be an employee on each vesting date and other
performance evaluation results.

Cancellation of Vested Options

On September 20, 2011, the Company granted, pursuant to
the Scheme adopted by the Company on November 27,
2010, share options to certain employees of the Company,
entitling the option holders to subscribe for an aggregate of
112,048,000 Shares of the Company of US$0.001 each at the
exercise price of HK$2.254 per Share (2011 Grant").
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On March 21, 2014, the Company granted, pursuant to the
Scheme, share options to 151 eligible participants comprising
certain directors, substantial shareholders and employees of
the Company to subscribe for an aggregate of 97,280,000
Shares of the Company of US$0.001 each at the exercise
price of HK$1.40 per Share (the “2014 Grant”).

On December 9, 2016, the Company granted, pursuant to the
Scheme, share options to 93 eligible participants comprising
certain directors, substantial shareholders and employees of
the Company to subscribe for an aggregate of 95,920,000
Shares of the Company of US$0.001 each at the exercise
price of HK$0.816 per share (the “2016 Grant”).

As the exercise prices of vested options under the Scheme
have been consistently higher when compared with the
prevailing market price of the Shares. As a result, the options
could no longer serve as an effective incentive. In view of
this, the Company offered to grant new share options
pursuant to the Scheme to cancel vested options under the
2011 Grant, 2014 Grant and 2016 Grant, subject to the option
holders consenting to such cancellation. As a result,
122,333,243 vested options under the Scheme were
cancelled on May 16, 2019. No compensation was paid to the
holders for cancellation of the vested options.

Grant of Options

On May 16, 2019, the Company granted share options
pursuant to the Scheme to 90 eligible participants comprising
certain directors, substantial shareholders and employees of
the Company to subscribe for an aggregate of 155,089,171
Shares. These options have an exercise price of HK$0.269
per share and a term of 10 years from the grant date, and will
vest over the next three years.

The closing price per share as at May 15, 2019, being the

date immediately before the date the share options were
granted was HK$0.242.
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Under the Scheme, a total of 155,089,171 share options were
granted to directors, executives and employees, of which
12,572,368 share options lapsed during the year ended
December 31, 2020. Details of the share options outstanding
as at December 31, 2020 which have been granted under the
Scheme are as follows:

Numberof ~ Numberof  Numberof  Number of

options options options options

Held at granted exercised lapsed cancelled

January 1, during during during during

Name 2020  theperiod  theperiod  theperiod  the period

RoEC%F RAR RAm RAm iR
-A-H Ritlz iz BAX BHK

e ¥E BRESE BREEE BREXE  BREYA
Executive Directors

#i7Es

Mr. Zhang Ruilin 7,887,000 - - - -
KRR

Mr. Zhao Jiangwei 7,887,000 - - -
BIRLE

Chief Executive
Officer
ERUTE
Mr. Mei Liming 15,000,000 = = = =
9%

RIZEIHETEl - 53£155,089,171 1088
BEERTES (TRABKEES - &
22 s 2 TV = N e A

H 12,672,368 BEAR RN - BIFE
h%#ﬂa&ﬁﬁﬁ T §$+ ﬂ

Heldat  Exercise

December 31, price  Date of Exercisable
2020 (per Share)  grant period
RZB-RE
t=4
=t-8 i3 R

Be (B8R R#EH Bl

7887000 HK$0.269  May 16,2019 from May 16,2019
02093 —Z-NE to May 15, 2029
TRATRE BIZ-NF
1At+/AZ
ZEINE
Gl R il
7887000  HK$0.269  May 16,2019 from May 16,2019
02093 —Z-NE to May 15, 2029
TRATRE BIZ-NF
1At+/AZ
ZEINE
Gl R il

15,000,000  HK$0.269  May 16,2019  from May 16, 2019
0269%% ZE-NE to May 15, 2029
TAtAR BZE-NE
AAtARE
iy I3
TATHA
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Held at
January 1,
Name 2020
gt St 2:3
-R-H
33 K5
Independent
non-executive
Directors
BIFHTES
Mr. Mei Jianping 1,267,933
BRTEE
Mr. Jeffrey Willard 1,811,333
Miller
Jeffrey Willard Miller
%k
Other employees 117,720,349
AT
Total 151,573,615
@

)

Number of
options
granted

during
the period

R
Ritz
EREHE

Number of
options
exercised
during
the period

T
fiEz
ERERA

(Continued)

Number of
options
lapsed
during
the period

R
BAX
FRERE

9,006,812

9,056,812
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Number of
options
cancelled
during

the period

R
BHH
FRERE

Held at
December 31,

Exercise
price

2020  (per Share)

R-E-2%
T2R
=t-8
#5

1,267,933

1,811,333

108,663,537

142,516,803

fiE
(&)

HK$0.269
026977

HK$0.269
026977

HK$0.269
026977

Date of
grant

RER

May 16, 2019
EnE
il R WA=

May 16, 2019
EnE
il R WA=

May 16, 2019
EnE
il R WA=

Exercisable
period

qFE
il

from May 16, 2019
to May 15, 2029

AZE-NE
TAT/~AZ
ZZInE
AATHA

from May 16, 2019
to May 15, 2029

AZE-NE
TAT/~AZ
ZZInE
AATHA

from May 16, 2019
to May 15, 2029

AZE-NE
TAT/~AZ
ZZInE
AATHA
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2012 Share Award Scheme (“2012 Share Award
Scheme”)

To supplement the Plan in respect the operation of the share
appreciation rights (“SARs"), the Board resolved to adopt a
2012 Share Award Scheme on May 30, 2012, pursuant to
which the Company granted to selected grantees who are
persons holding SARs under the Plan, such number of
awarded shares as is equal to the number of outstanding
notional shares to which the SARs of the selected grantees
relates. The 2012 Share Award Scheme does not constitute a
share option scheme pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules and is a discretionary scheme of the Company.

The Board resolved to adopt on November 20, 2015 the
amended Plan, pursuant to which, restrictions on grant price
of SARs granted after the adoption of amended Plan are
removed. Lapsed SARs will be re-used and re-granted upon
terms and conditions determined by the remuneration
committee of the Company in its sole discretion, in
accordance with the amended Plan.

According to the 2012 Share Award Scheme, shares of up to
44,415,800 of the Company may be purchased by a trustee
from the market out of cash contributed by the Company and
be held in trust for the benefit of the selected grantees
pending the exercise of the SARs. upon exercise of the SAR
by the selected grantees, the trustee will sell the awarded
shares to which the SAR so exercised relates and pay the
selected grantees in satisfaction of the Company’s payment
obligations in relation to the SAR under the Plan. unless early
terminated by the board of the Company, the 2012 Share
Award Scheme shall continue in full force and effect until the
date when all the SARs are exercised, terminated or expired.

(iii) 2012 P& EEEI([2012 R 13 22 B

=rEl)

RYZEEEL R B ER (R EE
BDITEOER  BEFER_T—_F
A=+ HERFEM—IH2012 i A
A& AREHREHKENARAR D
BB - ZEEARABARBREZE
FAERMEEEZ AL MAKHZ
B BB HER BEIE AR AR
ZBRMIBERZ AARBETEERNDE
B ° 2012 fx{n BB At 813 MER LT AR
AIFE 17 EMEZNBERETS - AT
BITRBEREMNETE -

ExeeRN—_ZT—Aaft+—A-tH#
IRERMMIERTH LA E] - RIRERT AL
g BRI BB E TN IE
B4 Rt 8lh YR IBERERTE
B BR B R EOE - I B R&ZET &I T
BRI R ERKELH AR B H
% B & B BRE MR T IRER AL
WEHET -

BIE 2012 D RENET 8 - MELLHF
FAABRERGRH BN TISEER
&% 44,415,800 i AR QA A AR (D + I LAKE
KBEABRABITEANEGEERERES
PARRIT B AR (D 3G B 7 - RS BRIRAR A
TR B ERER - AT
ZBRMIGERE DS ZB KRG - AL
KEABRANREBITAR B EZATE
ETRMIGEEZNREE - RIERE
EGIRPRIE - 20127 BB ETEIE —
BEXAAEREER  BEEMBARGIEE
REPETTIE  RIFSREIBFE A AL -
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Cancellation of Vested SARs

Since the exercise price of the SAR has been higher than the
prevailing market price of shares the 2012 Share Award
Scheme could no longer serve as an effective incentive. In
view of this, the Company offered certain SAR grantees each
one common share of the Company in consideration of
cancellation of two previously granted SARs subject to the
SAR grantees consenting to such cancellation. On January
25, 2018, 17,847,663 SARs were cancelled and 8,923,833
shares were granted to such SAR grantees under the 2012
Share Award Scheme.

After all vested SARS have been cancelled, the 2012 Share
Award Scheme was terminated accordingly.

2015 Share Award Scheme (“2015 Share Award
Scheme”)

To recognize the contributions by certain grantees and to give
incentives thereto in order to retain them for the continuing
operation and development of the Group, and to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group, the
Board resolved to adopt on January 6, 2015 and amend on
November 20, 2015 the 2015 Share Award Scheme, pursuant
to which the Board may at their absolute discretion select any
grantee, who is an employee or consultant of the Group or of
any affiliate, for participation in the 2015 Share Award
Scheme and determine the number of awarded shares to be
granted to such grantee. The 2015 Share Award Scheme
does not constitute a share option scheme pursuant to
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a discretionary scheme
of the Company, and will be in effect in parallel with the Plan,
the Scheme and the 2012 Share Award Scheme.
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Pursuant to the 2015 Share Award Scheme rules, existing
shares will be purchased by a trustee from open market out
of cash which will be paid by the Company as trust shares
and be held on trust for the grantees until the relevant
award(s) is vested in accordance with the relevant award
agreement and the 2015 Share Award Scheme rules. Upon
vesting, the trustee shall transfer the relevant trust shares as
awarded shares to the relevant grantee, or upon receipt of
the instructions from the grantees, dispose of the relevant
awarded shares in open market and transfer the proceeds of
the sale of the relevant awarded shares (after deduction of
the relevant charges, expenses, stamp duty and levy) to the
relevant grantee.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
Board pursuant to the 2015 Share Award Scheme rules, the
2015 Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective from
January 6, 2015 to the date of the last of the awarded shares
has been vested and transferred to the relevant grantee or
has lapsed, whichever is later, in accordance with the 2015
Share Award Scheme rules, provided that no award shall be
made on or after the 10th anniversary date of the adoption
date.

On November 20, 2015, the Board of Directors has resolved
to offer to certain directors and employees 14,200,000 shares
under the 2015 Share Award Scheme.

On December 9, 2016, the Board has resolved to offer to
certain director 12,000,000 shares under the 2015 Share
Award Scheme.

On January 25, 2018, the Board resolved to offer to
employees and directors 104,000,000 shares under the 2015
Share Award Scheme.

As at December 31, 2020, the trustee held 11,975,165 shares
acquired through purchases from the market at an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$13,095,325 (including
transaction costs).

RI% 2015 B fn 2R+ BIA A - ZFEAH
NABZHNRENT S EBERAR

MIERETRD - XHZEARLHE
ARABAER B HBEEERER
9 22 B 17 =% &2 2015 At 2R Y =1 &1 45 Rl BR

E-BER XEARKHEBERRND
ERERBRNERGABARA &
WERIARANERE M5 ELRER
BRI D - WS E AR R AR B
YWz (BRBER © FxX - EITER MR
IR BRAAMERA -

i B F & I ARAR % 2015 A0 R Eh 5+ B 16
FOREIRAIAR LE - 2016 i 7 2Ry =t &1 %
R-T—RF—ARNBE BERKE
B R 0 57 8 1 #2375 B AR BR A R @ AR A
HEBRBZEIGRRB AL - A
BERE BRMBENTAFAZEZ
PSE LRI ERE -

R-_ZT—RAF+—A=+H AQAE
EERZRIE 2015 81D BE IR T A
REFEEERIEES A5 14,200,000 f%
B 5 o

R—_ZE—RE+_ALB ARARES
S RFERE 20165 %5 BT EIR T AR
R EESEAET 12,000,000 LA ©

R-ZZE—NFE—A-+HA AAFE
SRR IE 2015 0 BB 2R TR
NAEZE K8 T4 104,000,000 (% %

{/\ ®

BE-F-FTFET-_A=1+—0 i
/\%ﬁ11,975,165ﬂxﬂx1ﬁ TET 5 LA 48
R AB 476 113,095,325 T (B IE X H K
R)EE o
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Others

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under each of
the Scheme, the Plan and any other share option scheme of
the Company to each participant in any 12 month period shall
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue at the date of
the 2012 annual general meeting.

As at the date of this report, the maximum number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 264,784,079 shares,
representing approximately 8.1% of the issued share capital.

(v)

L th

\

TE (1] 12 8 A B8 BT F AR R BE A i ot
2« ZEH B B AR BT (A H Ath BE PR A AT
SR EREMEEITRABITTS
SLEZENBRN AT EBBARRTE
BEITIRAR 1% » RITERIBERET
B~ ZETEI KA D A H A BB AR A
B 2 2P BT O BT RIS B
FERATEBHBA-_ZT——FREAFK
CERDBEITRHOEI10% -

HEARELY  BEERETEES
A BT 81 B 5 264,784,079 /%
B EEITIRAL81% °

The directors during the year were:
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Ruilin (Chairman)
Mr. Zhao Jiangwei
Mr. Mei Liming

(resigned with effect from June 18, 2020)
Non-executive Director
Ms. Xie Na
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Mei Jianping

Mr. Jeffrey Willard Miller
Mr. Guo Yanjun
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In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Company’'s Articles of
Association, Mr. Jeffrey Willard Miller and Mr. Guo Yanjun shall
retire by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. All of
the above retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re- election.

We have entered into letters of appointment with each of our
Directors, pursuant to which each of the Executive Directors, non-
executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors is
appointed for terms of three years, subject to re-election in
accordance with our Articles of Association at our general meeting.

On November 20, 2009, Mr. Zhang Ruilin and Mr. Zhao Jiangwei,
each an Executive Director, has entered into a service contract with
the Company, which is renewable yearly unless terminated (i) with
12 months’ notice by either party, or (i) by the Company upon
certain events such as the Director having committed serious or
persistent breaches of the service contract. Should the Company
terminate the service contract, Mr. Zhang Ruilin and Mr. Zhao
Jiangwei will be entitled to receive severance payment equivalent
to one year’'s basic pay under the service contract, save for
circumstances described in item (ii) above.

Save as disclosed above, none of our Directors have entered into a
service contract with us which does not expire or which is not
determinable by us within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

RIEAXRRQRER MBI F16.1815 » Jeffrey
Willard Miller 554 K 20 3 5 55 A= 7B 0 FE JE AR R
BEAG LWERT  HHAERBERET-
FTE LR TESEFTE EREREET -

RRABEMBEFILEREE - Bt - FHT
B SFRTESREBUIFNTEFTER
ENEHA=F  HARBARRMEHERZH
ARARRBRAS L HREEFE -

RZZTAF+—A=1+H RRREERH
IHREE(FRITES) DRHIEARBIRILR
Bam BHEREERNESFELD  RIEOH
ER =L+ B A EEA T LARLE - i)
RERETEAR (WEFTREEEIREE
BRBER)  AARE FRELE - AR A
RIERBER - RIRAREERBITRELR
AR —ERERNRENEARBERAATE
FEAFHEMEME - LI LX) AR
BREHIIN o

BRAEFTIREESN  RAREZWEERNF]

RIS IR —FARERIARR AR —FA
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2020 &3k



Report of the Directors (Continued)

E=gRE(E)

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company had
followed policies and guidelines to determine the price and terms
of the CCTs conducted. The Group had the following transactions
with Jilin Guotai Petroleum Development Company, Songyuan
Guotai Petroleum technology Service Company and their
subsidiaries (“Jilin Guotai”), which are connected persons of the
Company under the Listing Rules:

Continuing Connected Transactions
Provision of oilfield services by Jilin Guotai to us

Jilin Guotai is owned by Mrs. Zhang and Mr. Zhao Jiangwei, and is
therefore a connected person of the Company.

On November 23, 2010, we entered into a framework oilfield
service agreement with Jilin Guotai (the “Qilfield Service
Agreement”), pursuant to which Jilin Guotai agreed to provide to
us various oilfield services including well maintenance services,
well logging services, oil tanker transportation services, oilfield
construction related works and other oil operations related
services, subject to the entering into of individual contracts as
agreed between Jilin Guotai and us pursuant to the Qilfield Service
Agreement. The service fees will be based on normal commercial
terms and negotiated on arm’s length basis between the parties,
and shall be no less favourable than those offered by independent
third parties to our Group.

On December 31, 2012, we entered into the Renewed Oilfield
Services Agreement with Jilin Guotai for a term of three years
ending December 31, 2015.

On December 31, 2015, we entered into the Renewed Oilfield

Services Agreement with Jilin Guotai for a term of three years
ending December 31, 2018.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

REBE-T-_TF+-_A=T—HLFE &
NEETHBRE R ZE BIRRHIE RES
AEEREMERBABFAEERAF - RR
MEFROHMMEREERATDRESZHEER
AE([EMEZE]) (RELHRAU/ARRZ
FEALDETTUATIRS

EARE R B A4S 1 B4R £ E AR IS

EMERHRRAME IREEES - AR
ARARNEEAL -

ARBAR-_F—FF+— AT =B EEGMHE
AT MRS M AR ek ([ M AR5 g 1)
Rt - EMERABRARBIRH S EHHR
% BREFRE - AR - 0 E R R
% hEZRAE TR R Em A mEXAER
%o ERBERBERG WS - AT EMERER
RAEFZERER G R - RFEEMRBLER
BRGFAESRATELEEREE - BEK
RN SERBIULE =T AANEEFEMHE -

RIBE——F+-A=+—8  BAEGHEH
FEINEBMARE HE - FHAEE T
—RE+_A=1+—HIE=%-

RZZBE-—RF+A=+—H  HMESHKEH
TRV KB mARG - FRABE—T
—N\F+ZA=+—HIL=F-



Report of the Directors (Continued)

=] NE=

E=gWmE (F)

On December 6, 2018, we entered into a renewed oil services
agreement with Jilin Guotai for a term of three years ending
December 31, 2021.

The proposed annual caps for the transactions under the renewed
oilfield services agreement are RMB167 million, RMB189 million
and RMB208 million for the three years ending December 31,
2021, respectively.

As set out below, the aggregate annual transaction amount of each
continuing connected transaction for the year ended December 31,
2020 has not exceeded the proposed annual cap for the relevant

year.
Connected Person Nature of transaction

B AT XoHME

Jilin Guotai Provision of oilfield services by
HME R Jilin Guotai to the Company

RS A AR B h B RS

In the opinion of the independent non-executive Directors, the
above transactions were entered into: (i) in the Group's ordinary
and usual course of business; (i) on normal commercial terms or
better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders of the Company as
a whole. Details of such connected transactions are set out in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements.

R-ZZE-NF+ZANRA - ROEERESR]
MRREDmARG A FRMABE_T——
ooy 5 ey = M e

BE_ T -_—F+_-_A=+—HI=F" &%
FEARSHEFERES I AARK167H
B ARKISOEETLNMARE208EETT °

BINT XY SRHEEEIZNBE_T—
TFE+-_A=1T—BUEZFERZRBEEBR
EBRFE LR -

Proposed annual cap Transaction amount

for the year ended for the year ended
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2020
BE-T-%F BE-F-FF
+t=ZHA=+—H +=A=+—H
EEFELR RBH
RMB189.0 million RMB97.1 million
AR 18,900 87T AREEQ9 7108

BUFRTEERR UWERBTHOIR—KK
BERKERETD : () REEBRGRIEERK
;o AGNRBERREDZZBRTFAIER
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged
the auditor of the Company to conduct a limited assurance
engagement on the above non-exempt continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor's letter on
Continuing Connected transactions under the Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has reported their conclusion to the Board, stating that:

a. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the relevant non-exempt continuing
connected transactions have not been approved by the
Company’s board of directors.

b.  nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the transactions were not entered into,
in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions.

C. with respect to the aggregate amount of the relevant non-
exempt continuing connected transactions, nothing has come
to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe
that the relevant continuing connected transactions have
exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there is no contract of significance
between the Group and a controlling shareholder of the Company
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries, including
the provision of services by the controlling shareholder or its
subsidiaries to the Group.

Saved as disclosed above, there has also been no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at the
end of the year ended December 31, 2020 in which a Director or
an entity connected with a Director is or was materially interested,
either directly or indirectly.

Brief biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 13
to 15.
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As at December 31, 2020, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), which will have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he/she is taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which will be required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to
therein, or which will be required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)

R-E-_ZTF+-_A=+—H ARAEFK
FETBRABRARRIREMBE ZBE(EER
BEREEEN ([EFHRAEED ) EXVER)
HIRED mﬁﬁﬂ%’ﬁ&ﬁ%a’iqﬂ%ﬁmﬁﬁm%&
HEEPIEXVERE 7 R8N EAME AR

B 22 BT M 2 E%ﬁ%(@?ﬂﬁﬁimﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬂm
Bl IE ST B 1B AR B A e RA
B HRIEFEF KA E K FF 352 16K R T
BERRZIEENETMANER SRR -
Eﬁzmﬁwrﬁ%ﬁﬁuﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ“%%%tﬁé’*
H X HHEESTRI(ZESFA ) BAEARA

MES R FTEE RS SO B FELAN T ¢

contained in the Listing Rules, were detailed as follows:

Name of
Corporation

Name of Director/
Chief Executive

B TETRABRS EERR

Mr. Zhang Ruilin Our Company
RNFRAE PN

Mr. Zhao Jiangwei Our Company
HIHESE PN

Number of ordinary Approximate
shares (including total percentage

Capacity/ options to be of interest in the
Nature of interest exercised) corporation
ROEE EEEREN
B3 RRME (BEAMTRERE) BHABES
Interest of controlled 1,5677,095,234 (L) 48.23%
corporation (Note 2)
X EERER (Bf2)
Interest of controlled 88,621,234 (S) 2.70%
corporation (Note 3)
FHEE S (HiT3)
Beneﬁmal owner (Note 4) 7,987,000 (L) 0.24%
ExBEBA(HF4)
Interest of controlled 1,5677,095,234 (L) 48.23%
corporation (Note 2)
T EE R (M7 2)
Interest of controlled 88,621,234 (S) 2.70%
corporation (Note 3)
Rzl EE RS (f2F3)
Beneficial owner (Note 4) 10,987,000 (L) 0.33%

BERBEBA K1)
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Name of Director/
Chief Executive

EZ TETHRABRSR

Mr.Zhang Ruilin

B

)

Name of
Corporation

BT

Far East Energy

Capacity/
Nature of interest

5/ EEME

Interest of controlled

R E Limited (“FEEL") corporation (Note 2)
REHEEER (ff22)
Mr. Zhao Jiangwei FEEL Interest of controlled
HTRELE corporation (Note 2)
Rl EE R (faF2)
Mr. Mei Jianping Our Company Beneficial owner
1§ e /N ExBAA
Mr. Jeffrey Willard Miller Our Company Beneficial owner
Jeffrey Willard Miller 554 /NG EaEAA
Ms. Xie Na Our Company Beneficial owner
Bl e /N EHBEAA
Mr. Guo Yanjun Our Company Beneficial owner
PEEFEE /N ERHEAA
Mr. Mei Liming Our Company Beneficial owner
1§RRAEE PN ExEEA
Notes: Bifet -
(1) The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the shares of the (1)
Company. The letter “S” denotes the person’s short position in the shares of
the Company.
(2) FEEL is held by Ms. Zhao Jiangbo (“Mrs. Zhang”), Mr. Zhang Ruilin (“Mr. (2)

Zhang"”) and Mr. Zhao Jiangwei (“Mr. Zhao") as to 80%, 9.99% and 10%,
respectively. On May 24, 2013, 72,000 shares in FEEL were issued to Mrs.
Zhang, 399,070,000 shares in the Company were transferred from FEEL to
Champion International Energy Limited (“Champion”), 399,070,000 shares in
the Company were transferred from FEEL to Orient International Energy
Limited (“Orient”), 475,000,000 shares in the Company were transferred from
FEEL to New Sun International Energy Limited (“New Sun”) and 141,460,000
shares in the Company were transferred from FEEL to Power International
Energy Limited (“Power"). Each of Champion, Orient, New Sun and Power is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Sunrise Glory Holdings Limited, which is itself a
wholly-owned subsidiary of FEEL. Mrs. Zhang, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao have
entered into an Acting-in-Concert Agreement under which they agreed to act in
concert in relation to all matters that require the decisions of the shareholders
of FEEL. Pursuant to the Acting-in-Concert Agreement, if a unanimous opinion
in relation to the matters that require action in concert is unable to be reached,
Mr. Zhang shall be allowed to vote on his, Mrs. Zhang's and Mr. Zhao's shares.
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Number of ordinary
shares (including
options to be

Approximate
total percentage
of interest in the

exercised) corporation

ROEA EEERERN
(BREATEERE) BRETEA
8,999 9.99%

9,000 10%

2,067,933 (L) 0.06%
2,611,333 (L) 0.07%
800,000 (L) 0.02%

800,000 (L) 0.02%
15,909,290 (L) 0.48%

T L] EREATRERTRBH OGFR - T8
[S)HERA AL RAA TR EAR «

FEEL ERBTR ([READ) - SRAFREE([FREED)
KT E(HEE]D DRIHEFS0% - 9.99% K
10%Ewm - RZT—=FAA=-+MA ' FEELH
72,000 % P& 15 81T TR K A * FEEL% B #§ AR 2 7]
399,070,000 % + 399,070,000 fi% * 475,000,000 % &
141,460,000 A% % 19 & 3 F Champion International
Energy Limited ([ Champion ) * Orient International
Energy Limited ([Orient]) * New Sun International
Energy Limited ([New Sun]) % Power International
Energy Limited ([ Power]) > Champion * Orient *
New Sun } Power?J /% Sunrise Glory Holdings
Limited ®) 2 & fif B A 7] ° ifi Sunrise Glory Holdings
Limited Al SFEELMY 2 EMB R R - |RKA » R
ERBEECI L —BTBHE S Bt BERE
MFAFEELIRFOREN —NFE—BTH - RE—
BITE M - MAREEEREBR® —BITHFEN—
WMER  REEBERE  REXARBITENRSD
ETRERR -
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The long interests which FEEL, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao have in the
1,577,095,234 shares in the Company include (i) the beneficial interests which
FEEL has (and in the case of Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao, the indirect beneficial
interests which they have (through their shareholdings in FEEL)) in the
1,469,600,000 shares in the Company held by FEEL through its subsidiaries, (ii)
the 7,887,000 share options granted to Mr. Zhang, (iii) the 7,887,000 share
options granted to Mr. Zhao, (iv) the put option granted by FEEL, Mr. Zhang
and Mr. Zhao, pursuant to a put and call option agreement, over the 88,521,234
shares in the Company held by Mr. Ho Chi Sing through Celestial Energy
Limited (“Celestial”), as further described in note (3) below, (v) the 100,000
shares owned by Mr. Zhang himself and (vi) 3,100,000 shares owned by Mr.
Zhao himself.

The Company was informed on November 8, 2014 that TPG Star Energy Ltd.
and Celestial had entered into a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to
which Celestial had acquired and TPG Star Energy Ltd. has sold 211,855,234
ordinary shares in the Company.

On November 8, 2014, FEEL, Mr. Zhang, Mr. Zhao, Mrs. Zhang and Celestial
entered into a put and call option agreement in relation to certain of shares (the
“PCA"), pursuant to which the parties to the put and call option agreement
have agreed to grant each other certain rights in relation to their shares, and
section 317(1)(a) of the SFO applies. Mr. Ho Chi Sing is the sole shareholder of
Celestial.

In particular, Mr. Ho Chi Sing, through his holdings in Celestial, is beneficially
interested in 211,855,234 shares in the Company. Pursuant to the
abovementioned put and call option agreement, Mr. Ho Chi Sing and Celestial
have been granted a put option to resell/put 211,855,234 shares to FEEL, Mr.
Zhang and Mr. Zhao.

On January 6, 2017, FEEL, Mr. Zhang, Mr. Zhao, Mrs. Zhang and Celestial
entered into a letter agreement in relation to the put and call option. The Board
was also informed that Great Harmony International Ltd (“Great Harmony")
and Celestial have entered into a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to
which Great Harmony has agreed to acquire (or procure its affiliate or other
person or company designated by it to acquire) and Celestial has agreed to sell
211,855,234 ordinary shares in the Company.

On January 18, 2017, February 23, 2017 and March 7, 2017, Celestial had
ceased to have 53,334,000 shares, 40,000,000 shares and 30,000,000 shares
in long and short positions, respectively.

On May 17, 2017, FEEL, Mr. Zhang, Mr. Zhao, Mrs. Zhang (collectively, the
“Controlling Shareholders”) and Celestial entered into a second letter
agreement in relation to the put and call option agreement. For further details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated May 17, 2017.

FEEL * 3R 55 4 R 5 £ R AR 8]1,577,095,234 ik
B A NFA () FEELRE S BENB AR
782 R]1,469,600,000 8 DA M E s (&
WmkREERBRE - A ARSEBRE QAT FEEL
WREmMESNEEE D)  ()REEERN
7,887,000 17 il B - (jii) it 45 A2 152 49 7,887,000 19
FEAZAE - (iv) FEEL ~ SR MBS ARBERGRR
i/ HAHE 177 o 1 43 48 7] 75 PR ST £ 48 1 Celestial Energy
Limited ([ Celestial]) FT 3% X 1 788,521,234 i i {7
HRROEHAME - M — IR TR (3) - (v IR EAE
N5 BT #9 100,000 A A% 15+ Rz (vi) it S8 £ AR & B
A 13,100,000 BX XD ©

ARRRZZT—NF+—A/NBEE ' TPG Star
Energy Ltd. £ Celestial 5] 3 B & # #% © ¥ Ut -
Celestial A1 E Y28 &% TPG Star[E & H% 211,855,234
RN B L BAL o

W-ZT—mFE+—HF/\B - FEEL R&E4E - #BE
4~ Rk A K Celestial 5t & T IR0 5] 3 R 00 KR8
R B ZRBEZATOARELEZER
HEERG S TERLERZHRBEERE
317(1)(@) 1&#R 7 © {71 & 5K % 4 /% Celestial 89 M — A%
o

REER/ RO - MK L& 8B E T Celestial
KA - AR E 211,855,234 IRE R o BIE Lt
Rom KRR B - IR ST £ M Celestial i 8
RoLHANE - BMFEEL  SREEMBEEEE EH
211,855,234 %1 ©

RZZT—+tF—HA/NH ' FEEL * 3R 4 ~ #HEAE -
iRk A K Celestial £ 5] — 7 S 3200 & R B 1 %
R HE B EE g % E  Great Harmony
International Ltd ([ Great Harmony|) £ Celestial
=1 7T BESE % - B - Great Harmony B E B B (3%
BREMBAGSEENEMAXKAFEE) B
Celestial B & H& AN A 5] 211,855,234 I I i@ A%

Celestial P IR —FE—+F—A+/\B  —_F—+t
FZRAZ+=BR=ZZE—tF=AtH BEES
53,334,000 % * 40,000,000 fi% X 30,000,000 f% #) &F
BRHKR °

RZZE—tFRA+HEH  FEEL  REWFRELE - #
THRAEE BIRZXET(EBIERERRD R
Celestial % 7] 780 & #2 8 HRE 177 3 00 58 — 10 BRI 1%
# o AMEEB2RARAR _E—EFAA+L
Sk r/N -
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On November 30, 2017, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered into
the supplemental agreement to the second letter agreement in relation to the
put and call option agreement. For further details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated November 30, 2017.

On April 14, 2018, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered into the
second supplemental agreement to the second letter agreement in relation to
the put and call option agreement. For further details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated April 15, 2018.

On November 26, 2018, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered into
the third supplemental agreement to the second letter agreement in relation to
the put and call option agreement. For further details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated November 26, 2018.

On May 30, 2019, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered into the
fourth supplement agreement to the second letter agreement in relation to the
put and call option agreement. For further details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated May 30, 2019.

On January 15, 2020, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered into
the fifth supplement agreement to the second letter agreement in relation to
the put and call option agreement. For further details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated January 15, 2020.

These interests represent interests in outstanding stock options under the Plan
and the Scheme. For further details, please refer to the section headed “Share
Options”. Mr. Zhang's interests includes the 100,000 shares held by himself.
Mr. Zhao's interests includes the 3,100,000 shares held by himself.

Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Share
Options”, as at December 31, 2020, none of the Directors or the
chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
he/she had taken or was deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or which were required to be entered into the register
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code; nor had there been any
grant or exercise of rights of such interests during the year ended
December 31, 2020.
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RZZE—EF+—A=+H  FRIKE K Celestial
FIRERRBEHEBENE_CEBHBENET
ik o HAEERELRRARBANR=_E—tF+—A
=tHRFEMZ AL -

RZZT—N\EMA+MEA - 2R R K Celestial 2%
ARERABNERENE_CEBGRENE =D
Wit o FHEEEELBARRR T —N\FH
A+REBEMZAE -

REZZE—NF+—A=1+/"A8 ' ZAE K Celestial
FIRERRABHEREOE_HHEBRENE=
DETE - FAEEELRBREARFARZE-NF
+—AZ+ R BBMIAE -

REZZE—NEFERA=1H  ZRRE K Celestial &
IR RRE R ZE D AEBRENELOH
i FAEEFELBARAAR-_TE—AFERA
= =127/

NZZTZTF—A+HA ' ERIRE K Celestial &
ARAERREREREE —NEBERENERDE
T o FHEERFELBARARR T _TF—A
+RBEBMHZ AL -

@) SR RBRER BIFTS R TR
RHERS o HMbFHIERES 0 MR ] — & - RELR
Rz BIEREERAFFEN 100,000 B2
HAEERED BREHEE LR ARFER3,100,000 i E

X R Bk —fmEEEN  R=F
“EFFA=+—RH  ARABFREET
BABRARBHEAEEEE(EERE
7 KR ARGI 5 XV #8) A7 - HHEEA D KA
REE PR A RIRE 5 LS 1R D] 58 XV AP
57 M8 BBAIG AN X B K Bk 32 P 9 #E 2 K
KB (BREREE S KR RGI M RN E 1E
AR RFEANERIAR)  IREBEFS LB
EEPIE 32 GEMREAECRARAFEN
Bt ERSORR - RBFEESTAIZAH
SARARBMRAEOEDIOXE RBE-F
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So far as the Directors are aware of, as at December 31, 2020, the
following persons (other than the Directors, chief executive(s) or
members of the Group) who had interests and/or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
two and three of Part XV of the SFO, or, which would be required,
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be entered into the register
referred to therein, were as follows:

ed)

HREFFHM RZT_ZEF+-_A=+—8H"
THAL(BRES  T2TBRABHAKERK
BRAINRARB ZBM K BEBR O HHEE
RIS 75 MG 5G] XV BB 2 %2 3 0 #BZA[R
ARARRBOER R HAR  IRBEEFFR
HAE {611 58 336 R7A & R N I P e 2 B Ae it
MR N JORBINT

Name of Interested

Bu7 A8
Ms. Zhao Jiangbo
HIRZT

FEEL

Mr. Ho Chi Sing
AR S

Celestial Energy Limited
(“Celestial”)

Billion Capital Shine Inc.

China Orient Asset Management
(International) Holding Limited

RERAEEEE (B #FR
BERAR

China Orient Asset Management
Co., Limited
FERGFEEEERNERAT

Party Capacity/
Nature of interest

B/ BRME

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2)
Rt EEER (K2t 2)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2)

RiEslEEES (HE2)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 3)
Rt EEER (K27 3)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 3)
G EERER (H23)

Person having a security interest in Shares
(Note 4)
BRERMIEMERHAL (Ht4)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4)
Rt EEER (Hfat4)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4)

R EEER (i)

Total number of

Approximate

Shares (including percentage
options to be of interest in
exercised) company

B A AR RSN
(BRETTEERE) BARD
1,5677,095,234 (L) 48.23%
88,621,234 (S) 2.70%
1,677,095,234 (L) 48.23%
88,521,234 (S) 2.70%
1,5677,095,234 (L) 48.23%
88,621,234 (S) 2.70%
1,677,095,234 (L) 48.23%
88,521,234 (S) 2.70%
1,472,300,000 (L) 45.03%
1,472,300,000 (L) 45.03%
1,472,300,000 (L) 45.03%
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Name of Interested

BELEW

Dong Yin Development (Holdings)
Limited

89 (

=)

Nne=<

Party Capacity/
Nature of interest

5/ EEME

SR AEES (AT 4)

RFER(ZR)ERAA

Wise Leader Assets Ltd.

Flying

Fung Wing Nam Florence

R AEES (fE4)

Beneficial owner
EREAA

Investments Limited

Vbt Rzl EE R (Hzt5)
Notes:

(1)

The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the shares of the
Company. The letter “S” denotes the person’s short position in the shares of
the Company.

FEEL is held by Mrs. Zhang, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao as to 80%, 9.99% and
10%, respectively. On May 24, 2013, 72,000 shares in FEEL were issued to
Mrs. Zhang, 399,070,000 shares in the Company were transferred from FEEL
to Champion, 399,070,000 shares in the Company were transferred from FEEL
to Orient, 475,000,000 shares in the Company were transferred from FEEL to
New Sun and 141,460,000 shares in the Company were transferred from FEEL
to Power International Energy Limited (“Power”). Each of Champion, Orient,
New Sun and Power is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sunrise Glory Holdings
Limited, which is itself a wholly-owned subsidiary of FEEL. Mrs. Zhang, Mr.
Zhang and Mr. Zhao have entered into an Acting-in-Concert Agreement under
which they agreed to act in concert in relation to all matters that require the
decisions of the shareholders of FEEL. Pursuant to the Acting-in-Concert
Agreement, if a unanimous opinion in relation to the matters that require action
in concert is unable to be reached, Mr. Zhang shall be allowed to vote on his,
Mrs. Zhang's and Mr. Zhao's shares.
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Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 5)

et -

Total number of Approximate

Shares (including percentage
options to be of interest in
exercised) company
ROEE  ERARERN
(BETTEERE) BREDL
1,472,300,000 (L) 45.03%
1,472,300,000 (L) 45.03%
199,160,000 (L) 6.09%
199,160,000 (L) 6.09%

FEILBELATRARRBROHOEFE - F&
[S]IERMALTRARBBRM T HILRE

FEELHSRAA » REERBERED RIEHFS0%
9.99% N 10% K - R-—E—=FR A _-+MWH -
FEEL #972,000 iR A% 15 3 17 T 5k K A - FEEL 9 Bl #%
A A 7]399,070,000 % * 399,070,000 f% -
475,000,000f% X 141,460,0008% A% 19 & & F
Champion * Orient * New Sun & Power ©
Champion * Orient * New Sun } Power 13 % Sunrise
Glory Holdings Limited ®) 2 &K@ /A &) - M Sunrise
Glory Holdings Limited Al & FEEL H) 2 &M B A &) °
RERA - REARBEECIT L —RITEHE - B
It HERBMHEHFEELRF AT — I EE K
T8 - RIFE—BITEMRZE - MARBERBHEAE
THFEN—HER  REEBARE - REAR
HAEERNRGOETRERR
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The long interests which FEEL, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao have in the
1,577,095,234 shares in the Company include (i) the beneficial interests which
FEEL has (and in the case of Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao, the indirect beneficial
interests which they have (through their shareholdings in FEEL)) in the
1,469,600,000 shares in the Company held by FEEL through its subsidiaries, (ii)
the 7,887,000 share options granted to Mr. Zhang, (iii) the 7,887,000 share
options granted to Mr. Zhao, (iv) the put option granted by FEEL, Mr. Zhang,
Mr. Zhao and Mrs. Zhang, pursuant to a put and call option agreement, over
the 88,521,234 shares in the Company held by Mr. Ho Chi Sing through
Celestial, as further described in note (3) below, (v) the 100,000 shares owned
by Mr. Zhang himself and (vi) 3,100,000 shares owned by Mr. Zhao himself.

The Company was informed on November 8, 2014 that TPG Star Energy Ltd.
and Celestial had entered into a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to
which Celestial had acquired and TPG Star Energy Ltd. has sold 211,855,234
ordinary shares in the Company.

On November 8, 2014, FEEL, Mr. Zhang, Mr. Zhao, Mrs. Zhang and Celestial
entered into the PCA in relation to certain of the shares, pursuant to which the
parties to the put and call option agreement have agreed to grant each other
certain rights in relation to their shares, and section 317(1)(a) of the SFO
applies. Mr. Ho Chi Sing is the sole shareholder of the Celestial.

In particular, Mr. Ho Chi Sing, through his holdings in Celestial, is beneficially
interested in 211,855,234 shares in the Company. Pursuant to the
abovementioned put and call option agreement, Mr. Ho Chi Sing and Celestial
have been granted a put option to resell/put 211,855,234 shares to FEEL, Mr.
Zhang and Mr. Zhao.

On January 6, 2017, FEEL, Mr. Zhang, Mr. Zhao, Mrs. Zhang (collectively, the
"“Controlling Shareholders”) and Celestial entered into the letter agreement in
relation to the put and call option. The Board was also informed that Great
Harmony International Ltd (“Great Harmony”) and Celestial have entered into a
sale and purchase agreement pursuant to which Great Harmony has agreed to
acquire (or procure its affiliate or other person or company designated by it to
acquire) and Celestial has agreed to sell 211,855,234 ordinary shares in the
Company.

On January 18, 2017, February 23, 2017 and March 7, 2017, Celestial had
ceased to have 53,334,000 shares, 40,000,000 shares and 30,000,000 shares
in long and short positions, respectively.

On May 17, 2017, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered into a
second letter agreement in relation to the put and call option agreement. For
further details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated May 17,
2017.

On November 30, 2017, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered into
the supplement agreement to the second letter agreement in relation to the
put and call option agreement. For further details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated November 30, 2017.

FEEL * 3R 55 4 R 5 £ R AR 8]1,577,095,234 ik
B A NFA () FEELRE S BENB AR
782 R]1,469,600,000 8 DA M E s (&
WmkREERBRE - A ARSEBRE QAT FEEL
WREmMESNEEE D)  ()REEERN
7,887,000 17 il B - (jii) it 45 A2 152 49 7,887,000 19
MEARHE - (v) FEEL » SREEAE R EEURFRRAR
BRERAREDRBEARLYAERELESEB
Celestial #5242 788,521,234 A% A% 1 HY 725H HA#EE -
HE—HHARTXMER) - VREERFFAERN
100,000% A% 1 RWVIB L £ X G BB
3,100,000 A& 15 °

ARRRZZT—NMF+—A/\NBEE ' TPG Star
Energy Ltd. £ Celestial 5] 3 B & # #% © ¥ Ut -
Celestial A1 E Y28 &% TPG Star[E & H% 211,855,234
RN B L BAL o

W-ZT—mFE+—HF/\B - FEEL R&E4E - #BE
4~ Rk A K Celestial 5t & T IR0 5] 3 R 00 KR8
R B ZRBEZATOARELEZER
HEERG S TERLERZHRBEERE
317(1)(@) 1&#R 7 © {71 & 5K % 4 /% Celestial 89 M — A%
o

REER/ RO - MK L& 8B E T Celestial
KA - AR E 211,855,234 IRE R o BIE Lt
Rom KRR B - IR ST £ M Celestial i 8
RoLHANE - BMFEEL  SREEMBEEEE EH
211,855,234 %1 ©

RZZT—+tF—HA/NH ' FEEL * 3R 4 ~ #HEAE -
SRR A (FE78 [H2ARARER ]) & Celestial # 2] — 7 B232
hRRERERZEEN RS EEFSEE - Great
Harmony International Ltd ([ Great Harmonyl) £2
Celestial 23] T B 85157 - Bk » Great Harmony &
ERE (SERENBRRISRIEENEMARARE
F) - H Celestial fl & i & 22 211,855,234 i% &
AR -

Celestidl D BIR =T —+tF—A+N\H =ZFT—+t
FZAZT=RAR=Z—+tF=R+tRH BEHEHR
53,334,000 /% * 40,000,000 f% X 30,000,000 f% &9 &F
BRHKR °

RZT—tFRA+TEA  ERRE K Celestial &
ARERRBHERENE DR - G
EFELBARRNR_E—tERA+LARKZA

==

RZZE—tF+—A=+H ' FKREKE K Celestial
B RERRABHEREE —HERRENE R
HoHMEEELRBARTN-_E—+tE+—A
= = 3 /N -
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On April 14, 2018, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered into the
second supplement agreement to the second letter agreement in relation to
the put and call option agreement. For further details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated April 15, 2018.

On November 26, 2018, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered into
the third supplement agreement to the second letter agreement in relation to
the put and call option agreement. For further details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated November 26, 2018.

On May 30, 2019, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered into the
fourth supplement agreement to the second letter agreement in relation to the
put and call option agreement. For further details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated May 30, 2019.

On January 15, 2020, the Controlling Shareholders and Celestial entered into
the fifth supplement agreement to the second letter agreement in relation to
the put and call option agreement. For further details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated January 15, 2020.

Billion Capital Shine Inc. has a security interest in the 1,472,300,000 shares of
the Company in which China Orient Asset Management (International) Holding
Limited, Wise Leader Assets Ltd., Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Limited
and China Orient Asset Management Co., Ltd., were deemed to be interested
in by virtue of SFO because:

— Billion Capital Shine Inc. is 100% owned by China Orient Asset
Management (International) Holding Limited;

— China Orient Asset Management (International) Holding Limited is 50%
owned by Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Limited and 50% owned
by Wise Leader Assets Ltd.;

— Wise Leader Assets Ltd. is 100% owned by Dong Yin Development
(Holdings) Limited; and

— Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Limited is 100% owned by China
Orient Asset Management Co., Ltd.

The interest is held directly by Flying Investments Limited, which is 100%
controlled by Fung Wing Nam Florence.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2020, no person
(other than the Directors or the chief executive of our Company,
whose interests have been disclosed in the above section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and/or Short Positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company
or Any Associated Corporation”) had an interest or a short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by our Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

RZZ—N\FEA+MWA - Z&RAE K Celestial
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During the year, the Group purchased around 68.3% of its goods
and services from its five largest suppliers as well as 20.2% of its
goods and services from the largest supplier; and 99.6% and 100%
respectively of the Group’s revenue are from PetroChina, its largest
customer, and its five largest customers combined.

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report (if any), none of the
Directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of Directors owns more than 5% of the Company's
issued share capital) has any interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers and customers.

The employees, suppliers and customers of the Company play an
important role in the Company’s development and on which the
Company’s success depends. The Company provides competitive
remuneration packages to attract and motivate the employees. The
Company maintains good relationship with customers, suppliers
and other business partners to achieve its long-term goals. In 2020,
there was no material and significant dispute between our Group
and its customers, suppliers and other business partners.

During the process of hydrocarbon production, the Company highly
values the protection of natural and ecological environment and its
comprehensive environmental protection measures to ensure that
the Company complies with the applicable laws and regulations in
relation to environmental protection. During the process of
construction and production of oilfields, we place environment
impact assessment, compliance with set standards or targets on
pollutant emissions, control on total discharge amount and
reduction on emissions as our priorities.

The Company views energy saving and reduction in emission as an
important aspect of our cost reduction and maintaining high
management standards. We also continue to strengthen efforts on
technical reformation during daily management, which is the key to
improve energy efficiency and reduce carbon emissions.
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For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company has
constructed oilfields of green environmental protection in
accordance with regulatory requirements and there were no
matters arising from environmental-related regulatory non-
compliances.

As far as the Board and senior management are aware, the Group
has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group. During the year ended December 31,
2020, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that
there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules during the period
from January 1, 2020 to April 16, 2021 (being the latest practicable
date for ascertaining information prior to the issue of this annual
report).

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that every Director,
auditor or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director, auditor or other
officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, in which
judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors and officers

liabilities insurance coverage for Directors and officers of the
Company.
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A non-competition deed in favor of the Company was entered into
by FEEL, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao on November 23, 2010. Our
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
compliance and enforcement of the non-competition deed and
were of the view that FEEL, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhao were in
compliance with the non-Competition deed during the reporting
period.

None of the Directors of the Company had an interest in a business
which competes with the Company or is likely to compete with the
business of the Group.

Proposed Dividend

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended December 31, 2020 (2019: Nil).

The emoluments policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

FEEL - REARBEAER =T —ZF+—A
T =HAARRRBE N AEFRY - KAAFE
N FEHITERDRFT BRI RZLNET RAT

RAFEEL « SR A& R LA ERIRE B
NE BT B FRL o

AT BN RA AT BRI R
%Eﬁ@ﬂigggiﬁéﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁk R A (R
2ERE

EERUBRERAE_T_TF+_-A

=t BEERNREBRE(ZZT—NF:

&)

AEBREZHFHBRAFHEEERERE
HEH - EENENME °

ARBEEZHFHAEFTHREGREARF Z
REXE  AARBRABELRTISBEE

=

TE °

2020 &3k



Report of the Directors (Continued)

—_+

SE (F)

The annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be
held on Friday, June 25, 2021 (“AGM"). For determining the
entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, June 22,
2021 to Friday, June 25, 2021, both days inclusive, during which no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all completed transfers of shares,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, tricor
Investor Services Limited, at level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Monday, June 21, 2021 (Hong Kong time), being the last
registration date.

The financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire and, being eligible,
offered themselves for re-appointment as the Company'’s auditor.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Zhang Ruilin
Chairman

Hong Kong, March 31, 2021
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Employment

The Group implements and/or complies with the
following employment policies and regulations for
recruitment and dismissal, remuneration and promotion,
working hours, holidays, diversification and other bonus
and benefits:

1. The remuneration of employees is in accordance
with the relevant provisions of the Group's internal
policy titled “MIE Holdings Corporation’s
Remuneration Management System"”. The
Company provides employees with
comprehensive and competitive packages taking
into account market competition and equality
within the Group. An employee’s remuneration
package is based on an overall evaluation of work
performance, the employee’s relevant rank and
position and capability.

2. The recruitment, promotion and dismissal of
employees of the Group in China are governed by
the “Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China", the "labor Contract law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Policies Governing
Employee Relations of MIE Holdings
Corporation”, other national and regional laws and
regulations, and the Company's administrative
policies. Recruitment, promotion and dismissal of
employees in Hong Kong are conducted in
accordance with the “"Employment Ordinance"
and other relevant Hong Kong laws and
regulations.

3.  The working hours for employees in China are
strictly in accordance with the “Labor Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, namely
eight hours per day, 40 hours per week and rest
days include statutory holidays, Saturdays and
Sundays.
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4.  The Group provides its employees in China with
paid holidays in strict accordance with the " Order
of the State Council of the People’s Republic of
China (No.514) in relation to the Regulation on
Paid Annual Leave for Employees”. For Hong
Kong employees, paid holidays are provided in
strict accordance with the provisions of the
“General Holidays Ordinance” and the
" Employment Ordinance”.

5. Based on the principle of equality and anti-
discrimination, the Group complies with the
“"Administrative Policies for Employee
Recruitment of MIE Holdings Corporation” for
recruitment matters.

6. The Group has established a scientific and
reasonable performance appraisal system and an
effective incentive and restraint mechanism to
ensure the joint development of the Company and
its employees. During the year ended December
31, 2020 the Group continued to optimize its KPI
assessment system, improved the quantification
of its evaluation standards and enhanced the
feasibility of its evaluation mechanism.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group
was not involved in any arbitration and did not have any
judgment against it on labor disputes.

The Group had 1,007 employees, comprising 847 males
(84.11%) and 160 females (15.89%) as of December
31, 2020. Due to the nature of the Group’s business,
there are more male employees than female
employees.
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Table 1:
December 31, 2020

Work Function

LR

Total o5

Table 2: Staff Numbers by Education Background as of

December 31, 2020

Education Category
HERE

Total R

p=I1]

Table 3: Staff Numbers by Age Group as of December

31, 2020

Age Group
Fie

Total e

Table 4: Staff Numbers by Geographical Region as of

December 31, 2020

Geographical Region
i35

Total

R (88)

Technical

B

58

Masters and
above
Bt E

35

20-24yrs
202245

15

Production

1ER

Staff Numbers by Work Function as of

Support Management
KR

122

Bachelor
REERR

129

25-34yrs
25345

243

R EBE-_ZEZ ¢+:
E+—Eﬁﬁ%1nJ HHWET
BE5
Total
Total Core Support  Operation
production services services Total
ERGH IREEE  GRBE  BRA At
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Secondary Junior
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Development and Training

Throughout the year ended December 31, 2020, the
Group organized tailored training programs based on the
Group’'s development strategy, employee job
requirements and employees’ personal development
needs to accelerate the growth of employees’ working
ability and professional quality. Through the various
tailored training programs, the Group comprehensively
developed the management ability and skill levels of all
employees across various positions.

Aimed at improving the business standards, and
management ability and also overall ability among
management staff, the Group also offered targeted
professional knowledge training to strengthen their
common general skills. With the purpose of improving
the professional and technical ability of technical
personnel, the Group also placed emphasis on the
cultivation of their business knowledge and ability,
including the learning of basic knowledge, application
software tools, and new technology and cutting-edge
knowledge. As regards operational staff, the Group
aimed to strengthen their operating skills, standardize
the operation process and improve operation ability by
providing various trainings.

Table 5: Staff training Statistics by Employees Category
as of December 31, 2020

Employees Category

ETHEH

Percentage Bkt

Table 6: Staff training Statistics by Gender as of
December 31, 2020

Gender

14 5

Percentage Bkt
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Table 7: Staff training Statistics by Gender and Hours as
of December 31, 2020

Gender

)

Average Training Hours FHER

As there are more male than female employees in the
Group, the number of male employees who have
received training is also higher as compared to the
female employees. Also, due to the business scope and
working environment of the Group, project staff who
work outdoors receive more training opportunities than
the staff based in the office. Given that there are more
male employees working on projects outdoors, the

difference between the number of average training
hours for male and female appear marked.

Labor Standards

The Group primarily implements and complies with the
relevant laws and regulations including the “Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China" and the “Labor
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China" for the
prevention of child labor and forced labor.

The Group strictly abides by relevant laws and
regulations and conducts a rigorous inspection of the
identity of employees during recruitment and
employment to ensure that they are above 18 years old,
in an effort to eliminate the employment of child labor
or forced labor with in the Group. During recruitment,
we enter into employment contracts with employees
on the principle of equality and voluntarism and keep
track of work performance to avoid any forced labor
situations.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group
did not have any material violations of the relevant
standards or rules.

Male Female
£ z
39 18
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Occupational Health and Safety

Since its establishment, the Group has placed great
emphasis on health, safety and environmental
protection management. It has adhered to the following
core management principles: scientific management,
health upmost, safety first, environmental protection
prioritization and sustainable development. The Group is
dedicated to the creation of a culture rigorous corporate
safety culture and the establishment of a sound
management system. Concurrently, the Group focuses
on increasing employees’ and contractors’ attention
towards safety and environmental protection during the
production process, raising awareness and skills of
employees and contractors on safety risks identification
and awareness, accelerating clean production
management and reducing the business’'s
environmental impact.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group’s
Daan oilfield's health, safety and environmental
management system was endorsed by the auditors of
the Beijing CNPC Certification Center, and has also
passed its renewal audit.

The Group has consistently implemented and complied
with the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Work Safety”, " Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases”,
“Provisions on the Supervision and Administration of
Occupational Health at Work Sites”, “Regulations
Governing the Declaration of Projects with Occupational
Hazards"," Regulations Governing the Supervision and
Administration of Occupational Health Surveillance of
Employers”, "Interim Regulations Governing the
Supervision and Administration of “Three
Simultaneities” for Construction Projects”, and national
standards including “Technical Specifications for
Occupational Health Surveillance”,” Regulations on
Labor Protection in Workplaces Where Toxic
Substances Are Used"”, "Regulations on the Control
over Safety of Dangerous Chemicals” and other
relevant laws, regulations, rules, normative documents,
national standards, industry standards and technical
specifications in its provision of a safe working
environment.
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The Group strictly enforces the above laws, regulations,
rules, regulatory documents, standards and technical
specifications, strives to provide a safe work
environment for all employees and also protects
employees against occupational hazards. During the
year ended December 31, 2020, the Group did not
violate any relevant laws, regulations, rules, normative
documents, standards and technical specifications.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group
did not have any fatalities from work-related matters.

Table 8: Safety Statistics of the Group

Projects in China:

Total Recordable

Scope work hours incidents

GRS

& BT EL03
Company staff NEET 2,354,628
External contractors HNEREBE 224,964

The occupational health and safety measures, related
implementation and monitoring methods adopted by
the Group mainly include:

1. Establish an occupational health and safety
management administration team which is staffed
with full-time employees. The Group currently has
10 registered national safety engineers. Improve
the safety production responsibility system,
improve the occupational health management
archive and management system, strengthen the
basic management of occupational health and
safety measures, strictly implement management
policies, refine the management scope, and
effectively avoid health and safety risks. During
the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group
organized multiple special inspections to
continuously track and rectify any discovered
problems.

Recordable
incident
rate

GRS
EHE
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2 Establish occupational health monitoring archives
for employees of the Group, implement the
occupational health notification system, regularly
arrange occupational health examinations for staff
and make corresponding work adjustments for
employees that do not suit their particular
position.

38 Provide employees with requisite occupational
hazards precaution facilities and labor protection
supplies based on the findings of occupational
health assessment reports. Authorize a third party
occupational disease prevention and control
institution to regularly monitor and assess
potential occupational health hazards of the Group,
and evaluate the Group’s occupational hazards
protection measures and the efficacy of protection
provided.

4. Provide work injury insurance, basic medical
insurance, serious illness insurance for employees
of the Group to fully protect their interests.

5. Since the Group is engaged in oil exploration and
oil has certain dangerous and hazardous
characteristics, such as combustion, explosion
and secondary environmental pollution, the Group
has paid special attention to emergency
management and engaged experts to assess the
sources of hazards and pollution of the Company;
it has also developed contingency plans for major
sources of hazards and key sources of pollution,
and also regularly conducts emergency drills.

During the year ended December 31, 2020 the Group
organized a number of practice emergency drills, to
practice the implementation of plans such as
“Emergency Plan for Fire and Explosion Accidents”,
“Emergency Plan for Sudden Environmental Incidents”,
“Comprehensive Plan for Flood and Drought
Prevention”. Results of the practice emergency drills
were evaluated for feasibility and any plans that were
not applicable to the actual scenarios were revised.
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Emissions

The emissions discharged during the development and
production process of the Group’s projects mainly
include: furnace heating exhaust gas and hazardous
wastes (such as oil sludge, oil residuals and drilling
muds generated during oil exploration). Such hazardous
wastes are disposed of by service providers certified by
environmental protection authorities.

Table 9: Waste Emission Data of Each Project of the
Group

Projects in China

(Z) B

Natural  Hazardous

Gas Waste

Consumption Transferred

(WIVE) (tonnes)

REBTT

EBRARAR REZE

(BIFK) (1)

Daan K& 1,464.13 766.03
Total Bt 1,464.13 766.03

Environmental protection measures and related
implementation and monitoring methods adopted by
the Group at present mainly include:

Underground environmental protection measures, cyclic
utilization of drilling muds and other measures can
reduce the amount of hazardous waste produced. Any
hazardous waste generated will be disposed of and
recycled by qualified units under the supervision of the
local government environmental protection department.

Production wastewater passes through the sewage
treatment plant for filtering and purification. Part of the
purified water will be heated and enters into the
pipeline for production while the rest will be injected
underground to supplement the formation pressure, so
as to achieve zero emission targets for waste water.
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=9 NEEBIR B BV REIE

HEEE
Water Power
Consumption Drilling Mud Consumption
(W) (V) (WKW.h)
AkE TeRE HEE
(BIAK) (¥BFK) (BTRB®)
53.21 11,467.92 9,653.29
53.21 11,467.92 9,653.29
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The Company chooses energy efficient furnaces that
can use clean energy as the combustion material and
the fuel used is natural gas, which mainly releases
carbon dioxide and water vapor after combustion.

The Group entrusts third party organizations to regularly
monitor the surface water, ground water, sewage,
noise, soil within the operation boundary and monitor
the environmental changes brought about by the
production and development processes to the
surrounding area.

The total amount of hazardous wastes of our projects in
China generated during the year ended December 31,
2020 was 766.03 tons, approximately 439.03 tons less
than that of 2019. The drilling mud wastes of projects in
China produced in 2020 were 11,467.92M?3; in 2020
about 14.6413 million M?® of natural gas was used by
Chinese projects of MIE group; and greenhouse gas
emissions were about 3,335.29 tons.

In terms of emissions, projects in China mainly
implemented and complied with the “Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China", the
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Waste", the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric
Pollution”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Promotion of Cleaner Production”, the "Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Environmental Impact
Assessment”, the “Catalog of State Hazardous
Wastes", the " People’s Republic of China’s Emergency
Response Law", the "Interim Regulations Governing
the Sudden Environmental Emergency Contingencies”,
“China’s Oil and Gas Production Enterprises
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Accounting Methods and
Reporting Guidelines (Trial)".
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Use of resources

The Group has strictly adhered to the “Energy Law of
the People’s Republic of China", the " Water Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the " Electricity Law of the
People’s Republic of China", the "“Law on Energy
Conservation of People’s Republic of China".

Resource conservation is a fundamental requirement
for the Group to implement scientific management,
improve the economic efficiency of the Group and
enhance the Group's core competitiveness. to this end,
the Group has done a lot of work in 2020 surrounding
business management, technological innovations and
energy saving goals and has achieved satisfying results.
Details are as follows:

During the year ended December 31, 2020, annual
water consumption by our projects in the PRC was
approximately 0.5 million tons; electricity consumption
was approximately 96.5329 million kWh, whereas our
projects in the PRC consumed 3.3761 million kWh
increase as compared to the year ended December 31,
2019.

The consumption of gasoline by our projects in the PRC
was 142.83 tons in 2020; the consumption of diesel
was 146.88 tons, 40.59 tons decrease that of 2019.

Major measures and relevant implementation methods
adopted by the Group in the use and conservation of
resources include:

1. Establish a three-tier energy management
network comprising a supervising manager,
relevant department heads and entry-level
personnel, formulate scientific and strict
management of quantitative energy consumption,
and have a good grasp on the basic assessment
work.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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2.  Achieve high efficiency using technology and
reduce energy consumption through technological
advances.

(1)

usage of automatic control frequency
systems, automatically analyze motor
operation parameters, real-time adjustment
of operation parameters, and achieve the
aim of energy saving.

Strengthen equipment management, e.g.
adoption of high-performance motors;
elimination of high-energy transformers;
timely adjustment of balance rates and other
measures to reduce power consumption.

As for production wells with poor liquid
supply capacity, optimize the production
parameters, carry out intermittent
production, suspend wells, shut down wells
and implement other measures to reduce
inefficient production rate.

Table 10: Energy Saving Statistics of Each Project
of the Group

Statistics on Energy Conserving Compared to the
Year Ended December 31, 2020

Daan

The Group strictly observes relevant laws,
regulations, rules and regulatory documents of the
above mentioned countries and it did not and
violate any above mentioned laws, regulations,
rules regulatory documents in 2020.
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Environment and natural resources

The Group is an enterprise engaged in the oil
exploration business which consumes mineral
resources, land and other natural resources during the
process of oil production. The Group abides strictly by
the “Mineral Resources Law of the People’s Republic
of China"”, the “Land Administration Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China" and
other related laws, regulations and requirements. The
Group aims to reduce its impact on the environment
and natural resources via the following: make good use
of natural resources, improve comprehensive recycling
ability of natural resources, reduce the consumption of
natural resources and all kinds of waste emissions.

The Group aims to establish the concepts of conserving
resources, reducing waste emissions, protecting the
ecological environment, increasing investment in new
technology, formulating policies on improving the level
of enterprise technology for comprehensive utilization
of resources, technology innovation, energy
conservation and emissions reduction, constantly
promoting enterprise to improve resource utilization
efficiency, environmental protection compliance in
accordance with the laws and regulations, continual
improving of the regional environment as well as
improving sustainable health development.
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Supply chain management

The Group continuously optimized its supply chain
management and established a comprehensive
management mechanism for supplier access, selection,
review and withdrawal. As of December 31, 2020, the
Group has established relationships with 132 suppliers,
including 118 Chinese suppliers and 14 foreign
suppliers. The Group adopts a prudent attitude and
strict standards on supplier selection. Not only do we
value product quality, service level, business ethics,
corporate reputation, but we also place importance on
their social responsibility performance. At present, the
Group’s supply chain management is carried out in
accordance with the “Civil Code of the People's
Republic of China” and other laws of the countries
where resources are located. The Group has updated
and improved its “Policies Purchase of MIE Holdings
Corporation” and Business management system of
controlled corporation which provides a unified basis
and procedures for the selection and management of
suppliers and contractors. The Group has developed
four supply chain management modules centered on
tender management, contract management, material
management and supplier management. During the
process, suppliers and contractors are provided with an
opportunity for participation based on openness,
fairness and transparency. The Group puts forward the
requirements of honesty, trustworthiness, legal
operation, due attention to health, safety and
environmental protection for our suppliers and
contractors during pre qualification, bidding, provision of
products and services, and performance evaluation. At
the same time, the Group also includes anti-bribery and
anti corruption clauses into contract terms, creating a
clean environment for supply chain management.

The Group implements a unified order system and
makes purchases in accordance with the “Purchase
Plan Order” issued by the material services department.
The relevant order would cover the budget amount,
material model, service contents and specific time
requirements, which subsequently makes the
completion of remaining steps in the supply chain more
smooth and efficient.
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The Group selects vendors through tendering or price
negotiations. During the procurement process, priority
will be given to those suppliers that offer a more
favorable price for a product of the same quality and
also regular suppliers that have passed the Group's
yearly examination.

Input from multiple departments is tapped during the
acceptance inspection and quality control process to
more effectively control the quality of goods and
services. To confirm the quality of purchased goods,
joint acceptance inspection is conducted by the
procurement department and also the relevant
department that will use the goods. This is
supplemented by quality feedbacks during use. For
service projects, the safety, environmental protection,
production, supervision and other relevant departments
will submit their feedback on site. A timely feedback
system is implemented to receive information feedback
during the process. Feedback and processing results
are filed for review and integrated into yearly business
evaluations.

To guarantee the overall quality of its suppliers, the
Group organizes an annual assessment of suppliers,
based on their performance of contracts, standards and
quality system certification, health, safety,
environmental protection and other qualifications. The
Group will issue warnings to or remove suppliers who
have failed the assessment from its internal list. The
Group implements a dynamic management system of
registered suppliers and any supplier who demonstrates
serious non-compliance during the business
collaboration or fails the assessment will be dismissed.

Product responsibility
No information is disclosed in this report as the

indicators are not applicable to the industry to which the
Group belongs.
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Anti-corruption

In accordance with the “Law of the PRC against Unfair
Competition” and “The Basic Norms of Internal
Control”, the Group has formulated and implemented
policies such as the “Internal Audit System of MIE
Holdings Corporation”, the "Audit System for
Management Departures of MIE Holdings Corporation”,
and “Special Audit (Interim) Policies of MIE Holdings
Corporation” and such policies have been in place since
2015 and reviewed in 2019 in order to standardize the
operation and management of the Group, strengthen
internal control and audit supervision, ensure the safety
and integrity of the Group’s property and materials, and
ensure the smooth achievement of the Group's
objectives, provide reasonable guarantees for use of
objective, truthful and effective management
information by all levels of management, ensure that
the business activities of various departments and units
are carried out in accordance with the operating
principles and policies of the Group and reduce
operational risks and improve performance.

Whistle blowing, as one of the sources of information in
the audit plan, is set out as part of the “Internal Audit
System of MIE Holdings Corporation”. Whistle blowing
methods includes correspondences, visits, telephone
calls and internet submissions and the above mentioned
policy specifies the reporting hotline and email, and is
distributed as a management policy among all
employees for study and comprehension. During the
year ended December 31, 2020, the Group did not
receive any reports of crimes such as duty-related
crimes, bribery, extortion, blackmail, fraud and money
laundering.

The Group takes an interest in the spiritual and cultural life of
its employees and has organized a series of cultural and
recreational activities from time to time including hiking,
badminton, autumn outings and sports games which have
been well received by employees. The five-day Chinese New
Year condolence activities were carried out. In order to
improve the working environment for staff, the Group spends
around RMB2million every year on the provision of staff
dormitories, canteens and activity rooms, tea parties also
were held together with local villagers in villages where the
Group have operations.

The Group has created the employment for 398 local villagers
in villages where the Group has operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Overview

In 2020, the COVID-19 had a huge adverse impact on the oil
market, and the world’s oil demand and supply both declined
significantly and even the negative oil price of crude oil futures
appeared for the first time in history. After the major economies in
the world taking measures to boost the economy and many
countries starting to vaccinate against the COVID-19, the
international oil prices rebound in volatility, which brings a new
round of major opportunities for the energy industry. In the face of
complex external environment, the Group strictly implemented
pandemic prevention and control measures and steadily push
forward to recover work and production. On June 4, 2020, the
Group successfully executed the Supplemental Agreement,
extending the production period from December 31, 2024 to
February 29, 2028, which lays a solid foundation for the sustained
high-level development of Daan Oilfield. At the same time,
pursuant to the requirements of drilling new wells in the next three
years in the Supplemental Agreement, the Group will increase
capital expenditure and drill new wells in a timely manner , to
improve the oil production capacity of Daan Qilfield.

The oil and gas operated production and net production of the
Group from the PRC segment in 2020 remained consistent with
2019. The Group's oil and gas production decreased by 0.2% to
about 4.63 MMBOE compared with 2019. Net oil and gas
production increased by 12.4% to about 2.18 MMBOE compared
with 2019. During 2020, net oil sales volume increased by 10.7%
compared to 2019 to approximately 2.13 million barrels, while net
natural gas sales volume decreased to 1.88 MMscf.

In 2020, the average realized crude oil price of the Group from the
PRC segment decreased by 31.0% to US$38.60 per barrel as
compared with that of 2019, and the average realized natural gas
price increased to US$6.2 per Mscf. In 2020, the revenue from the
PRC segment decreased by 24.3% to RMB572.5 million as
compared with 2019. In 2020, loss for the year of the Group is
RMB1,351.3 million and the respective loss per share is RMB0.41.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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In 2020, EBITDA from the PRC segment decreased by RMB638.4
million to negative RMB142.1 million from RMB496.3 million in
2019 and the respective adjusted EBITDA decreased by RMB137.6
million to RMB362.5 million.

As at December 31, 2020, the Group operated a total of 2,435
wells, all located in China. The total headcount of the Group
reduced from 1,058 as of December 31, 2019 to 1,007 as of
December 31, 2020 under combined effect of asset disposal and
staff adjustment.

The following table provides a recap of the Group's key operational
metrics for 2020:

Average Daily Gross Production (BOE/day) BOhREES (REs /%)

Average Daily Net Production (BOE/day) BYRRFES (BEE/X)

Average Daily Net Oil Production (barrels/day) ~ B¥EMFES (B/%)

Average Daily Net Gas Production (Mscf/day) ~ B XARFEE (TUHER/X)

Notes:

(1) For reference purpose only, barrels of oil equivalent (“BOE") is calculated using

ZEZTF  AEERERFREK DI
EBITDAER ZZE — NF M AR 4963 B TR
DARKEGIMEILEARKE1421EBT
KAERNEBITDAR L AR 1376 B ILE A
R#3.6251ET °

HE-_ZT-_ZTF+-A=+—8 A&£EME
%#%u%z,ztsw BN BIER o AR
REEMHEARABELAR  SEBAH
M_E—NFEN1,08ATRERE_ZT-F
JXHY 1,007 A ©

NTRAEE S _TF2FHNHEREEZH
e
2020 2019 % Change 2020 Guidance
2
bt 22 “F-NF il #&al
12,662 12,720 -0.5%
5944 5,320 11.7% 5,330-6,050
5,944 5,319 11.8%
5.14 488 5.3%
# :
(1 EREESER6TIEEL FRRRAR=1RERHA
RRELL T E - BH2EREH

a conversion factor of six Mscf of natural gas being equivalent to one barrel of
oil

(2) Gross Production means total production from all assets of the Group
(3) Net Production means entitled production from all assets of the Group
(4) Canlin production is excluded from the 2019 operational metrics due to asset

disposal in September, 2019
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The following table sets out the summary of the expenditures
incurred in our exploration, development and production activities
for 2020:

(millions of RMB)
ARBBET

China Onshore Projects (Daan, Moliging) HEIfEMIER (KL - EEF)

Total

China Operations (Daan, Moliqing)

Through the new well drillings, optimization of water
injection, well stimulation and production optimization as well
as the implementation of advanced technologies such as
network fracturing, Daan continue to maintain a sustained
and stable crude oil production. On June 4, 2020, the Group
successfully extended the term of the Daan PSC from
December 31, 2024 to February 29, 2028 by extending the
production period under the PSC. On June 4, 2020, the
amendment and supplementary agreement of the
“Petroleum Development and Production Contract for Daan
Qilfield in Jilin Province of the People’s Republic of China”
was executed in Beijing, marking the successful extension of
the Daan PSC term from December 31, 2024 to February 29,
2028.

&EESE Hj E’U E%@%@E? :
Production/
Exploration Development operating
expenditures expenditures expenditures
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- 115 164
- 115 164
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During 2020, the total gross operated production for Daan
and Moliging decreased by 0.2% from 4.64 million barrels in
2019 to 4.63 million barrels in 2020. Total net production
attributable to the Group increased by 12.4% from 1.94
million barrels in 2019 to 2.18 million barrels in 2020. During
2020, the gross operated production per day decreased by
0.5% to 12,662 barrels/day (“BOPD") as compared to 2019,
and net production per day attributable to the Group
increased by 11.8% to 5,944 BOPD. In 2020, a drilling
program of 29 directional wells was carried out in Daan. The
total drilling footage was 58,747 meters and the average
drilling footage for a single well was about 2,026 meters.
With the outbreak of COVID-19, the international crude oil
price has fallen sharply, the average realized oil price of Daan
and Moliging decreased by 31.0% from US$55.92/barrel in
2019 to US$38.60/barrel in 2020. With our leading operations
and management capabilities in China’s oilfield projects, the
Group decreased lifting cost by US$0.84/barrel, or 7.8%, from
US$10.72/barrel for 2019 to US$9.88/barrel for 2020.
Adjusted EBITDA per barrel for Daan and Moliging decreased
by US$12.96, or 34.4%, from US$37.65/barrel for 2019 to
US$24.69/barrel for 2020. The decrease in adjusted EBITDA
per barrel was primarily due to the decrease in average
realized oil price.

Kazakhstan Operations (Emir-Oil)

We hold an indirect 40% interest in Emir-Oil in Kazakhstan.
Emir-Oil obtained production contracts for the North Kariman
and Yessen fields, for respective periods of 16 and 25 years
starting from January 1, 2020. Currently, Emir-Oil holds one
exploration contract and six production contracts covering
Aksaz, Dolinnoe, Emir, Kariman, North Kariman and Yessen
oilfields. As at the end of 2020, Emir-Qil had a total of 21
producing wells. The daily production of crude oil in 2020
decreased by 25.3% from 2,332 BOPD in 2019 to 1,743
BOPD.
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Reserves
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Summaries of the Group’s 2020 year-end reserves are as follows:

Overall, the Group's total net Proved (“1P") oil, gas and
natural gas liquid ("NIGL") reserves decreased by 10% to
16.26 MMBOE, total net Proved + Probable (“2P") oil, gas
and NGL reserves decreased by 6% to 42.45 MMBOE, and
total net Proved + Probable + Possible (“3P") oil, gas and
NGL reserves decreased by 8% to 63.74 MMBOE.

The Group's net 1P oil reserves for 2020 decreased by 9% to
14.61 million barrels, while 2P net oil reserves decreased by
5% to 35.91 million barrels and 3P net oil reserves decreased
by 6% to 53.22 million barrels respectively, as a result of the
production of Daan and Emir-Qil.

Based on 2020 year-end reserves estimates reviewed by
independent consultants, the Group’s 2P net present value,
before tax and discounted at 10% (“"NPV10") is
approximately US$584 million, which represents a 13%
decrease from the reported 2019 year-end 2P NPV10 value of
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US$669 million.

Segment Basin 2019
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China — Songliao Escalated price profile based on

Gobi Energy price projections published by

Sproule for WTI Crude. An average
differential for January to
December of 2019 between WTI
Cushing Spot and Daging of
US$0.40 per barrel was used. The
differential is assumed to remain
constant in the future.
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Escalated price profile based on
price projections published by
Moody’s Analytics for WTI Crude.
An average differential for January
to December of 2020 between WTI
Cushing Spot and Daging of
negative US$1.33 was used. The
differential is assumed to remain
constant in the future.
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Segment

B

Kazakhstan —
Emir-Oil

FAiER ATE — Emir-Oil

2019
—E-AFR

Basin
it
Mangistau Export oil at escalated price profile
based on price projections
published by GCA for Brent Crude
which has been estimated to be
US$54.13/Stock tank Barrel in
2020. Domestic oil price is
estimated to be US$20.18/Stock
tank Barrel in 2020. Domestic gas
price US$0.54/Mscf has been
utilized for solution gas sales and
assumed to be constant
throughout the report.
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Mangistau

2020
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Export oil at escalated price profile
based on price projections published
by GCA for Brent Crude which has
been estimated to be US$41.48/
Stock Tank Barrel in 2021. Domestic
oil price is estimated to be
US$19.30/Stock Tank Barrel in
2021. Domestic gas price US$0.47/
MSCF has been utilized for solution
gas sales and assumed to be
constant throughout the report.
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Note: (i) WTI — West Texas Intermediate
(i) GCA — Gaffney, Cline & Associates

2021 Guidance

On June 4, 2020, the Group and CNPC signed a Supplemental
Agreement, conditionally extending the commercial production
period of Daan from December 31, 2024 to February 29, 2028
(being the PSC expiration date). Pursuant to the Supplemental
Agreement, the Group will continue to operate the Daan QOilfield
and shall invest in and drill @ minimum of 268 wells within three
years after the effective date of the Supplemental Agreement. If
the drilling program of 268 wells cannot be completed within three
years due to weak oil prices, such three years may be extended by
another year. Considering the extension of the Daan PSC is vital to
the Group and the limited PSC term, it is beneficial for the Group to
complete the drilling program earlier rather than later to increase
production, recover cost and capex and generate cash flow. Thus,
the Group aims to complete the drilling program in a minimum time
period. Starting from July 2020, the Group resumed drilling activity
despite that the oil price remained low at US$35/barrel. By the end
of 2020, we drilled 29 wells.
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Our 2021 capex and production guidance is set out in the table
below. While the Group will closely monitor oil prices and other
factors and may adjust our capital program accordingly, our goal of
completing the drilling program of 268 wells within a minimum
time period remains unchanged.

Numbers of
Interest (%) Wells (net)
= BHHYE
(%) (m)
China Onshore Projects Daan foreign 166
(Daan, Moliging) contractor
— Crude oll 100%
HEIE FIE R REHNEA
(K& - EBF) aRE
— R 100%
Moliging foreign 2
contractor
10%
EBEHIEH
aRE
10%
Group Total 168
EEEE
Notes: The capital expenditures of China Onshore Projects contemplate drilling

(mainly conventional wells), transforming oil wells to water injection wells,
hole filling fracturing, ground engineering and equipment procurement.

Debt restructuring of the Group

In face of the double blow of a collapse in global oil prices and the
COVID-19 induced weak economy, the oil price for the Group's
Daan project in China also fell sharply. In April 2020, it dipped to
US$12.33 per barrel, a historical low in a decade and remained
significantly lower than international oil prices throughout 2020.
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Group Net
Capex
Investment
(millions of US$)
£H

BEXRREX
REFHE
(BB%mn)

Net production

REE

82
(Note)
(HaE)

7,000-9,000 barrels/day
7,000-9,0004%,/ %

3 120-200 barrels/day
120-200%8,/%

85 7,120-9,200 barrels/day

7,120-9,200 8,/ X
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The liquidity issue faced by the Company aggravated with the
decreased revenue and increased finance cost, making the Group
unable to make the scheduled interest payment in relation to the
Senior Notes when the related interest grace period expired on
May 11, 2020. The non-payment resulted in an event of default
under the Senior Notes (“Default”), which also triggered cross-
defaults under other bilateral loans entered into between the
Group’s member companies and other lenders. The Company has
assessed that the potential demands for repayment of loans by the
relevant lenders, and the aggregate unfulfilled repayment
obligations and possible breaches of the other loan facilities and
notes, amount to approximately over US$316.5 million in principal
plus accrued interest on such principal amount.

After the Default, the Company continued to focus on operating
the business in a safe and efficient manner under extremely low oil
prices. In spite of all difficulties and after lengthy negotiation, the
company successfully extended the commercial production period
of the Daan PSC with CNPC on June 4, 2020, which provided a
solid basis and rational for debt restructuring. On the other hand,
the Company has been proactively discussing with various
creditors in relation to the debt restructuring, including but not
limited to extension of maturity, deferral of interest payment and
reduction of interest rate, which are expected to conducive to
improve the Group’s financial position and address the Company's
liquidity concerns. As at the latest practicable date, no agreement
in relation to the above arrangements has been entered into or
agreed between the Company and its creditors.

Continuing operations
Revenue

The Group’s revenue generated from sales of crude oil and
provision of services and others.

The Group's revenue generated from sales of oil and gas was
entirely contributed by our China oil fields. The Group’s revenue
from sales of oil and gas in 2020 decreased by RMB171.2 million,
or 23.1%, from RMB741.5 million in 2019 to RMB570.3 million,
primarily due to lower oil prices partially offset by higher sales
volumes. The average realized oil price was US$38.60 per barrel in
2020, as compared to US$55.92 per barrel in 2019. The Group's
sales volume increased by 0.2 million barrels or 10.4%, from 1.93
million barrels in 2019 to 2.13 million barrels in 2020.
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The Group’s revenue from rendering of services was RMB2.2
million for 2020.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

The Group's depreciation, depletion and amortization decreased by
RMB98.6 million, or 28.3%, from RMB348.8 million in 2019 to
RMB250.2 million in 2020. The decrease in depreciation, depletion
and amortization was mainly due to: (i) the decrease of net book
value caused by the impairment recorded in 2020, which is caused
by the decrease of oil price; and (ii) the increase of reserve.

Taxes other than income taxes

The Group's taxes other than income taxes decreased by RMB1.1
million, or 13.9%, from RMB7.9 million for 2019 to RMB6.8 million
for 2020.

PRC

With effect from January 1, 2015, the threshold price for special oil
income levy was revised from US$55 per barrel to US$65 per
barrel. During 2020, the realized oil price never reached US$65 per
barrel, and hence special oil income levy was not applicable.

Corporate and others

Withholding Tax and others

Withholding tax represents accrual of withholding tax on interest
charged on intercompany loans.

Employee compensation costs

The Group’'s employee compensation costs decreased by RMB41.5
million, or 28.9%, from RMB143.4 million for 2019 to RMB101.9
million for 2020. The decrease in employee compensation costs
was primarily due to the reduction of headcount and compensation
during 2020.
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Purchases, services and other expenses

Our purchases, services and other expenses decreased by RMB1.9
million, or 1.4%, from RMB133.0 million for 2019 to RMB131.1
million for 2020. The decrease was primarily due to the stringent
cost control measures and optimization measures on the wells
implemented by the Group.

Distribution costs

The Group's distribution costs increased by RMB1.7 million, or
10.2%, from RMB16.6 million in 2019 to RMB18.3 million in 2020.
The increase in distribution costs was primarily due to the increase
in sales volume.

General and administrative expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses decreased by
RMB103.3 million, or 65.3%, from RMB158.2 million in 2019 to
RMB54.9 million in 2020. The decrease in administrative expenses
was primarily due to the large fees and expenses related to debt
restructuring or refinancing during 2019.

Net impairment losses on financial assets

The Group incurred net impairment losses on financial assets of
RMB3.7 million in 2020, which arose primarily from the provision
for impairment losses on the receivables from an associate.
Impairment charges

The Group recognized: (i) impairment losses for oil and gas
properties amounting to RMB480.5 million; (ii) impairment losses
for mining rights amounting to RMB26.2 million.

Other gains/(losses), net

The Group incurred other gains of RMB3.1 million for 2020,
compared to other losses of RMB80.7 million for 2019.
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Finance income/(costs), net

The Group’s finance income decreased by RMB7.2 million, or
16.9%, from RMB42.5 million for 2019 to RMB35.3 million for
2020.

Finance costs increased by RMB240.2 million, or 39.7%, from
RMB605.8 million for 2019 to RMB846.0 million for 2020. The
increase was mainly due to the default interest with higher interest
rate caused by the cross-default event of the borrowings during
2020.

Loss before income tax

The Group’s loss before income tax was RMB1,308.7 million for
2020, compared to the loss before income tax of RMB1,398.7
million for 2019. This was primarily due to the cumulative effects of
the above factors.

Income tax expense

The Group recorded an income tax expense of RMB42.6 million in
2020, compared to an income tax expense of RMB62.5 million for
2019. The effective tax rate for 2020 is negative 3% compared to
an effective tax rate in 2019 of negative 4%.

Loss for the year from continuing operations

As a result of the foregoing, our net loss from continuing operations
in 2020 was RMB1,351.3 million, compared to a net loss from
continuing operations of RMB1,461.1 million in 2019.

Loss for the year

The Group’s net loss in 2020 was RMB1,351.3 million, compared
to the net loss of RMB1,128.9 million in 2019.
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We provide a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA to
losses for the year 2020, our most direct comparable financial
performance calculated and presented in accordance with IFRS.
EBITDA refers to earnings before finance income, finance costs,
income tax and depreciation, depletion and amortization. Adjusted
EBITDA refers to EBITDA adjusted to exclude non-cash and non-
recurring items such as share-based payment to employees, net
impairment losses on financial assets, impairment charges, losses
on changes in fair value of financial instruments, withholding tax,
losses on disposal of subsidiaries, losses arising from disposal of
an associate and any other non-cash or non-recurring income/
expenses.

The Group's adjusted EBITDA reflects the Group's recurring cash
flow earnings from its core operations.

We have included EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as we believe that
EBITDA is a financial measure commonly used in the oil and gas
industry. We believe that EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are used
as supplemental financial measures by our management and by
investors, research analysts, bankers and others, to assess our
operating performance, cash flow and return on capital as
compared to those of other companies in our industry, and our
ability to take on financing. However, EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA
should not be considered in isolation or construed as alternatives to
profit from operations or any other measure of performance or as
an indicator of our operating performance or profitability. EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA fail to account for corporate tax, finance
income, finance costs and other non-operating cash expenses.
EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA do not consider any functional or
legal requirements of the business that may require us to conserve
and allocate funds for any purposes.
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The following table presents a reconciliation between EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations and loss before
income tax from continuing operations for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

The Group generated EBITDA of negative RMB248.0 million in
2020, compared to negative RMB486.6 million in 2019. The
increase in EBITDA in 2020 was primarily due to: (i) the
impairments and losses on changes in fair value decreased by
RMB276.4 million; (ii) the general and administrative expenses and
employee benefit expenses decreased by RMB144.8 million; and
(iii) partially offset by the decrease in oil price.

The Group’s adjusted EBITDA decreased by approximately
RMB52.4 million, or 16.2%, from approximately RMB323.4 million
in 2019 to approximately RMB271.0 million in 2020. The decrease
in adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to the decrease in oil price.
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RIZIMEZERR : (VREERBERAREBESE
BESIBMIBRED T ARK27641E T : (i)
ERBEANE THEMKARD AR 144818
TC ¢ R (i) B B T RRER D $EEH o

REENRKALEBITDAR - ZE— NI BEE
B ANREES234 BT LD HARKEE 2408
TLH16.2% E T -_THKFELHAREK2.710
BT - XA EEBITDAR AL MEZHRAER
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Year Ended December 31,
BE+=-A=1t—HLEE

2020 2019
—E-FF —FNF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Loss before income tax from BESERFISHAEE
continuing operations (1,308,722) (1,398,673)
Finance income ELT N (35,343) (42,518)
Finance costs B%ER 845,954 605,803
Depreciation,depletion and amortization e ITRE Y 250,159 348,751
EBITDA from continuing operations B E EBITDA (247,952) (486,637)
Share-based payment to employees BT EI T B B IRFEAA 4,747 10,841
Net impairment losses on financial assets SREEREBRL 3,740 698,154
Impairment charges BERERX 506,748 4,826
Losses on changes in fair value of financial tRITAENAABEEREKX
instruments - 71,159
Withholding tax RINRET 3,711 3,838
Losses from disposal of subsidiaries BEFARIEBK - 21,197
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations & A% B4 2 EBITDA 270,994 323,378
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EIRE T A&

The Group’s EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from continuing

DT ()

operations by operating segment are set out below:

Loss before income tax from
continuing operations

Finance income

Finance costs

Depreciation,depletion and amortization

EBITDA from continuing operations

Share-based payment to employees

(Reversal)/provision of impairment
losses on financial assets, net

Impairment charges

Withholding tax

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing
operations

BECERMERAER

TR
BHER
e REREH

FHELC % EBITDA

RERERT & TR B RS
EREERERX

(Bm@), &tz - HE
BERERE
RAREH

@ = R 43 o AN
WL DE% E L =

2 EBITDA

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Elhiaeca

HP
H@ -

S ﬁE gu g/

H) 5 4B 48 2 EBITDA &
Fr B /ZZ EBITDARA I AR ¢

Year Ended December 31, 2020
BEE-Z-_ZH5+-A=+t—HLEFE

PRC

kil
RMB’000
ARBT R

(643,110)
(20)
257,447
243,579

(142,104)

1,288

(3,389)
506,748

362,543

Others
Hity
RMB’000

AR% T

(665,612)
(35,323)
588,507
6,580

(105,848)

3,459
7,129

3,71

(91,549)

Total

At
RMB’000
ARETR

(1,308,722)
(35,343)
845,954
250,159

(247,952)

4,747
3,740

506,748
3,711

270,994



I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
BIRE e wm Mot (&)

Year Ended December 31, 2019
BE-_E-hE+-A=1+—BIEE

PRC Others Total
H Hitb B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETTT ARETT ARETT

Profit/(Loss) before income tax from = B I BRPTIS T A

continuing operations Wzs/ (E48) 43,907 (1,442,580 (1,398,673)
Finance income BRI A (27) (42,491) (42,518)
Finance costs &R 110,330 495,473 605,803
Depreciation,depletion and amortization  #7& - Fr#E J2 #84 342,081 6,670 348,751
EBITDA from continuing operations BB S EBITDA 496,291 (982,928) (486,637)
Share-based payment to employees B EET EI T B B RISALA 2,687 8,164 10,841
Net impairment losses on financial assets & gt & EJf (E 18 5k 1,160 696,994 698,154
Impairment charges BEREBRX - 4,826 4,826
Losses on changes in fair value of SRMTENAABEZEELX

financial instruments - 71,159 71,159
Withholding tax IR - 3,838 3,838
Losses from disposal of subsidiaries BETAREREL - 21,197 21,197
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing IR R E I A EBITDA

operations 500,138 (176,760) 323,378

The Group’s primary source of cash during 2020 was cash AEE-ZT_ZTFMNEERIKRALETE
generated from operating activities. EXNRERE °

In 2020, the Group had net cash of RMB186.9 million generated MRI-ZEZTF - ARIKE FHELENIR©FHE
from operating activities, net cash of RMB159.7 million used in &AAR 1869187 - HEESFEANRSF
investing activities, net cash of RMB20.4 million used in financing (EAARM 15978 @ BEESFEANR S
activities, an exchange losses on cash and cash equivalent of FHEAARMK 20408 T RekAeEED
RMBO0.2 million, and a net increase in cash and cash equivalents of HISNEBKRAARK 208 HEkREFH
RMB6.6 million. EmFENRsARK60ET -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Cash generated from operating activities

Net cash generated from operating activities was RMB186.9 million
in the year ended December 31, 2020. In the year ended December
31, 2020, our net cash generated from operating activities included
loss before income tax of RMB1,308.7 million adjusted for,
depreciation, depletion and amortization of RMB250.2 million, net
interest expenses of RMB741.0 million, net impairment losses on
financial assets of RMB3.7 million, impairment charges of
RMB506.7 million, share-based payment to employees of RMB4.7
million and exchange losses of RMB69.6 million. The cash
movements from changes in working capital which included a
decrease in trade and other receivables of RMB61.9 million and a
decrease in trade and other payable of RMB85.5 million, an
increase of inventories of RMB3.5 million, interest paid of RMB44.9
million and income taxes paid of RMB8.5 million.

Net cash generated from operating activities was RMB73.6 million
in the year ended December 31, 2019. In the year ended December
31, 2019, our net cash generated from operating activities included
loss before income tax of RMB1,398.7 million adjusted for,
depreciation, depletion and amortization of RMB348.8 million, net
interest expenses of RMB567.8 million, net impairment losses on
financial assets of RMB698.2 million, impairment charges of
RMB4.8 million, share-based payment to employees of RMB10.8
million, exchange gains of RMB4.5 million, losses on changes in
fair value of financial instruments of RMB71.2 million and losses on
disposal of subsidiaries of RMB21.2 million. The cash movements
from changes in working capital which included an increase in trade
and other receivables of RMB3.7 million and an increase in trade
and other payable of RMB162.8 million, a decrease of inventories
of RMB1.3 million, interest paid of RMB418.2 million and cash
generated from discontinued operations of RMB11.9 million.

Cash used in investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities in the year ended December
31, 2020 amounted to RMB159.7 million, as a result of: (i)
purchases of property, plant and equipment of RMB165.9 million,
and (ii) payment for acquisition of foreign contractor’s participating
interests in PRC of RMB14.6 million, which was offset by, (i)
proceeds from disposals of subsidiaries of RMB20.7 million, and (ii)
others of RMB91 thousand.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Net cash used in investing activities in the year ended December
31, 2019 amounted to RMB119.7 million, as a result of: (i)
purchases of property, plant and equipment of RMB37.0 million, (ii)
payment for acquisition of foreign contractor’'s participating
interests in PRC of RMB34.6 million, (iii) contribution and loans to
investments accounted for using equity method of RMB4.9 million
and (iv) cash used in discontinued operations of RMB92.1 million,
which was offset by, (i) proceeds from disposals of subsidiaries of
RMB16.4 million, (ii) receipt of shareholder loans from associate of
RMB27.6 million, and (iii) others of RMB4.9 million.

Cash used/generated from in financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities in the year ended December
31, 2020 amounted to RMB20.4 million primarily due to: (i)
repayments of borrowings of RMB10.4 million, and (ii) payment of
lease liability of RMB9.9 million.

Net cash generated from financing activities in the year ended
December 31, 2019 amounted to RMB31.5 million primarily due to:
(i) proceeds from borrowings of RMB654.9 million, (i) proceeds
from issuing of new shares of RMB32.5 million and (iii) cash
generated from discontinued operations of RMB80.2 million, offset
by: (i) repayments of borrowings of RMB194.2 million, (ii)
repayments of 2019 senior notes of RMB516.4 million, (iii) payment
for loan arrangement and other fees of RMB19.3 million, and (iv)
payment of lease liability of RMB6.1 million.

Borrowings

As at December 31, 2020, for the Group's continuing operations,
the borrowings from financial institutions and third parties
amounted to approximately RMB3,686.1 million, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB313.2 million as compared to
December 31, 2019. All of the borrowings are repayable within one
year amounted to approximately RMB3,686.1 million, representing
an increase of RMB1,407.3 million as compared to December 31,
2019. All of the borrowings are denominated in US dollars and
Hong Kong dollars. The borrowings are all at fixed interest rates.
No hedging instruments were used for borrowings.

By ) e e e B s e e
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Our gearing ratio, which is defined as total borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents (“Net Borrowings") divided by the sum of
Net Borrowings and total equity, decreased from 321.0% as at
December 31, 2019 to negative 3,445.2% as at December 31,
2020, primarily due to the losses incurred in 2020.

Our total borrowings to adjusted EBITDA ratio, which is defined as
total borrowings divided by adjusted EBITDA increased from 12.4
as at December 31, 2019 to 13.6 as at December 31, 2020.

Market Risks

Our market risk exposures primarily consist of fluctuations in oil
and gas prices and exchange rates.

Oil and gas price risk

Our realized oil and gas prices are determined with reference to oil
and gas prices in the international market, and changes in
international oil and gas prices will have a significant impact on us.
Unstable and highly volatile international oil and gas prices may
have a significant impact on our revenue and profit.

Currency risk

The majority of the Group’s China operation sales are in US dollars,
while production and other expenses in China are incurred in RMB.
The RMB is not a freely convertible currency and is regulated by
the PRC government. Limitations on foreign exchange transactions
imposed by the PRC government could cause future exchange
rates to vary significantly from current or historical exchange rates.

The Group currently does not engage in hedging activities designed
or intended to manage foreign exchange rate risk. The Group will
continue to monitor foreign exchange changes to best preserve the
Group’s cash value.

As at December 31, 2020, a deposit, the Group’s interest and
account receivable under the Daan PSC, all issued share capital in
an associate and certain subsidiaries of the Group, other
receivables from the associate and a third party, and other assets
security and share charge were pledged to secure borrowings in
the aggregate amount of RMB2,065.4 million.
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As at December 31, 2020, the Company had 1,007 employees, all
based in China (Mainland and Hong Kong). There are no material
changes to the information disclosed in the 2019 Annual Report in
respect of the remuneration of employees, remuneration policies
and staff development.

There were no contingent liabilities of the Group as at December
31, 2020.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended December 31, 2020 (2019: NIL).

The annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM") is scheduled
to be held on Friday, June 25, 2021. For determining the
entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the Register of
Members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, June 22,
2021 to Friday, June 25, 2021, both days inclusive, during which no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all completed transfers of shares,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Monday, June 21, 2021, being the last
registration date.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the
consolidated financial information of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2020 including the accounting policies adopted by
the Group and has discussed the internal controls and financial
reporting matters of the Group.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

MIE HOLDINGS CORPORATION

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
MIE Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 117 to 260, which comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2020;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the potential interaction of
the multiple uncertainties and their possible cumulative effect on
the consolidated financial statements as described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us
to form an opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In
all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

MIE HOLDINGS CORPORATION (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern

As detailed in Note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
during the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group incurred a
net loss of RMB1,351.3 million. As at December 31, 2020, the
Group had a shareholders’ deficit of RMB3,772.1 million and its
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RMB4,891.4
million. As at the same date, the Group had total borrowings of
RMB3,686.1 million, all of which were recorded under current
liabilities, while the Group had bank balances totalling RMB67.6
million, of which RMB20.4 million was unrestricted.

The Group did not pay the interest of RMB120.5 million (US$17.1
million) accrued on the senior notes in the principal amount of
US$248.4 million (equivalent to approximately RMB1,620.7 million)
(the “2022 Senior Notes"”) due on April 12, 2020, which resulted in
an event of default by the Group. As a result, the entire balance of
the principal and related outstanding interest due on the 2022
Senior Notes became immediately repayable if requested by the
holders of such notes (the “Noteholders”) and was classified as a
current liability as at December 31, 2020. This event of default also
triggered the cross-default of all secured borrowings in the total
principal amount of RMB2,065.4 million as described in Note 2.1.1
(the "“Cross-Defaulted Borrowings”) and immediate repayment of
all such borrowings if requested by the respective lenders of these
borrowings (the “Lenders”). In addition, all the Cross-Defaulted
Borrowings were also subsequently defaulted because of non-
payment at their respective due dates.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

MIE HOLDINGS CORPORATION (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern
(Continued)

These conditions, together with others described in Note 2.1.1 to
the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of
material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt over the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Management of the Company has undertaken a number of
measures to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position, to
meet its liabilities as and when they fall due which are set out in
Note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of
these measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties,
including: (i) the Lenders and the Noteholders not taking any
actions against the Group to exercise their rights to demand
immediate payment of the principals and interest of the Cross-
Defaulted Borrowings and the 2022 Senior Notes before the
finalisation of the debt restructuring plans and execution of the
restructuring agreements; (ii) successfully securing the required
agreement of the Lenders and the Noteholders and completion of
all necessary procedures by the Group for the restructuring
agreements under the debt restructuring plans to be executed; and
the Group's ability to continuously comply with the terms and
conditions stipulated therein upon execution; (iii) actual oil prices
throughout the forecast period being in line with the projected
levels included in the cashflow projections prepared by
management; and (iv) the Group’s ability to generate operating
cash flows and to obtain additional sources of financing, other than
those mentioned above, to finance the Group's oil exploration and
production business, including capital expenditures needed to drill
new wells, as well as other funding needs.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

MIE HOLDINGS CORPORATION (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern
(Continued)

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down
the carrying value of the Group's assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and
to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities. The effect of these adjustments has
not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B Az A RS ()

_B
pwec

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

MIE HOLDINGS CORPORATION (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing and to issue an auditor’s report. WWe report solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. However, because of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not
possible for us to form an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements due to the potential interaction of the multiple
uncertainties and their possible cumulative effect on the
consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) issued by the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code"”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the IESBA Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is LEONG Kin Bong.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, March 31, 2021
(If there is any inconsistency between the English and Chinese

version of the independent auditor’'s report, the English version
shall prevail.)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BB RAR

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Right-of-use assets

Deferred income tax assets

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Restricted cash

Current assets

Inventories

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Trade and note receivables

Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Equity

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Share capital

Other reserves

Accumulated losses

Total shareholders’ deficit
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Note
B =E

14
17

14
15
17
18

19
21

As at December 31,
M®12H31H

2019
RMB’000
ARBTT

1,678,414
94,025
11,839

816
43,754

385,363

2,214,211

16,370

71,036
61,374
46,213
13,711

208,704

2,422,915

1,101,249
(90,048)
(3,755,333)

(2,744,132)

(2,744,132)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
BHIEARAK (E)

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2019
Note RMB'000
BT ARETIT
Liabilities =N
Non-current liabilities By i=Ki
Borrowings RN 25 1,720,505
Lease liabilities HEAE 7 4,738
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFTBRERE 22 173,803
Trade and note payables FERTBR RN M B 2245 23 74,169
Provisions, accruals and other liabilities % - B2 R Efb & (& 24 143,041
2,116,256
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and note payables FENBR R M ENZEE 23 386,076
Provisions, accruals and other liabilities Y& - TB1Z Rk Efh & (& 24 371,061
Lease liabilities HEaE 7 8,707
Current income tax liabilities EHIFEHAaRE 6,185
Borrowings RN 25 2,278,762
3,050,791
Total liabilities =NEFEE S 5,167,047
Total shareholders’ deficit BRREEREEHASE
and liabilities 2,422,915

The accompanying notes on pages 126 to 260 are an integral part {2/ 55 126 B & 5 260 B 2 M5 AR A 081 7%
of these consolidated financial statements. WMFHEEREIH D -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 117 to 260 were 117 B &5 260 B 2 & f B &< 271 2021
approved by the Board of Directors on March 31, 2021 and were 3 A31 HEEE@HETIR  TREKESS

signed on its behalf. %5E
Zhang Ruilin Zhao Jiangwei
Director Director
BE 3

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Continuing operations

Revenue from contracts
with customers

Depreciation, depletion
and amortisation

Taxes other than income taxes

Employee benefit expense

Purchases, services and other

direct costs
Distribution costs

General and administrative expenses

Net impairment losses on
financial assets

Impairment charges

Other gains/(losses),net

Finance income
Finance costs

Loss before income tax

Income tax expense

Loss for the year from
continuing operations

Discontinued operations
Profit for the year from
discontinued operations

Loss for the year
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Note
B =E

27
30

6,8 9
26

28
28

31

Year ended December 31,

HZ12A31BHLLEE

2019
RMB’000
ARBTT

756,094

(348,751)
(7,859)
(143,367)
(133,007)
(16,642)
(158,160)
(698,154)
(4,826)
(80,716)

42,518
(605,803)

(1,398,673)

(62,453)

(1,461,126)

332,177

(1,128,949)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)

aftEalaER (8)

Year ended December 31,

HZ12A31BHLLEE

2019
Note RMB'000
iz ARETT
Other comprehensive Hitamma s, (85ia)
income/(losses)
Continuing operations FREEER
Items that may be reclassified to HENHEEESHZEmEE
profit or loss
Currency translation differences HNEETE E R (569,103)
Items that will not be reclassified to E# T EESHEEEHENER
profit or loss
Change in the fair value of equity UARBEFEBEEZEH)TA
instruments at fair value through Hi iR EWHmER T AN
other comprehensive income DRAEEEE (3,428)
Other comprehensive income/ BHaAEHEtEewkE (EE)
(losses) for the year, net of tax (62,531)
Total comprehensive losses rEREERERE
for the year (1,191,480)
Loss for the year attributable to: REFEBEFBEN
Owners of the Company NN = (1,125,037)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R T (3,912)
(1,128,949)
Loss/(profit) for the year EERAQATEENARE
attributable to owners (BX)/FIBHRER
of the Company arising from:
Continuing operations FHEEE (1,457,214)
Discontinued operations R 332,177
(1,125,037)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)

= /\\/T\ L&

Total comprehensive losses
for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive (losses)/
income for the year attributable
to owners of the Company
arising from:

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/
profit attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company
for the year (expressed in RMB
per share)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

(%)

FEGEERAEREER

RRRIFAEHE
FEHE I MR R

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A3MBLEE
2019
Note RMB'000
k=3 AREFTT

(1,187,568)
(3,912)

(1,191,480)
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The accompanying notes on pages 126 to 260 are an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements.

(1,519,745)
332,177

(1,187,568)

33
(0.46)
0.11

(0.35)

33
(0.46)
0.11

(0.35)

1601 126 L 5 55 260 B 2 5 AAA B8 75
WEMEEHS o
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Conso

As at January 1, 2020

Comprehensive losses
for the year

Loss for the year

Change in the fair value of equity
instruments at the fair value
through other comprehensive
income (Note 13)

Currency translation differences

Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners
Employees stock option schemes
— value of employee services
(Note 30)

As at December 31, 2020

idated Statement of Changes in Equity
HHEREER

W20201 816

FEREER

KEEHE

AR EBEFEAEED

AR MARA Yz

BRIEMAAEE
(Fiz£13)

NEHEER

HEEENEREEN
BRETHNRS
EEBREE
—EERBEE
(F=£30)

#2020 12 31H

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
HERZER (E)

Attributable to owners of the Company

GERNALAMAE
Non-
Ordinary Share Other  Accumulated controlling Total
shares premium reserves losses Total interests Equity

ERR BARE  AMEE  2HERA B HEBINEE  BaAR
RVB000  RMB000  RMBO000  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMBOQ0
ARBTL  ARBTT ARRTT ARMTT ARMTZ ARETR ARETR

As at January 1, 2019 R201951818 19,489 1,049,307 (143,782) (2,630,296  (1,705,282) 13,265 (1,692,017)
Comprehensive losses REGEER

for the year
Loss for the year ~EER - - - (1125,087)  (1,125,037) (3912 (1,128,949)
Change in the fair value of equity AR (BESEAHE

instruments at the fair value AR A RS

through other comprehensive EnlANANER

income (Note 13) 28(MiE13) = = (3428) - (3428 - 3428
Currency translation differences  SMEHEEE - - (59,103 = (69,103) = (69,103)

= = (62,531)  (1,125,037)  (1,187,568) (3912 (1,191,480)

Transactions with owners in HREENEREED

their capacity as owners BRETHRS
Employees stock option schemes 1§ 8 B iRiEzt2]

— value of employee services —EERBER

{Note 30) (fit£30) - - 10,841 - 10,841 - 10,841
Issue new shares (Note 19) BATHAR (Bt 19) 2,263 30,190 - - 32,453 - 32,453
Disposal of subsidiaries REFAH - - 105,424 - 105,424 (9,353) 96,071
2,263 30,190 116,265 - 148,718 (9,353) 139,365

As at December 31, 2019 H20195128318 275 1079497 (0,048 (3755383  (2,744,13) - M%)

The accompanying notes on pages 126 to 260 are an integral part &1 5 126 B & 5 260 B 2 [t 5= A A& G875
of these consolidated financial statements. WERA LS 5 o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
eHEEREXR

Year ended December 31,

HZ12A31BHLLEE

2019
Note RMB'000
B &E ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities ZE& FZENWHRERE
Continuing operations FERE
Cash generated from operations KEEBELENRS 479,913
Interest paid NS (418,196)
Income taxes paid BEATFTSHL -
Discontinued operations rirgE 11,911
Net cash inflow from RETHELENRESFHE
operating activities 34 73,628
Cash flows from investing activities REZFZENEERE
Continuing operations BERE
Payments for property, plant BETIE  THAR
and equipment (37,012)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries W2 E F A RIFTE A 16,355
Payment for acquisition of foreign iﬁﬂﬂzﬁ%ﬂﬁ/\ﬂfﬂ BN & RE
contractor’s participating interests 2 ERREZS R TR
in PRC (34,643)
Receipt of shareholder loans W BBt & D EE R IRR B
from associate 27,578
Contribution and loans to investments R ALAEZEABRHRE R E
accounted for using equity method (4,883)
Others EAth 4,936
Discontinued operations wriLgeE (92,059)
Net cash outflow from RETEFEANESTE
investing activities (119,728)
Cash flows from financing activities BIEFZENEERE
Continuing operations BERE
Repayments of borrowings BEER (194,183)
Proceeds from borrowings ERATS A 654,891
Repayments of 2019 Senior Notes EE 201918 Rk (5616,424)
Proceeds from issuing of new shares  Z£1T#F IR EIRIIR & 32,453
Payments for loan arrangement and SHERZHEE N EEE A
other fees (19,284)
Payment of lease liability STNBEEE (6,145)
Discontinued operations miEgE 80,163
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Consolidated Statement of Cash/Flows (Continued)

afRERER (B)

Note
B =E
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from METH(FEH) EENRS
financing activities T
Net increase/(decrease) incashand REREFELZEBYN
cash equivalents i, ORd) B
— Net increase/(decrease) included — BEEAEHPBMRARD
in cash and cash equivalents per ReRBREEBYHH
the consolidated statement of B Ol ) F5E
financial position
— Net increase included in the — BEAEREGENEEMR
assets of disposal group BER AL INFEE
classified as held for sale
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning £#13R & RIREZEY)
of the financial year
Effects of exchange rate on cash and R4 RIRESZBYWHIE K IBFHH
cash equivalents T
Transferred to disposal group classified B EEHEENEBHE
as held for sale
Cash and cash equivalents atend of FARREREEZEY
the year 18

The accompanying notes on pages 126 to 260 are an integral part {&Mffs5 126 B &
of these consolidated financial statements. WMEHEEH S

Year ended December 31,
BZE12ANBLEEE

2019
RMB’000
ARBTT

31,471

(14,629)

(14,644)
15

28,115

240

13,711

5260 B Z M ERAA BT 75
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MIE Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the exploration, development, production and sale of oil in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") under production
sharing contracts (the “PSCs"”). The Group also participates
as associates in the exploration, development, production and
sale of petroleum and other petroleum products located in
the Republic of Kazakhstan (the “Kazakhstan").

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is
Maples Corporate Services Limited, P.O. Box 309 Ugland
House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Group is indirectly controlled by Far East Energy Limited
("FEEL"), which owns 48.23% of the Company’s shares and
is also the ultimate parent company of the Group. FEEL is a
limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and its
ultimate benefit owners are Mr. Zhang Ruilin, Mr. Zhao
Jiangwei and Ms. Zhao Jiangbo (“Mrs. Zhang”, Mr. Zhang's
spouse).

The Company's shares were listed on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK") on December 14, 2010.

The financial statements are presented in Chinese Renminbi
("RMB") unless otherwise stated. These financial statements
have been approved for issue by the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board of Directors”) on March 31, 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BEHRRNE (8)

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB"”). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except certain
financial assets measured at fair value as disclosed in
the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

2.1.1 Going concern

In the recent years, the Group’s performance was
significantly affected by the relatively low
commodity prices of oil and the high borrowing
costs for general funding and re-financing
purposes. The Group's performance is further
impacted by the breakdown of production
reduction negotiations amongst the Organisation
of Petroleum Exporting Countries (the “OPEC"),
coupled with the unfavorable outlook for the
global economy due to the outbreak of
Coronavirus Disease 2019 (the “COVID-19") in
early 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REBER(E)
2.1.1 Going concern (Continued) 211 HELE (8)

During the year, the Group incurred a net loss of
RMB1,351.3 million. As at December 31, 2020,
the Group had a shareholders’ deficit of
RMB3,772.1 million and its current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by RMB4,891.4
million. As at the same date, the Group had total
borrowings of RMB3,686.1 million. Included in the
current liabilities as at December 31, 2020 were
(1) the senior notes listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited in the
principal amount of US$248.4 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB1,620.7 million) with a
contractual due date on April 12, 2022 (the “2022
Senior Notes”) (Note 25(a)); (2) a secured
borrowing of US$58.8 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB383.7 million) (the “On-
Demand Borrowing”) (Note 25(b)); and (3) all of
the Group’s remaining secured borrowings
totalling RMB1,681.7 million (Note 25(c)). As at
December 31, 2020, the Group had bank balances
totalling RMB67.6 million, of which RMB20.4
million was unrestricted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REERE(E)
2.1.1 Going concern (Continued) 21.1 HELE (8)

On May 11, 2020 the Group did not pay the
interest accrued on the 2022 Senior Notes of
RMB120.5 million (US$17.1 million) due on April
12, 2020, which resulted in an event of default by
the Group after the expiry of the 30-day grace
period. As a result, the entire balance of the
principal and related outstanding interest due on
the 2022 Senior Notes became immediately
repayable if requested by the holders of such
notes (the “Noteholders”) and was classified as a
current liability as at December 31, 2020. This
event of default also triggered the cross-default of
the borrowings under (2) and (3) (collectively the
“Cross-Defaulted Borrowings”) and immediate
repayment of all such borrowings if requested by
the respective lenders of these borrowings (the
“Lenders”). In addition, all the Cross-Defaulted
Borrowings were also subsequently defaulted
because of non-payment at their respective due
dates. Up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the
Noteholders and the Lenders have not requested
immediate repayments of any of the funding
provided to the Group, nor any written waiver has
been obtained from them. No additional
borrowings were undertaken by the Group
subsequent to December 31, 2020.

The above conditions indicate the existence of
material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt regarding the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. In view of such circumstances,
management has given careful consideration to
the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to continue as a going concern, and has
taken the following measures to mitigate the
liquidity pressure and to improve its cash flows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SRR AT (48)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern (Continued)

(a)

The Group will continue its ongoing efforts
in convincing the Lenders and the
Noteholders not to take any actions against
the Group for immediate payment of the
principals and interest of the Cross-
Defaulted Borrowings and the 2022 Senior
Notes. Based on latest communications
with the Lenders and certain key
Noteholders, there is no indication that
these parties have any current intention to
take action against the Group to demand
immediate payment;

The Group has been in active negotiations
with the Lenders and certain key Noteholders
for a debt restructuring of the Cross-Defaulted
Borrowings and the 2022 Senior Notes (the
“Debt Restructuring Plans”) to revise certain
key terms and conditions of the original
borrowing agreements and indenture,
including but not limited to extension of
principal and interest payment schedules
and reduction in applicable interest rates.
The Debt Restructuring Plans will involve
entering into restructuring agreements (the
“Restructuring Agreements”) among the
Group, the Lenders and the key Noteholders
participating in the negotiations; and the
execution of such Restructuring Agreements
is subject to, among others, the necessary
legal proceedings and ultimate approval by
Noteholders representing over 50% by
number and 75% by value of the holders of
the 2022 Senior Notes participating in the
voting;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REERE(E)
2.1.1 Going concern (Continued) 21.1 HELE (8)

(c)  On June 4, 2020, the Group successfully
obtained approval from its production
sharing counterparty, China National
Petroleum Corporation, to extend the expiry
date of the production period from
December 31, 2024 to February 29, 2028
(the “Supplemental Production Sharing
Contract”) on the condition that the Group
shall drill a minimum number of new wells
in the Daan oilfield as agreed within a period
of three years from June 2020. As a result,
the Group will be able to improve its
operating cash flows through increased
production; and

(d)  The Group will also continue to seek other
alternative financing, including proceeds
from the disposal of assets, to finance the
settlement of its existing financial obligations
and future operating and capital expenditures.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash
flow projections prepared by management, which
cover a period of not less than twelve months
from December 31, 2020. They are of the opinion
that, taking into account the above-mentioned
plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and to
meet its financial obligations when they fall due
within the next twelve months from the date of
the consolidated statement of financial position.
Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.
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2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties
exist as to whether management of the Company
will be able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above. Whether the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern would depend
upon the following:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

the Lenders and the Noteholders not taking
any actions against the Group to exercise
their rights to demand immediate payment
of the principals and interests of the Cross-
Defaulted Borrowings and the 2022 Senior
Notes before the finalisation of the Debt
Restructuring Plans and execution of the
Restructuring Agreements;

successfully securing the required agreement
of the Lenders and the Noteholders and
completion of all necessary procedures by
the Group for the Restructuring Agreements
to be executed; and the Group's ability to
continuously comply with the terms and
conditions stipulated therein upon execution;

actual oil prices throughout the forecast
period being in line with the projected levels
included in the cashflow projections; and

the Group's ability to generate operating
cash flows and to obtain additional sources
of financing, other than those mentioned
above, to finance the Group’s oil exploration
and production business, including capital
expenditures needed to drill new wells, as
well as other funding needs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REERE(E)
2.1.1 Going concern (Continued) 21.1 HELE (8)

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be
able to continue to operate as a going concern,
and adjustments would have to be made to write
down the carrying value of the Group's assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities.
The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

2.1.2 New and amended standards adopted by the

Group

The Group has applied the following standards
and amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing January 1, 2020:

° Definition of Material — amendments to IAS
1 and IAS 8

° Definition of a Business — amendments to
IFRS 3

° Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7

o Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting

° Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards
2018-2020 Cycle.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 mEERE(E)

2.1.3 New standards and interpretations not yet

2.1.3 [& R ERANHY T 2 R R 7 1

adopted

Certain new accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that are not
mandatory for December 31, 2020 reporting
periods and have not been early adopted by the
Group. These standards are not expected to have
a material impact on the entity in the current or
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.

2.2 Consolidation and subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.2 Consolidation and subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the
former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.
|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests in
the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation are
measured at either fair value or the present
ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by
IFRS. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SRR AT (48)

2.2 Consolidation and subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value
at the acquisition date; any gains or losses
arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in accordance with
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement (“IAS 39") either in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and
its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BEHRRNE (8)

2.2 Consolidation and subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(a) Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.

(b) Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions — that
is, as transactions with the owners of the
subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in

equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

2.2 Consolidation and subsidiaries (Continued) 22 SHRTFLR(E)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued) 22188t (&)

(c) Disposals of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at
cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary
in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee's net assets including goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the investor's share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group's investments in associates
include goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate,
any difference between the cost of the associate and
the Group's share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as
goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

2.3 Associates 2.3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB HRRNE (8)

2.3

2.4

Associates (Continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent
to ‘share of profit/(loss) of investments accounted for
using equity method’ in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and its
associate are recognised in the Group’'s financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates
are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Joint arrangements

The Group applies IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (“IFRS
11") to all joint arrangements. Under IFRS 11
investments in joint arrangements are classified as
either joint operations or joint ventures depending on
the contractual rights and obligations of each investor.
The Company has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be joint
operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.4 Joint arrangements (Continued) 24 SERH(E)
2.4.1 Joint operations 241 HEKE

The Group's development and production
activities in the PRC are conducted, through its
subsidiaries, jointly with others through PSCs.
These PSCs establish joint control over the
development and production activities. The assets
are not owned by a separate legal entity but are
controlled by individual participants in the PSCs.
Each participant is entitled to a predetermined
share of the related output and bears an agreed
share of the costs.

The consolidated financial statements reflect:

o the Group's share of any assets used in the
joint operations;

° any liabilities that the Group incurred;

° the Group's share of any liabilities incurred
jointly with the other PSC partners in relation
to the joint production;

° any income from the sale or use of the
Group's share of the output of the
production, together with its share of any
expenses incurred in the production; and

o any expense that the Group has incurred in
respect of its interests in the production.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FEITIE SRR ()

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The functional currency of the
Company is United States dollar (“US$"). The
presentation currency of the consolidated financial
statements is RMB.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
recognised in profit or loss. Foreign exchange
gains and losses that relate to borrowings and
cash and cash equivalents are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
within ‘finance income’ or ‘finance costs'.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or
loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of the statement
of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d)

Disposals of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On he disposals of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposals of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposals involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposals involving loss of joint control over a
joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposals involving loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposals that does not
result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions in
the Group’s ownership interest in associates or
joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control) the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including oil and gas
properties, are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation, depletion, amortisation and impairment.
Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 26 T8BE- - ITHREEE(E)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

The cost of oil and gas properties is amortised at the
field level based on the unit of production method. Unit
of production rates are based on oil and gas proved and
probable developed producing reserves estimated to be
recoverable from existing facilities based on the current
terms of the respective production agreements. The
Group's reserves estimates represent crude oil and gas
which management believes can be reasonably
produced within the current terms of their production
agreements.

Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued
amounts, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings and improvements 7-10 years
Office equipment 3 years
Motor vehicles and production equipment 10 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within ‘Other (losses)/gains, net’ in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

27 BERMFFESEH

2.7 Exploration and evaluation expenditure

The successful efforts method of accounting is used for
oil and gas exploration and production activities. Under
this method, all costs for development wells, supporting
equipment and facilities, and proved mineral interests in
oil and gas properties are capitalised. Geological and
geophysical costs are expensed when incurred. Costs
of exploratory wells (including certain geophysical costs
which are directly attributable to the drilling of these
wells) are capitalised as exploration and evaluation
assets pending determination of whether the wells find
proved oil and gas reserves. Proved oil and gas reserves
are the estimated quantities of crude oil and natural gas
which geological and engineering data demonstrate
with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future
years from known reservoirs under existing economic
and operating conditions, i.e., prices and costs as of the
date the estimate is made. Prices include consideration
of changes in existing prices provided only by
contractual arrangements, but not on escalations based
upon future conditions.

Exploratory wells in areas not requiring major capital
expenditures are evaluated for economic viability within
one year of completion of drilling. The related well costs
are expensed as dry holes if it is determined that such
economic viability is not attained. Otherwise, the related
well costs are reclassified to oil and gas properties and
subject to impairment review. For exploratory wells that
are found to have economically viable reserves in areas
where major capital expenditure will be required before
production can commence, the related well costs
remain capitalised only if additional drilling is under way
or firmly planned. Otherwise the related well costs are
expensed as dry holes. The Group does not have any
costs of unproved properties capitalised in oil and gas
properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.7

2.8

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
(Continued)

Identifiable exploration assets acquired are recognised
as assets at their fair value, as determined by the
requirements of business combinations. Exploration and
evaluation expenditure incurred subsequent to the
acquisition of an exploration asset in a business
combination is accounted for in accordance with the
policy outlined above.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent computer software and
mining rights.

(a) Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are
capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to
acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised over their estimated
useful lives of three years.

(b) Mining rights

Mining rights are amortised based on the unit of
production method.

Unit of production rates are based on oil and gas
proved and probable reserves estimated to be
recoverable from existing facilities based on the
current terms of the respective production
agreements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2.9

SRR AT (48)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal at each
reporting date.

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

2.10.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through OCI or through profit or
loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's

business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

29 FETRMEERE

ERASW N REREFEES SR
AR EREERTEN B
BEAFBEETAR - BT EH
NEEENBEESENIER LR E
b~ EER LS B - 5
HBETRE - REBKEREEEE
B TED {1 48 260 L A W [0 < BB O SR RE T
R A EEEAEEN A AEER
BHEX A EERABERENRS
& o NETRER R - BERA
BYHARERENR/NEMN R
SEABMN) D - HEBEBERIE
TREE(BERIMNNEERAH
Rl e S Al R EITREEE o

210 REMHEMEMEE

2101 98

AEEKEEREEDER
AT F 28R :

. ﬁé?ﬁ&fﬁfﬁf FFAR
matE((BAREBER
AH ﬁti*/\ll&/ e B
BamsrE])

o REMAFTE -
DRBRRAKEEE S &

BEMNEBEARBRSRE
B KGR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

210 REMEMEREE (&)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

2.10.1 Classification (Continued) 2101 738 (&)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
OCI. For investments in equity instruments that
are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account
for the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

2.10.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

2.10.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

210 REMEMEBMEE (K])

2.10 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

2.10.3 Measurement (Continued) 2.10.3 5t 2 (#&)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other (losses)/gains together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BEHRRNE (8)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

2.10.3 Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or
loss.

When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity
to profit or loss and recognised in other
(losses)/gains. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other (losses)/gains and
impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.10 Investments and other financial assets 210 REMEMEMEE (E)
(Continued)
2.10.3 Measurement (Continued) 2103 3t £ (&)
Debt instruments (Continued) EXTH(E)

° FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI| are measured
at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVTPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other (losses)/gains in
the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised
in profit or loss as other income when the Group's
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL are recognised in other (losses)/gains in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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210 REMEMEREE (&)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

2.10.4 Impairment 2104 BE

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost and
FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For financial instruments that have no significant
increase in credit risk since the initial recognition
("Stage 1"), the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
expected credit losses. If there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since the initial
recognition of a financial instrument but credit
impairment has not occurred (“Stage 2”), the
Group recognises a loss allowance at an amount
equal to lifetime expected credit losses. If credit
impairment has occurred since the initial
recognition of a financial instrument (“Stage 3"),
the Group recognises a loss allowance at an
amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.
For financial instruments that have low credit risk
at the balance sheet date, the Group assumes
that there is no significant increase in credit risk
since the initial recognition, and measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
expected credit losses.

For financial instruments on the Stage 1 and Stage
2, and that have low credit risk, the Group
calculates interest income according to carrying
amount without deducting the impairment
allowance and effective interest rate. For financial
instruments on the Stage 3, interest income is
calculated according to the carrying amount minus
amortised cost after the provision of impairment
allowance and effective interest rate.
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210 REMEMEBMEE (K])

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

2.10.4 Impairment (Continued) 2.10.4 H1E (&)
For trade receivables, the Group applies the HREWIRR  NEEEHA

simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables, see
Note 15 for further details.

2.11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
Company or the counterparty.

2.12 Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair
value. The Group has not designated any derivative
financial instruments as hedging instruments. Changes
in the fair value of these derivative instruments are
recognised immediately in profit or loss with ‘Other
(losses)/gains, net'.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.13 Inventories 213 &

Inventories are crude oil and consumables and spare
parts which are stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Materials and supplies costs are
determined using the first-in first-out method. Crude oil
costs are determined using the weighted average cost
method. The cost of crude oil comprises direct labour,
depreciation, other direct costs and related production
overhead, but excludes borrowing costs.

2.14 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. They are generally due for settlement
within one year and therefore are all classified as
current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See Note 15 for further information about the Group's
accounting for trade receivables and Note 3.1 for a
description of the Group's impairment policies.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held
at call with banks or other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

2.16 Share capital 2.16 A

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Mandatorily
redeemable preference shares are classified as
liabilities.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company's
equity share capital (shares held in trust), the
consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted
from equity attributable to owners of the Company until
the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such
ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any
consideration received, net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs and the related income
tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders.

Where the Company’s shares are acquired from the
market by trust under the employee share scheme, the
total consideration of shares acquired from the market
(including any directly attributable incremental costs) is
presented as shares held for employee share scheme
and deducted from total equity. Upon vesting, the
related costs of the vested shares for employee share
scheme purchased from the market are credited to
shares held for employee share scheme, with a
corresponding decrease in employee share-based
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compensation reserve for employee share scheme. Do
2.17 Current and deferred income tax 217 EHIRIEEFTEH

The tax expense for the year comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company’s subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to
be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated
statement of financial position. However, deferred
income tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, and
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilized.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)
Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements only to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary difference will reverse in the
future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred income tax
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities where
there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.18 Borrowings 218 &R

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

2.19 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

2.20 Trade payables

2.21

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised, when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount
can be reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.21 Provisions (Continued) 2.21 24 (&)

Asset retirement obligations (including future
decommissioning and restoration) which meet the
criteria of provisions are recognised as provisions and
the amount recognised is the present value of the
estimated future expenditure determined in accordance
with local conditions and requirements, while a
corresponding addition to the related oil and gas
properties of an amount equivalent to the provision is
also created. This is subsequently depleted as part of
the costs of the oil and gas properties. Interest expense
from the assets retirement obligations for each period
are recognised with the effective interest method
during the useful life of the related oil and gas
properties.

2.22 Employee benefits

(a) Defined contribution plan

The Group has various defined contribution plans
for state pensions, housing fund and other social
obligations in accordance with the local conditions
in the PRC and practices in the municipalities and
province in which they operate. A defined
contribution plan is a pension and/or other social
benefits plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and
will have no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits
relating to employee service in the current and
prior periods. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

2.22 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Other post-employment obligations

Some group companies provide post-retirement
healthcare benefits to their retirees. The
entitlement to these benefits is usually conditional
on the employee remaining in service up to
retirement age and the completion of a minimum
service period. The expected costs of these
benefits are accrued over the period of
employment using the same accounting
methodology as used for defined benefit pension
plans. Actuarial gains and losses arising from
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are charged or credited to equity in
other comprehensive income in the period in
which they arise. These obligations are valued
annually by independent qualified actuaries.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or when an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a)
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits; and (b) when the entity
recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of
termination benefits. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the
number of employees expected to accept the
offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.22 Employee benefits (Continued) 222 EERTR (&)
(d) Employee leave entitlements (d) EERHERE
Employee entitlements to annual leave are EENFREREMRI RS
recognised when they accrue to employees. A ZERERNER EESIEH
provision is made for the estimated liability for Bk M E A/ FREEE
annual leave as a result of services rendered by B MEBEEZEEEAEXRBIL
employees up to the balance sheet date. fEH2ER -
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity & 8 Y7 R 2 AN 2 R AE AR
leave are not recognised until the time of leave. BT ERER °
2.23 Shared-based payments 223 U AERNIM
(a) Equity-settled share-based payment (a) UEZEENROHE

transactions

(i) Employee stock option (i) ESRZERE

The Group operates a number of equity- REBRE ZIHEAE S

settled, share-based compensation plans, HEE - AR AERD

under which the entity receives services WENET 2] - RIFZ ST

from employees as consideration for equity 2l FREEEEN R

instruments (options) of the Group. The fair FEUAEABRNEEREZ T

value of the employee services received in B () MWEE - ER

exchange for the grant of the options is BREVER T HEmiE
recognised as an expense. The total amount HIRE AR BERER
to be expensed is determined by reference BER BIEEBRN
to the fair value of the options granted: REELER T HIED
AABEERE :

e including any market performance e DBREMAMMEHHE
conditions (for example, an entity’s B (BN =28
share price); KIS )

. excluding the impact of any service . T 6 5 M o] iR 75
and non-market performance vesting MIETIH ELE A
conditions (for example, profitability, TR (Bl &
sales growth targets and remaining an Fee - HEWL
employee of the entity over a specified REENMEERE
time period); and EEERAAASZ

FER ) NZE:
&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

2.23 Shared-based payments (Continued)

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

(i)

Employee stock option (Continued)

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement
for employees to save or holding
shares for a specific period of time).

In addition, in some circumstances
employees may provide services in advance
of the grant date and therefore the grant
date fair value is estimated for the purposes
of recognising the expense during the period
between service commencement period
and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-marketing performance and
service conditions. It recognises the impact
of the revision to original estimates, if any,
in profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the shares
under exercise are transferred from trust
under employee share scheme to
employees. The proceeds received net of
any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share premium.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

2.23 R RER A (&)

(a)

DU AN RO ME (8

(i)

ESIKEHIHE (&)

s BEEMEATT
R (PIEnARE
BEMENE—
BRI A
BRI R E -

W5+ AEREAERT
R AR A
BB GRS - B IR
B A A R
AR D046 B 1 2
2 BRI R
ox

EEEBEHR A%
BUIKIRIFFEHMISREA
AR R AHERT B8
HIR[{THER BB B &Y
st - RIBa P MRS
RIEEERT (E) B
£ YHEaEHAR

FEHREITER - RIEE
BrRERTE - 21T
Bty BB ErEEEs
BE - "RRETH
B o U BR B BT 1S KA RR
TIEERBRIZRA
BABRARGE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FEIIE SRR ()

2.23 Shared-based payments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

(ii) Share award scheme

The fair value of shares granted to
employees for nil consideration under stock
incentive compensation plan is recognised
as an expense over the relevant service
period, being the year to which the bonus
relates and the vesting period of the shares.
The fair value is measured at the grant date
of the shares and is recognised in equity in
the share-based payment reserve. The
number of shares expected to vest is
estimated based on the non-market vesting
conditions. The estimates are revised at the
end of each reporting period and
adjustments are recognised in profit or loss
and the share-based payment reserve.

Cash-settled share-based compensation

Compensation under the stock appreciation rights
is measured based on the fair value of the liability
incurred and is expensed over the vesting period.
The liability is remeasured at each reporting period
to its fair value until settlement with all the
changes in liability related to the vested portion
recorded as employee benefit expense in profit or
loss, the related liability is included in the salaries
and welfare payable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

2.23 Shared-based payments (Continued) 2.23 U AERN I (E)

(c) Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as
an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity accounts.

2.24 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of
discounts returns and value added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities, as described below.

Accounting policy on the recognition of sales income:

Revenue is recognised upon the satisfaction of
performance obligations, which occurs when control of
the good or service transfers to the customer.

Control can transfer at a point in time or over time. A
performance obligation is satisfied over time if one of
the following criteria is met:

— The customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits of the entity's
performance as the entity performs (e.g., certain
services).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.24 W AR (&)

— The entity’'s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls.

— The entity’s performance does not create an asset
with alternative use to the entity and the entity
has an enforceable right to payment (cost plus a
reasonable profit margin) for performance
completed to date.

A performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time if
it does not meet one of the criteria above.

All revenues of the Group are recognised at a point in
time.

2.25 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
and financial assets at FVOCI is calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
part of other gains/(losses).

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes (see Note 28 below). Any other
interest income is included in other gains/(losses).

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

2.26 Dividend income 2.26 BRAI W=

Dividends are received from financial assets measured
at FVTPL and at FVOCI. Dividends are recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right to receive
payment is established. This applies even if they are
paid out of pre-acquisition profits, unless the dividend
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of an
investment. In this case, the dividend is recognised in
OCI if it relates to an investment measured at FVOCI.
However, the investment may need to be tested for
impairment as a consequence.

2.27 Repairs and maintenance

Repairs and maintenance are recognised as expenses
in the year in which they are incurred.

2.28 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

The Group leases various offices and cars. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants, but leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.28 Leases (Continued) 228 fHE (&)

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for
leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it
has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

2.28 Leases (Continued) 2.28 HE (&)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability. The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case for
leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases
held by the Group, which does not have recent
third party financing, and makes adjustments
specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency
and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate,
which are not included in the lease liability until they
take effect. When adjustments to lease payments
based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability
is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use
asset. Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit
or loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

2.28 Leases (Continued) 228 fHE (&)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs, and restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group
is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in
obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the underlying asset and recognised as
expense over the lease term on the same basis as
lease income. The respective leased assets are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position based
on their nature. The Group did not need to make any
adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor
as a result of adopting the new leasing standard.

EREEERKAGE 81

s THEARBEMIATESHE:

s HEHEHFAMBHZATM
B E BN B e B 0 AR
SRR

o VIREREBERIARERKAE

ERREE-—REEENERSSD
HIEEHMENENAENIZER
ERHRITE - MAKESEEE S
TEBEER  AESNEEMNER
SoHRAHEREEEER
o

HEREMERAE RS REN N
REREREERSER AR
moMHMHEREHEHER /12
A&/ R12EANHEE -

AEBEREEARINELHEE
WAEMRERARRERERER S
A REREEEEMBELNIS
ERBMAARHNEENRES
B WHEBERRRREEEIA
HRNERERRER -HEEE
BEMEEAHUBRIERD T
e ARERATHHNBEEEL
AmEREERHHEARENEE
HE TR M E A -

2020 &3k



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

2.29 Dividend distributions

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’'s and the
Company's financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Company's
shareholders.

2.30 Segment reporting

3.1

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors
of the Company (Note 5).

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, fair
value interest rate risk, oil price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the Company
headquarter financial department (“Group Finance
Team”) on a regular basis under policies approved by
the Board of Directors. Group Finance Team identifies,
evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-
operation with the Group’s operating units. The Board
of Directors provides written principles for overall risk
management, as well as written policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial
instruments and non-derivative financial instruments,
and investment of excess liquidity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk

(i)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the Hong Kong
Dollar (HK$). Foreign exchange risk arises
when future commercial transactions or
recognised assets or liabilities are
denominated in a currency other than the
entity’s functional currency.

The Company was exposed to non-cash
foreign exchange risk arising from
retranslation of HK$ denominated
borrowings from third party while the
functional currency of the Company is US$.

At December 31, 2020, if US$ had
weakened/strengthened by 1% against the
HK$ with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s pre-tax loss for the year ended
December 31, 2020 would have been
RMB10.2 million lower/higher respectively,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/
gains on translation of HK$ denominated
borrowings.

Fair value interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from
borrowings, including senior notes and loans
from financial institutions. Borrowings and
senior notes issued at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
During year 2020, the borrowings and senior
notes carrying fixed rates were denominated
in US$ and HKS.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SRR AT (48)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Fair value interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group analyses its interest rate
exposure on a dynamic basis. Various
scenarios are simulated taking into
consideration refinancing,
existing positions and alternative financing.
Based on these scenarios, the Group
calculates the impact on profit and loss of a
defined interest rate shift. For each
simulation, the same interest rate shift is
used for all currencies. The scenarios are run
only for liabilities that represent the major
interest-bearing positions.

renewal of

The Group has no material interest bearing
cash assets. The Group's income and
operating cash flows are substantially
independent of the changes in market rates.
The Group’s interest rates risk arises from
borrowings. A detailed analysis of the
Group's borrowings, together with their
respective effective interest rates and
maturity dates, are included in Note 25.

Oil price risk

The Group is engaged in crude oil
development, production and selling
activities. Prices of crude oil are affected by
both domestic and global factors which are
beyond the control of the Group. The
fluctuations in such prices may have
favourable or unfavourable impacts to the
Group. Therefore the Group was exposed to
general price fluctuations of crude oil.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

(i)

Risk management

As the majority of the cash at bank balance
is placed with major PRC state-owned banks
and financial institutions, the Directors are of
their opinion that the corresponding credit
risk is relatively low. Therefore, credit risk
arises primarily from trade and other
receivables. The Group has controls in place
to assess the credit quality of its customers
and closely monitor significant
counterparties and dealing with a broad
section of partner’s that diversify risk within
the sector. The carrying amounts of cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposits,
amounts due from related parties and trade
and other receivables included in the
consolidated statements of financial position
represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk. At December 31, 2020 and
2019, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk for its cash and
cash equivalents.

During the year ended December 31, 2020,
the Group has one customer in China which
accounts for 99.6% (2019: 78.4%) of the
Group's revenue and as such, has
concentration of credit risk for its trade and
other receivables. However, the Group
regards it as low risk as the customer in
China is PetroChina Company Limited
("PetroChina”), a PRC state-owned
enterprise with high credit rating in China
who have credit ratings which are deemed
acceptable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets
that are subject to the expected credit loss
model:

° trade receivables

° other financial assets at amortised cost

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BEHRRNE (8)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets

(Continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance was
determined as follows for trade receivables:

As at December 31, 2020
Expected loss rate
Gross carrying amount

— trade receivables
Loss allowance

As at December 31, 2019
Expected loss rate
Gross carrying amount

— trade receivables
Loss allowance

R2020E 128318
EHEREAE
REAE

— YRR
BARE

R2019% 128318
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— e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB HRRNE (8)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Movement of loss allowance of trade

receivables is as follows:

Loss allowance

As at January 1,

Increase in the loss allowance
recognised in profit or loss
during the year

Recovery of receivables written
off during the prior periods
received in current year

Receivables written off during
the year as uncollectible

Unused amount reversed

As at December 31,

Trade receivables are written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
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Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses on
financial assets within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against
the same line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost
include amounts due from related parties
and other receivables.

Movement of loss allowance for other
financial assets at amortised cost is as
follows:

Loss allowance BREE

As at January 1, 2019 M20196181A0

Increase in the loss allowance AEEF AERE
recognised in profit or loss BAEBRE M
during the year

Receivables written off during REEZERNEE
the year as uncollectible Wi lel o I3

Unused amount reversed ERMAREHE

Exchange differences PN EH

As at December 31, 2019 R20194612A31H
Increase in the loss allowance REFFABRMERX
recognised in profit or loss BRI

during the year

Recovery of other receivables
written off during the prior
periods received in current year

IRAE R AR [ Y 3] 69 LA A
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Receivables written off during REEZERNEE
the year as uncollectible U5 ] &9 LR

Unused amount reversed ERMARESHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

Expected credit losses of other financial
assets at amortised cost are determined
based on general model.

For other financial assets at amortised cost,
the Group considers the probability of
default upon initial recognition of an asset
and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk, the company compares the risk
of default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially
the following indicators are incorporated:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

° external credit rating

° actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
counterparties’ ability to meet its
obligations

° actual or expected significant changes
in the operating results of
counterparties

° significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
counterparties

For financial assets that have low credit risk
or no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group measures the
ECLs with reference to certain external
credit ratings of the counterparties or
comparable companies and market data of
loss to the recovery rates. For financial
assets that have significant increase in credit
risk or have been impaired, ECLs are based
on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective
interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

Other receivables are written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on other receivables are
presented as net impairment losses on
financial assets within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

Liquidity risk
Management aims to maintain sufficient cash to
meet funding requirement for operations and

monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s cash on
the basis of expected cash flow.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FEIIE SRR ()

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

As described in Note 2.1.1, the Directors closely
monitors the Group’s cash flow projections, which
cover a period of not less than twelve months
from December 31, 2020, to enable it to meet its
liabilities and obligations through:

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

the Lenders and the Noteholders not taking
any actions against the Group to exercise
their rights to demand immediate payment
of the principals and interests of the Cross-
Defaulted Borrowings and the 2022 Senior
Notes before the finalisation of the Debt
Restructuring Plans and execution of the
Restructuring Agreements;

successfully securing the required agreement
of the Lenders and the Noteholders and
completion of all necessary procedures by
the Group for the Restructuring Agreements
to be executed; and the Group's ability to
continuously comply with the terms and
conditions stipulated therein upon execution;

actual oil prices throughout the forecast
period being in line with the projected levels
included in the cashflow projections; and

the Group's ability to generate operating
cash flows and to obtain additional sources
of financing, other than those mentioned
above, to finance the Group’s oil exploration
and production business, including capital
expenditures needed to drill new wells, as
well as other funding needs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below analyses the Group's non-
derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period from the
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity
date. As the amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows, these
amounts will not reconcile to the amounts
disclosed on the consolidated statement of
financial position for borrowings.

As at December 31, 2020

Borrowings

Interest payable on borrowings

Trade and note payables

Provisions, accruals and other
liabilities

Lease liabilities

As at December 31, 2019

Borrowings

Interest payable on borrowings

Trade and note payables

Provisions, accruals and other
liabilities

Lease liabilities

R20205F12A 318

&R

BRFE
ENESRENRE
2 BRREMAR

R2019F12A 318

&R

BRFE
ENESRENRE
B BRREMAR

HEAR
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3.1 MBEREZ(E)

1,832,831
413,625
386,076

162,191
10,180

(c) REIMERE(H)

FTEERBERBRERD
F AR - RIBRE HRE
=4 R B B R &4 2 #
e ARKRTFRENEER
BARIRAEMF S H R
FHRASRE  ZFTHRE
VRGBSR R R R
SR B — -

396,248 1,732,846 =
254,469 66,612 =
81,470 = =
= = 217,077
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

3.2 Capital management 3.2 EXEE

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to AEENEARAETERE  2REAR
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going EEERHELE  AAKRERED
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and AN A E TR B IR FZS
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an RR SR RENEAREEOREE
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. AL o

The Group monitors capital on the basis of Debt over REB S B R AT Z &R F
EBITDA. Debt is calculated as total borrowings including (LA ESTE [EBITDA]) b & A B
“current and non-current borrowings”as shown in the EREHER - EHEENBRERE
consolidated statement of financial position. EBITDA is (BHEASFBARERTYIRE [
determined as loss before income tax from continuing B NRIETRBIE R ]) - EBITDAZ R
operations, before finance income, finance cost and BREITISUIA - BIFSEB R - e - i
depreciation, depletion and amortisation. FE RS AT AR R B A & BUBR T

BHAER -

The Debt over EBITDA ratios were as follows: & 7% 48 58 BEA EBITDA BV tb, 3R 31| & 4n
T
2019
RMB'000
ARETIT
Total borrowings (Note 25) ez (ML 25) 3,999,267
Loss before income tax % B 554 Al B 18 (1,398,673)
Finance income (Note 28) BAFSUR A (M9 5 28) (42,518)
Finance cost (Note 28) B 758 A (H:E28) 605,803
Depreciation, depletion and W& - PriE s
amortisation 348,751
EBITDA EBITDA (486,637)
Debt over EBITDA ratio B 4858 E2 EBITDA R bt 3R (8.2)
The Debt over EBITDA ratio changes from negative 8.2 B4R EEBITDAM L RIEE 8.2
to negative 14.9 was mainly due to the increase of THBREE14.9 TZHRYBER
finance costs, as compared to year 2019. 82019 FE B Pt & B Ay o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

3.3 Fair value estimation

Financial assets and liabilities

(i)

Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses the Group's financial
instruments carried at fair value as at December
31, 2020 by level of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Such
inputs are categorised into three levels within a
fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The following table presents the Group's financial
assets that are measured at fair value.

Financial assets
As at December 31, 2020
Financial assets at FVOCI

— Equity investments (Note 13)

As at December 31, 2019
Financial assets at FVOCI

— Equity investments
— Debt investments

SREE

12020512 A31R
AR EEGZEEES
s AE R A Eh)
TRAE
—ERRE (MFE13)

R2019F 128318
AR BEFEAEEY
STAR MR WEE
TREE
—EnRE

— ERRE

There were no transfers between level 1, level 2
and level 3 during the year.

3.3

D EEMSE (8
ERMEENTHEAE (E)
(i) RAEEERE)

TREJNAEBUARAER

SHEOHSMERE -
= 41,491 41,491
= 2,263 2,263
= 43,754 43,754

REEFEE—EMR F_E
AAR B =B RE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the end of reporting period. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices
are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group,
pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm'’s
length basis.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation technigues maximise the
use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2. If one or more of the significant
inputs is not based on observable market
data, the instrument is included in level 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

(c)

Financial instruments in level 3

With respect to the level 3 fair value
measurement for the Group’s financial
assets at fair value that are unlisted equity
investments and debt investments with no
active market exists, the Group's finance
department benchmark to the market price
of certain comparable listed companies
within the same or similar operation/industry
and apply certain adjustments/discount for
non-marketability. At December 31, 2020,
the Directors are of their opinion that there
is a wide range of possible fair value
measurements and cost represents the best
estimate of fair value within that range.

3.3 AREEME (F)

TRHEENSREE (8

(i) RREEERE)

(c)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SRR AT (48)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(ii)

Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values

Specific valuation techniques used to value
financial instruments include:

o the use of quoted market prices or dealer
quotes for similar instruments.

o other valuation techniques, such as binomial
model is used to determine the fair value of
the share based payment, and market
approach is used to determine the fair value
of the equity investment in common shares
of unlisted company accounted at FVOCI.

Valuation process

The valuations as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively, performed by independent
professional valuer was adopted by the Group for
financial reporting purposes, including the equity
investment at FVOCI accounted for as level 3 fair
values. The external experts report directly to the
CFO.

The main level 3 inputs used by the Group are
derived and evaluated as follows:

o Enterprise value/proved and probable
reserve multiples (“EV/2P reserve”) used in
the valuation of the common shares of
unlisted company are estimated by making
reference to comparable trading multiples.

° Discounts for lack of marketability (“DLOM")

are estimated based on European Put
Option model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(ii)

Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values (Continued)

Valuation process (Continued)

Changes in level 3 fair values are analysed at the
end of each reporting period during the valuation
discussion between the CFO and external experts.
As part of this discussion the external experts
presents a report that explains the reason for the
fair value movements.

3.3 AREEME (F)

TRHEENSREE (8

(ii) G2 AAEE AL E R
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Range of inputs
SHEH
Relationship of significant

Fair value at
RTSIBBAAEE
Significant
December 31, un-observable
Description 2019 inputs*
20194 B
it 12A318 ARz
RMB'000
NS W
Equity investment in 41,491 EV/2P reserve
common shares of multiples
the unlisted company EEE/FH
B3 EmARERR RAK#E
HERRE T
DLOM
BT E
* There were no significant inter-relationships between

unobservable inputs that materially affect fair values.

December 31,
2019

20196
12H318

6.68

18%

un-observable inputs

to fair value
FUBR2HANAEE
HEER

December 31, 2020:
Increased EV/2P reserve multiples
(1), would increase the fair value
by RMB4.2 million. Increased
DLOM (5%), would decrease the
fair value by RMBO.6 million.
20206128318 :
PEEE/ FARIREEREA
B BHARBEENARE
42BBT - REMITEAR5%
BEYRABEALARK06EE
o

December 31, 2019:
Increased EV/2P reserve multiples
(1), would increase the fair value
by RMB7.6 million. Increased
DLOM (5%), would decrease the
fair value by RMB2.8 million.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of
accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal
the actual results. Management also needs to exercise
judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates

(a)

Oil and gas reserves

Estimates of oil and gas reserves are important in
the Group’s investment decision-making process.
They are key elements in determining the
depreciation, depletion and amortisation and
testing for impairment of oil and gas properties
and mining rights. Proved and probable developed
producing oil and gas reserves estimates are
subject to revision, either upward or downward,
based on new information, such as from
development drilling and production activities or
from changes in economic factors, including oil
prices, production volume, contract terms,
development plans, etc.

The Group’s oil and gas properties and mining
rights are depreciated on a unit-of-production
basis using the estimated reserves (Note (b)
below). A reduction in the estimated reserves will
increase depreciation, depletion and amortisation
charges of oil and gas properties and mining
rights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Oil and gas reserves (Continued)

Oil and gas reserves are also used in assessing oil
and gas properties and mining rights for
impairment (Note (c) below). Proved and probable
developed and undeveloped reserves are used to
estimate future production volumes in the cash
flow model for the purpose of assessing the
recoverable amounts. A significant reduction in
the estimated reserves would be considered as a
possible impairment indicator, which may further
require an impairment assessment.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization of
property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets

In addition to the depreciation, depletion and
amortisation of oil and gas properties and mining
rights using the unit of production method based
on the estimated reserves as disclosed in Note 2.6
and 2.8, management of the Group determines
the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation, depletion and amortisation charges
for other property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions, that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of
intangible assets. Management will adjust the
estimated useful lives where useful lives vary with
previously estimated useful lives.

4.1 BBgEEFHEE ()

(a)

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SRR AT (48)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment, including oil and
gas properties, and intangible assets are reviewed
for possible impairments when events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amount
of a cash generating unit (“CGU") is determined
based on the higher of value-in-use (“VIU") and
fair value less cost of disposal (“FVLCOD"),
calculations of both require the use of significant
assumptions. Determination as to whether and
how much an asset is impaired involve
management estimates and judgements such as
forecast crude oil prices, forecast production
volumes, forecast operating costs and capital
expenditures and discount rates. The Group uses
all readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of
recoverable amount, including estimates based on
reasonable and supportable assumptions of
forecast crude oil prices, forecast production
volumes, forecast operating costs and capital
expenditures and discount rates.

Asset retirement obligations

Provision is made when the related environmental
disturbance and present obligations occur, based
on the net present value of estimated future
costs. The ultimate cost of environmental
disturbances, asset retirement and similar
obligation are uncertain and management uses its
judgment and experience to provide for these
costs over the life of operations. Cost estimates
can vary in response to many factors including
changes to the relevant legal requirements, the
Group’s related policies, the emergence of new
restoration techniques and the effects of inflation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

TSR AT (8)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates (Continued)

(d)

Asset retirement obligations (Continued)

Cost estimates are updated throughout the life of
the operation. The expected timing of expenditure
included in cost estimates can also change, for
example in response to changes in reserves, or
production volumes or economic conditions.
Expenditure may occur before and after closure
and can continue for an extended period of time
depending on the specific site requirements. Cash
flows must be discounted if this has a material
effect. The selection of appropriate sources on
which to base calculation of the risk free discount
rate used for this purpose also requires judgment.
As a result of all of the above factors there could
be significant adjustments to the provision for
close down, restoration and clean-up costs which
would affect future financial results.

The Group currently operates mainly in PRC. The
outcome of environmental and other similar
obligations under proposed or future
environmental legislation cannot reasonably be
estimated at present, and could be material.
Under existing legislation, however, the Directors
of the Company are in their opinion that there are
no probable liabilities that are in addition to
amounts which have already been reflected in the
financial statements that will have a materially
adverse effect on the financial position of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

4.1 Critical accounting estimates (Continued)

(e)

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period.

4.2 Critical accounting judgements

(a)

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, apart from those involving estimates,
management has prepared the consolidated
financial statements on the assumption that the
Group will be able to operate as a going concern
in the coming year, which is a critical judgement
that has the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.
The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making a judgement by the Directors, at
a particular point of time, about the future
outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain. The Directors consider that
the Group has the capability to continue as a going
concern and the major events or conditions, which
may give rise to business risks, that individually or
collectively may cast significant doubt upon the
going concern assumption are set out in Note
2.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(a)

TSR AT (8)

Description of segment

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM") has
been identified as the Board of Directors and chief
executive of the Company who review the Group's
internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. The CODM has determined the
operating segments based on these reports.

The CODM considers the business performance of the
Group from a geographic perspective. There is only one
segment which is principally engaged in exploration,
development, production and sale of oil under PSCs in
the PRC. Management reviews the operating results of
the segment to make strategic decisions.

The measurement of results and assets of the operating
segment are the same as those described in the
summary of significant accounting policies. The CODM
evaluates the performance of the operating segment
based on profit/(loss) before income tax, depreciation
and amortisation, interest income, finance costs and
exchange gains/(losses) (the "EBITDA") and the
adjusted EBITDA. However, the CODM also receives
information about the segment revenue, segment
results, segment assets and segment liabilities as
below on a monthly basis.
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o AIEFL@%EEJ“*EE’JZ‘““W
R A E B R R

BEDENEBEREENTERE
HEESTBRBERATMAER -
FEEBRREBRBEBRIAGR 97
EXREE FEWA  BBERAK
FEN WS (BR)RNFE 5
8 ) ([EBITDA]) #1 #& 3 & B
EBITDAFE & & N EHIKRIR - B
= FEEERKETAESRE
INREIR S ZBURA ~ D ZDFIE A K
DEPEEMEBENEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

(b) Segment information to CODM (b) BRRHETELERAREND I
=31
The segment information provided to the CODM for the A 2RO EBIRMELEBLERR
reportable segment is as follows: ERDEERIIRAT ¢
EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA EBITDA F#& 8% 19 EBITDA

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A3MBLEEE

2019
RMB'000
ARETFT
Operating segment: LEDED
(Loss)/profit before income tax BrETSRLAT (&518), /FE 43,907
Finance income A (27)
Finance costs MsER 110,330
Depreciation, depletion and amortization & - 375 [ 2 4 342,081
EBITDA EBITDA 496,291
Share-based payment to employees BERCRE ST 2 TR B lRAS A AR 2,687
Impairment charges BEREERX -
(Reversal)/provision of impairment SREEREERKX
losses on financial assets, net (#@), FHE % E 1,160
Adjusted EBITDA KA EBITDA 500,138
Segment revenue and segment results 2 EBUYAFI B EBRIR
Year ended December 31,
BEZ12A31HLEE
2019
RMB'000
ARETT
Segment revenue 2 U 756,094
Purchases, services and other PRIE - RS K EAth
direct costs BEAAR (133,007)
Impairment charges BERERL -
Income tax expense Fri5%i & A (62,456)
Loss for the year REEIE (18,549)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AN
=P

(b)

(c)

M Fs R T (8)

Segment information to CODM (Continued)

Segment assets and segment liabilities

Total segment assets DEVEEHEE

Total segment assets include: DEPEELE
Property, plant and equipment TEE THMR&E
Intangible assets B EE

Decreases in non-current assets IEREEERD
Total segment liabilities DEE B

Reconciliation of segment information

A reconciliation of EBITDA to loss before income tax
from continuing operations is provided as follows:

Total EBITDA for reportable 7] 2 3} % ZBH EBITDA
segments &5t

Headquarter and others overheads BE R E AR BT

Finance income EURT N

Finance costs 7% & A

Depreciation and amortization expense T [ i# 44 2 M

Loss before income tax BRATB R AT E B

(b) RXBEREBEBRREND
=5 (#)

STHEENDSBAE

As at December 31,
M12A31H
2019
RMB'000
AREFT

1,980,084

1,677,627
78,980
(178,621)

1,834,547

(c) ZEEELY

EBITDA B B 4L & 3 D BR TS 51
ATE BRI T

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A3MBLLEE

2019
RMB'000
ARET T

496,291
(982,928)
42,518
(605,803)
(348,751)

(1,398,673)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

(c)

Reconciliation of segment information

(Continued)

Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total

assets as follows:

Total segment assets

Unallocated

Unallocated cash and cash equivalents

Other receivables
Others

Total assets per consolidated

statement of financial position

DREERE

RAE
APEHEE MRS EEY
HoAth FE UK

Hity

B BRER K
FirnEEAR

Reportable segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total

liabilities as follows:

Total segment liabilities

Unallocated
Unallocated borrowings

Provisions, accruals and other liabilities

Others

Total liabilities per consolidated

statement of financial position

DR ERE

KA B
RO BLIER
£ BREEMAR
Hitp

BHMBRRE
iR AR
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(c)

2 #BIE B ()

As at December 31,
M®12A31H

2019
RMB'000
ARET T

1,980,084

5,604
403,778
33,449

2,422,915

AE2FoMEBERARBEHNRALN
™

As at December 31,
M12A31H
2019
RMB'000
ARETT

1,834,547

2,940,359
382,608
OIe88

5,167,047



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

(d) Revenue from contracts with customers (d ZEFE&RKA

Year ended December 31,

HZ12A31BHLLEE

2019
RMB'000
ARETT
Entity-wide information TEEEER
Analysis of revenue by category W A3 8 Rl 5 AT
Timing of revenue recognition U A HE R B T
At a point in time e — B
— Sales of crude ol — HE R 741,459
— Provision of services and others — AR TS R H A 14,635
756,094
All of the Group's revenue is derived in the PRC during NEBARAEEFRA WK ALK G S
the year. 0
For the year ended December 31, 2020, total revenue HZE2020FE12 B31 BIFEE » &
from crude oil sales in the PRC are derived solely from &= B B B E A A
PetroChina. Crude oil sales revenues from PetroChina S ASHIR AR KA - FE
accounted for 99.6% of the Group's total revenue from 2020412 B 31 B IFFEEf{ Am
continuing operations (2019: 98.1%). A& 17 ER 1S 1 [ 5e Uk A1 7 2 (B 45 4
&2 B U A #999.6% (20194
98.1%) ©
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Year ended December 31, 2020
As at January 1, 2020

Exchange differences

Additions

Disposals

Impairment, net (Note ()
Transfers

Depreciation charge (Note (a))

As at December 31, 2020

As at December 31, 2020

Cost

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Net book amount

Year ended December 31, 2019
As at January 1, 2019

Exchange differences

Additions

Disposals

Disposals of subsidiaries
Transfers

Depreciation charge (Note (a))

As at December 31, 2019

As at December 31, 2019

Cost

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Net book amount

HZ20205 12831 ALEE
1202051 818

5=

i

BE

A 32 (FE ()

25

FEER (i ()

12020512 A31H

2020512 A31H
AR
R MERAE

REFE

HZ20195 12831 BLEE
M2019%1 718

B EE

0

BE

RETRA

32

FEER (i ()

R20195 128318
R2019% 128318

A
ZRTERAE

REFE
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Oil and gas
properties

HREE
RMB'000
AERTT

1,760,648

74,761

112,756
(311,790}

1,636,375

7,079,884

(5,443,609)

1,636,375

Buildings
and
improvements

BEM
e
RMB'000
AREFT

10,374

(4,929)

5,445

Vehicles,
office and
production
equipment
RE - BAZ
RER
EERME
RMB'000
ARETT

16,332
1,661
(81)
(449)

(4,252)

13,224

65,529

(62,305)

13,224

Construction
in progress

ERIE
RMB'000
ARBFT

16,376

120,750

(112,756}

23,370

23,370

23,370

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

Total

it
RMB'000
ARETT

1,798,839
13
197172
(81)

(449)

(317,080)

1,678,414

7,179,157

(6,500,743)

1,678 414



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BEHRRNE (8)

(a) Depreciation charge

— Charged to the statement of
comprehensive income

— (Capitalised in)/released from
inventories

(b) Asset retirement obligations

Provision for the year included in:
— Additions of oil and gas properties
(Note 24)

(c) Assets deployed under PSC

Assets directly used in and operated
under the Group’s PSCs with
China National Petroleum
Corporation (“CNPC") in the PRC

— Cost
— Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

(a) HEEA

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A3MBLLEE

2019
RMB'000
ARBTT
—FT ARG R

317,080

— (BXNMeA) /BEEE
1,173
318,253

(b) EERERK

Year ended December 31,
BE12A3MBLEE

2019
RMB’000
ARBTT
AFtRSBERSENANER
— Eneyim A E (FHEE 24)
73,378

(c) RERmDRERERANEE

As at December 31,

M12HA31H
2019
RMB’000
ARETIT
AEBEPBABRAREE
ERAR (R AMREE])
I HEmD KA R NEH B
HETAERAR
BRIEMEE
— B 7,165,598
— BEITERRE
(5,493,425)
1,672,173
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

(d)

Impairment losses

As at December 31, 2020, management has performed
an assessment of the CGU. The carrying value of the
CGU is compared against the recoverable amount,
which is the higher of value-in-use (“VIU") and fair value
less costs of disposal ("FVLCOD"). Based on the
assessment, recoverable amounts is determined as the
VIU.

In performing the impairment assessment, key
assumptions and input data adopted by the
management include forecast crude oil prices, forecast
production volumes, forecast operating costs and
capital expenditures and discount rates. Management
determined (1) the forecast crude oil prices based on
the approved financial budgets and also bench-marked
against a range of price forecasts published by various
reputable banks and industry organisations; (2) the
forecast production volumes based on management'’s
production plan and forecast production volume for the
remaining concession periods as set out in the reserve
reports; (3) the forecast operating costs and capital
expenditures based on its financial budget and business
plan; and (4) the pre-tax discount rate reflected specific
risks relating to the relevant business. The pre-tax
discount rate used in the calculations of recoverable
amount was 21.12%.

Based on the assessment, the Group recognised net
impairment charges on property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets of RMB480.5 million (Note 6) and
RMB26.2 million (Note 8) respectively for the year.
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(d)

B FE

20205612 A31H @ BB Y
REENETET TG - BEE
EXEITHEEEESRR K5
EITHE  BRAAEBEINRESE
AR SEEEAEBEMAL 7
AEEAERSE At EKRERE
=IREEREEETHET -

EEITRENGR - EEEMFER
R BRMEIE IR FRAERTE
B FEAES - TERIRIER BN
B HARITIRE - S8 EHEUA
TR © () ARBEHERN B TR
HRTE A R (B - WIRASEA
ZHVERITANS T AR BB ) TR B R
HERSE®ETZ2E  QBIES
EREBEFERSFE2NEHOFHRE
RN EREEENEMENESE
1TTE8 Q)R EBEAEEBETEERM
X5 E B RIERBIRE
SH ARG FERNTREA
BEITIR R - W BB AT IR R A ;0
BRERTT AR AR E R R o FEE A
Bl SRR EBREF ERANEA]
IR A21.12% °

R EURERE - AFEAEBEE
HIABE  BERRBAREFLE
EDRERT ARKE4805E5E T
UWEARE262H & THRER
K ABELRKIE6FIKIZES °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

As at December 31,

M®12HA31H
2019
RMB'000
ARETIT
Right-of-use assets ("ROU Assets”) FREEE
— Buildings —EE 11,839
Lease liabilities HEAE
— Current — 8,707
— Non-current — BB 4,738
13,445
(a) Disclosure of amounts recognised in the (a) BIEERREFEHREERE 165
financial statements as required under IFRS 16 WEREMERRABRRZNS
]
Year ended December 31,
BE12A31HLEE
2019
RMB'000
AREFTT
Additions to the ROU Assets FREEEL
— Buildings —RBE 15,960
Depreciation charge of ROU Assets FHREEENTEEZER
— Buildings —E=E 9,678
Interest expense (included in finance  F|8EH Gt AMKER)
costs) (Note 28) (FfE28) 2,615
Expense relating to short-term leases B34 EAFR SRR &
(included in administrative expenses) (St ABEEA) (X 29)
(Note 29) 8,386
Total cash outflow for leases AHEEAENRE ST 14,860
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

Year ended December 31,
2020

As at January 1, 2020

Amortisation charge

Impairment charges (Note 6(d))

As at December 31, 2020

As at December 31, 2020

Cost

Accumulated amortisation
and impairment

Net book amount

Year ended December 31,
2019

As at January 1, 2019

Disposal of subsidiaries

Amortisation charge

As at December 31, 2019

As at December 31, 2019

Cost

Accumulated amortisation
and impairment

Net book amount

Mining
Goodwill rights
BE BERREE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRL
BZ2020£12831A0
LEE
20201818
BHER
BEE L (fE6(d)
202012 A31H
H2020512A31H
5%
B LORE
REFE
BZ2019%12831A0
LEE
R2019F1 818 7,462 109,453
BRE AR (7,462) -
BHER - (15,428)
R2019%F12 A31H - 94,025
R2019512A31H
5% = 123,783
S ORE
- (29,758)
REFE - 94,025
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Software
L0
RMB'000

ARETTL

11,236
(6,764)
(4,472)

29,241

(29,241)

Technology
Bl
RMB'000
ARETTT

9,200
(8,280)
(920)

Total

M@t
RMB'000
ARBTT

137,351
(22,506)
(20,820)

94,025

153,024

(58,999)

94,025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BEHRRNE (8)

Year ended December 31,
BE12A3MALLEE

2019
RMB’000
ARETIT
As at January 1, ®W1B1A =
Additions 0 4,713
Impairment BB (4,826)
Exchange differences PEH =58 113
As at December 31, R12A31H =
(a) Details of investments in associate (a) BELEREFE
Place of business/ % of interest
country of held Measurement
Name of entity incorporation Principal activities indirectly method
e MEEE
NEER Mt TEEK BELGl BRERE
Palaeontol B.V. (“PBV") Netherlands Exploration and production of 40.0%  Equity
I8 oil in Kazakhstan through a%
associate
ARHEtEYAERERINE
MRREERM
(b) Fair value (b) AREE

PBV is a private company and there is no quoted market
price available for its shares.

(c) Contingent liabilities
As December 31, 2020, there are no contingent

liabilities relating to the Group's interest in its associate
(2019: Nil).

(c)

PBV &I LTAR] - EILERKR %R
AR EE AR TISER -

REEE
R2020%12 A31H » WEEAKRE

EEHECENTSABNRE R
E(20194F : &) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

(d) Summarised financial information (d)

Summarised consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

Revenue

Depreciation and amortisation expense

General and administration expenses

Taxes other than income taxes

Impairment charges

Others

Loss before income tax
Income tax credit

Loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year

ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

(d)

Summarised financial information (Continued) (d)

Summarised consolidated statement of
financial position

Current
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets

Total current assets

Trade payables
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current
Property, plant and equipment
Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

Total non-current liabilities

Net liabilities

BREHUBRRE

E
Re MREEHEY
H i nBh & E

RBEERE

PR RRIR
HipREH B E

TR ERRE
FRE
TEE - TRERE
HiIERBEE
FRBEERTE
FRBEERE

FAE

The information above reflects the amounts presented
in the financial statements of the associates adjusted
for differences in accounting policies between the
Group and the associates (if any), and not the Group’s

share of those amounts.

REMBEER (R

A EBUR RIR B 2 1 RO 53R
RAZINBR(AFAEEESR
HEHBENONE) UK AKHE
HE SR M BERNERE
HFEE(E)

2020 &3k



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

(e) Reconciliation of summarised financial (e) HEMBERNALG
information

Year ended December 31

HZ12A31BHLLEE

2019
RMB'000
ARKETT
Total st
At January 1, ®1A1A8 =
Loss for the year NEEE (488,829)
Currency translation differences INEEITE =R (93,435)
Closing net liabilities FRFEE (582,264)
Interest in associates el -
Carrying value REEE -
Joint operations HEKE
During the year ended December 31, 2020, through its B E2020F12A31HILEFE - A& E
subsidiaries, the Group has the following joint arrangements BBRTAAEANTHERLEER  H
which are accounted for as joint operation in accordance with BEREHBEREENENR[EEER
IFRS 11 “Joint arrangements”. lETAERKSE -
Daan and Moliging PSCs REZNEEESERDRER
As at December 31, 2020, the Group holds the entire 100% R2020612A31H  "EBEHRIFHAE
and 10% shares of the Foreign Contractor’s interests in the INTERBEARERDKERRER
Daan PSC and Moliging PSC, respectively. FEMAKAERBZE100% X 10% 5

Ll
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Joint operations (Continued)
Daan and Moliqing PSCs (Continued)

The Daan and Moliging oilfields had been in the commercial
production phase since 2005 and 2008, respectively, the
Daan and Moliging PSCs would expire after about eight years
in 2028. The Group conducts the development and production
activities under the Daan PSC and Moliging PSC jointly with
CNPC as a 100% Foreign Contractor and a 10% Foreign
Contractor respectively. The remainder 90% Foreign
Contractor of Moliging PSC is Riyadh Energy Limited (“Riyadh
Energy"”). These PSCs establish joint control over the
development and production activities. The assets are not
owned by a separate legal entity but are controlled by
individual participants in the PSCs. Each participant is entitled
to a predetermined share of the related output and bears an
agreed share of the costs.

On June 4, 2020, the Group successfully obtained approval
from its production sharing counterparty, CNPC, to extend
the expiry date of the production period from December 31,
2024 to February 29, 2028 on the condition that the Group
shall drill a minimum number of new wells in the Daan oilfield
as agreed within a period of three years from June 2020.

Pursuant to the respective PSCs with CNPC the annual gross
production of the crude oil shall, after payment for value
added tax and royalty, be firstly deemed as the cost recovery
oil and shall be used for cost recovery in the following
sequence:

(i) Payment in kind for the operating costs actually incurred
by Foreign Contractors and PetroChina.

(i)~ The remainder of the cost recovery oil shall, after
payment for the operating costs, be deemed as
investment recovery oil. Such investment recovery oil
shall be used for the simultaneous recovery of the pilot
test costs and the development costs incurred by
Foreign Contractors and predevelopment costs spent
by PetroChina in proportion of 20% by PetroChina and
80% by Foreign Contractors. The unrecovered costs of
the parties shall be carried forward to and recovered
from the investment recovery oil in succeeding calendar
years until being fully recovered.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

HEEE (&)
RZNEREEERDRERE (H)

A& FIE B & A M E & 32 5 5l 72 2005
2008 FEAEELEER - ALMEER
SREMDKE BHR2028FEH - &
FIF A RERELBSE - AEES 5
YEA100% A 10% Ky SN 5 & Rl - B
BHEBEREITALZERD KA R
EEHSEROKREARMNEEMMAEE B
BEEMDKE RMFEERE 90% 175K
INFEREAFNERERA R ([FIHES
BEIRD) - R EER DK AR
MEETSETERZS - BEEETDT
BREBREZEZER MOoBRERS
RERMEALEEET - FEERS
HERLEMBEDERBE LKA - I
AL EHIRADEE

R2020F6 A4H @ AEBERKIDKRE
EROKRERNEGESFABEEES
O - 154 E B A AR 2024 F 12 B
31HIERZE20284F2 A29H - AIZREA
EBEEEB2020F6 AR=FRNEARL
HARNERHFEIOENRIOEE -

REERAHEENHEBEROKA
Rl - RomHFEAESRESMIBER R
BEEREMAEER HELTHRE/EREK
o AR T AR AR E AR

i) BINTAERERTABRDERE
ERRIEBEREMNRK -

(i) B A EYOR e RIBR AR D SRR
R BRG/RELDYUH - %
& B o $% MR R Am A 2
1H20% K575 A R 53 1580% B
LBl - RFEWSINT & REES
R EEBHARYKA - FHEERRF
AR PR RT AR B o
FTAY77 R B U R AR A AR A5 e 2 B
BAFEFNRERYOH - WREH
Bl EERHOEWAILLE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

Joint operations (Continued)

Daan and Moliqing PSCs (Continued)

(iii)

After all pilot test costs and development costs incurred

up to that time have been recovered, the remainder of
the gross production of crude oil for that period is
referred to as profit oil and shall be allocated in
proportion of PetroChina 52% and Foreign Contractors

48%.

(iv)

The operating costs so incurred after the date of

commencement of commercial production shall be paid
respectively by PetroChina and Foreign Contractors in
accordance with the proportion of oil allocated to each

party.

Details of principal subsidiaries

Name

8

Directly held :
EERR

Gobi Energy Limited (“Gobi")

XERRAR ([Gobil)

MIE International Resources

Limited (“MIE ")
MIEBIR &R A (TMIE 1])

Country of  Type of legal
incorporation entity

EMRIBE EERRED

Cayman Islands  Limited liability
company
RS BREMAT
Cayman Islands Limited liability
company
RS BREAAT
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Principal activities and
place of operation

IREBREEHY

Production and sale of
oil in the PRC
ERREERNERMR

Production and sale of
oil in the PRC
ErEAERLER S

HERE ()
REZNEESERARER (&)
(i) EEHEEABRBAALHAEER
CU g - ZHAR R MEES ORI
o B AEAFE S ACHI B iz A
SR D 1552% RINF AR E D
5 48% Ay EL 7T D AL ©

(iv) BFREIFEEERMESRIREERR
SRR ARG RN & RIEE
ABD AL H T IAZ o

FEFLAFHE

Particulars of Proportion (%) of ordinary
issued share capital shares held by
EfR2HEAEE s BRI (%)
The The
Company Group
A7 &8
150,000 ordinary shares 100% 100%
of 1 US$ each
150,000 & @ -
BR-27
50,000 ordinary shares 100% 100%
of 1 US$ each
50,000 B -
BR—%1



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
SHIEHRERNFE(E)

As at December 31, 2020 R2020F12A31H

As per statement of financial BREMBEMRRE
position

Financial assets tREE

Financial assets at FVOCI (Note 13)  MAAREBE:TE EEE & A
B Al ane e E

(Ht5E13)
Trade and other receivables excluding  FEUBE 7k & H f FE Ut 0 -
prepayments (Note 14,15) TRERMR(HE14.15)
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 18) 4 kI &ZEM (Fit:18)
Restricted cash (Note 17) ZRHRE (FiE17)
As per statement of financial position RIB AR R T
Financial liabilities SRIEE
Borrowings (Note 25) Bk (Mi7E25)
Trade and other payables excluding FERTBR R R B AL ET SR - NEEE
non-financial liabilities (Note 23, 24) e R E (MI5E23, 24)
Lease liabilities (Note 7) HEAE(HFET)
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As at December 31, 2019

As per statement of financial
position

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVOCI (Note 13)

Trade and other receivables excluding
prepayments (Note 14,15)

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 18)

Restricted cash (Note 17)

As per statement of financial position

Financial liabilities
Borrowings (Note 25)

Trade and other payables excluding
non-financial liabilities (Note 23, 24)

Lease liabilities (Note 7)

R2019F 12318

REMBRARNEE

TREE

AR BiER &R HEE8E ALY
RalEn e mEE (IE13)

YRS R AT MER
TR (HH5E14,15)

ReRReEEY (HE18)

SBRHRE (FzE17)

TRAE

Financial
assets

at FVOCI
JAFVOCIE 2
RMB'000
ARETTT

43,754

43,754

HRIB B AR T

ek (BI5E25)

HERE(ME7)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

Other financial
assets at
amortised cost Total
HiSMEE
RERK A E asr
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL ARETT
- 43,754
511,309 511,309
13,711 13,711
46,213 46,213
571,233 614,987

Other financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
Hihemafs -
REEERA AR
RMB'000
ARETFT

3,999,267

AR R EMENR - B
rEemBE (23, 24)

831,546
13,445

4,844,258



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

TSR AT (8)

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2019
RMB'000
AREFT
Financial assets at FVOCI LAFVOCIGTENEREE
Equity investments at FVOCI LAFVOCI st E R RE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Unlisted company (Note (a)) JE_EM#E % (Note (a)) 41,491
Debt investments at FVOCI LAFVOCIGtEEERE
Non-current assets FIRBEE
Debt investment BRI E 2,263
(a) Equity investments which are not held for trading, and (a) AEEEVATEREE A B
which the Group has irrevocably elected at initial BEEWSBEP TUBRRNIER S
recognition to recognise in this category. These are MERES LR EEBNE
strategic investments and the Group considers this MR E  WEAREERAE—
classification to be more relevant. HERE o
On disposal of these equity investments, any related REELERIEER  LAREE
balance within the FVOCI reserve is reclassified to = B HE B AR MARE W
retained earnings. HBAKFBRBREEOEESESE
Bl o
(b) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive (b) FFAHMGZEEKENEE
income
Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLEE
2019
RMB'000
AREFTT
Losses recognised in other FTAEMAR A W ERHIIE R
comprehensive income (Note 21) (f37E21)
— Related to equity investments — R T A (3,428)
(c) Fair value, impairment and risk exposure () AREE-BERRRKO
Information about the methods and assumptions used BREEEALBEMERNER
in determining fair value is provided in Note 3.3. REFIHEBEE - F2RMTE33 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB HRRNE (8)

Other receivables
Amounts due from related parties
— Palaeontol B.V. (Note (e))
— Others
Loans granted to third parties
Other receivables
Consideration receivables
from disposals of subsidiaries
Deposits
Interest receivable
Advances to employees

Less: loss allowance (Note 3.1(b))

Prepayments

Prepaid expenses

Advances to suppliers

Less: loss allowance (Note (c))

H th FE UL 3K

FEUR B 75 5118
— Palaeontol B.V. (i (e))
— EAth

BYE=HNER

H fth fE U IR

FEURBR B T /A R AR 8 s 50

RAE &
FEU A B
BETHAT

B BRER (BEES.1(0))

BNRE
FHER
AR
B BRER (FIRE ()

Current MED
Non-current FERED
(a) The fair value of loans and receivables approximates to (a)

their carrying amounts.
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As at December 31,
MW12A31H
2019
RMB'000
ARETT

919,022
44,898
4,883
184,611

291,238
9,014

349
8,235

1,462,250
(1,012,315)

449,935

4,334
158,105
(155,975)

456,399

71,036
385,363

456,399

ERMERERO R EEERR
[ BRARAT -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Impairment and risk exposure (b) EEFE O
Note 3.1 provides details about the impairment of other G B E Ath fE U TR B B AN £ [ T R
receivables and the Group's exposure to credit risk. M EAEBES - Z2EMEE3.1 °
Movements on loss allowance of prepayments (c) FANBRFIELREHEEF
2019
RMB'000
ARETT
As at January 1, MH1A1H 153,417
(Write-off)/fprovision of loss allowance — (#%44) #HR182K & 2,558
As at December 31, MW12A31H 155,975
Provision and reversal of loss allowance of prepayment BNERBREFGNTIEMELE
have been included in ‘other (losses)/gains, net’ in the BIREES e laERD [Hin (18
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. K)o FEIA -
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting R#ER - RANERERKO R
date is the carrying value of each class of prepayments DA B3R B /= KR TR A S B A R UK
and other receivables mentioned above. HEREEE °
(d)
As at December 31,
R12A31H
2019
RMB'000
AREFTT
Amounts denominated in: UTHEBREN :
Us$ E 397,933
RMB ARE 52,002
449,935
The amounts due from Palaeontol B.V. consists of (e) FEUR Palaeontol B.V. KB B & %
shareholder loans and other receivables. The REFMEAMEURRME D - £
shareholder loans are unsecured, bear interest ranging REEREEERN  FNXR
from 4.9% to 5.0% per annum (Note 36) and maturing 4.9% 5)5.0% (M £36) © 9 5l R
in 2021, 2023 and 2036, respectively. 20214 - 2023 F 12036 F 35 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

As at December 31,

M12A831H
2019
RMB'000
ARETT
Trade receivables from: ERESK :
— PSC partner — EmDKEREERYE 60,508
— Third parties —%=h 866
61,374
Less: loss allowance (Note 3.1(b)) W BRERE (FIEE3.1(0) -
61,374
(a) Aging analysis (a) BREEDAT
As at December 31,
M®12A31H
2019
RMB'000
ARETT
Up to 30 days KRB 30 A 61,238
Over 180 days i@ 180 H 136
61,374
The Group grants credit terms of between 30 days to AEBERWERNERHAI0E
180 days. 180H °
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting REER - &ZAKERRRH A A
date is the carrying value of each class of receivables. SHEWRFRmEHE -
The Group does not hold any collateral as security. RNEEWRFEEMERMIEAER

3 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BEHRRNE (8)

(b) Fair values

The fair value of trade receivables approximates their
carrying amounts.

(c) Impairment and risk exposure
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to

measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

No loss allowance was recognised for trade receivables
during the current reporting period.

Note 3.1 provides details about the impairment of trade
receivables and the Group’s exposure to credit risk.

(d)

Amounts denominated in: DTR3EHARELN -

RMB AR

The inventories of the Group primarily represented
consumables and spare parts.

(b)

(c)

(d)

DIREE

YR A BEEEREA SR
FRAT

B Bz B i OO

AEBFRABERY B REELE
S B AR EREEREX
BNBE P/ FE U AR SR B (S B Bl 15 4B 1
HMIEHERRK -

RS B - ANER 18 4 R MR AR
EZER -

6 8 e Y BR ORUE K A 55 (B T B O
EREARFS - F2HMES3 -

As at December 31,
M12A31H
2019
RMB’000
ARETT

61,374

AEBNFETERBRBNETEM -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A M
EkPan

Non-current (Note (a))
Current (Note (b))

B Hs R T ()

FEmED (FiI5E (a)
@ (&t (b))

Since the effectiveness of the Supplemental Production
Sharing Contract (Note 2.1.1, Note 10), the Group is
required to make deposit into a special bank account at
pre-determined monthly amounts as approved by
PetroChina. The fund is set for future settlement of
assets retirement obligations. The usage of the fund in
that bank account requires approval of foreign
contractors and PetroChina.

A deposit of US$6.6 million (equivalent to RMB43.2
million as at December 31, 2020) was pledged as one
of the securities for a term loan facility of US$ 147.2
million entered between the Group and a third party on
June 8, 2017.
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As at December 31,
M®12A31H

2019
RMB'000
ARETT

46,213

46,213

BEfixERDKER(2EHE
211 10 BB AR - K&
BEZBREREHROHEIAN - 18
EHENAEGEREE TR —@
BRIBRITIRPFEAR S - 25E &
BEERREEZERB MR o
FFRRITIRERESMERT
LBINT A [RE KRB AR (D H it
A o

REBEE=F1R2017F6 A8H
FIVHEHERME147288E
TLA6.6 B BELRE S (12020
F12A31TBIMAARKA32EE
TIERER Lz — -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18. B RBEZEEY
As at December 31,
M®12A31H
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT ARETE

Cash at bank RITER 20,353 13,711

(a) (a)

As at December 31,

M12H831H
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT AR¥ETT

Amounts denominated in: DTR3E AN :
RMB AR 6,315 1,765
US$ ETT 13,816 11,733
Others HAith 222 213

20,353 13,711

MIEERERERAR /20205 221



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB HRRNE (8)

Number of
shares
B
Thousand
Thx
Ordinary shares, issued ERTIEHE
and fully paid: EBER:
As at January 1, 2019 M2019%F181H 2,938,697
Add: allotment of new shares il : A3 H AR 330,824
As at December 31,2019 2019 K
and 2020 202012 B 31H 3,269,421

Details of the equity-settled share option schemes, share
award scheme and cash-settled stock appreciation rights plan
adopted by the Company are as follows:

The share options, stock appreciation rights and share awards
granted generally vest over a two or three-year period
following a specified vesting commencement date. Typically,
the share options, stock appreciation rights and share awards
granted vest at each anniversary of the grant date within the
vesting period, subject to the participant continuing to be an
employee on each vesting date. The terms of share options,
stock appreciation rights and share awards granted will not
exceed ten years from the grant date.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Ordinary Share
shares premium Total
;&N R R E st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTRT

19,489 1,049,307 1,068,796

2,263 30,190 32,453

21,752 1,079,497 1,101,249

RARRBH AR ELE MR - 48
B (D AR & B MR (I ERE T8I
BEINT -

B e BB R ~ B B E AR A0 2R B A 4D
—RANEHERTEZROMFH=
FHETE - —REFH FAREOR
- IiniBERE RO EBESHFHA
MR T AR ESEEFL S H A ATTHE -
BRRTELECEESRETEB SRR
8 - R MEBRE - RO L ERMNER
BROMEBREEL B R T e@E+
£ o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BEHRRNE (8)

(a)

Stock incentive compensation plan (the “Plan”)

The Plan was adopted on November 20, 2009 with the
purpose of providing additional incentive to employees,
directors and consultants to attract and retain the best
available personnel for positions of substantial
responsibility.

Stock appreciation rights granted under the Plan

Stock appreciation rights R AP E

As at January 1, W1B1A8

Lapsed BEAK

As at December 31, M12B31H

As at December 31, MW12A31H
Expiry date 3HA

February 26, 2020 20202 A26H
November 20, 2025 202511 A 208
As at December 31, M12A31H
Exercisable AT

(a)

BROEBMETE (AT ERE
[Et&1)

NABESEERN 20094 11 A20H
TR IR B S5TE8 - B
BEABEZRE MBI IRE XIS
BEFNAIHAE Y AEES &
E AR REINER

et B E SN RO L ERE
2019
Average Stock
EXercise price appreciation
per share rights
13

TEEER  ROEERE

US$0.13 13,755,808
US$0.13 (12,901,164)

US$0.13 854,644
US$0.26 454,644
HK$0.01 400,000
864,644
864,644

2020 &3k



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB HRRNE (8)

(b)

Share option scheme under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules (the”Scheme”)

The Scheme adopted by the Company was approved by
shareholders on November 27, 2010 in accordance with
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose of the
Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to
selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group.

The Scheme R
As at January 1, M1A1H
Lapsed BAM
Granted BT
Cancelled HUH

As at December 31, M12A31H
As at December 31, W12A31H
Expiry date 3HA

May 15, 2029 20295 H 15H
As at December 31, M12B31H
Exercisable ATE
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(b)

ERLETRAUETLENBR
st 8 ([ RSt E )

BIEEMRANE+EE - B
217 2010F 11 B 27 B A RIAER
FrER#n - B ETEIMEBRNEAT
HASRBEELERMNETEERT
R VE A g R o

2019
Average
EXercise price
per share Options
4
TEESK i

HK$1.20 129,547,174
HK$0.895 (10,729,487)
HK$0.269 155,089,171

HK$1.20  (122,333,243)

HK$0.269 151,673,615

HK$0.269 151,673,615

50,624,538



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BEHRRNE (8)

(c)

2015 Share Award Scheme

Apart from above Plan and Scheme, to recognise the
contributions by certain grantees and to give incentives
thereto in order to retain them for the continuing
operation and development of the Group, and to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the
Group, the Board of Directors resolved to adopt the
2015 Share Award Scheme on January 6, 2015.

2015 Share Award Scheme 2015 F R 7 22 B =+ 2
As at January 1 and December 31, W1 81EHKX12H831H

As at December 31, M12HA31H
Expiry date ZH A
November 20, 2025 20254 11 A 20 H
January 25, 2028 202841 A25H

(c)

2015 F R P R B &l

B bt BR (9 SR BB < 5 B K B IR
B ARAREZTEER
20154 1 A6 B & 3 £ 4920154
R0 42 E) A8 - B 892 R AT E A
WA R4 T8E - A4
EENFEEEMBEEEBEEA
BA - TARERE—SEERS
BEAAAL o

2019
Awarded
Shares

KRR

6,300,000

2,300,000
4,000,000

6,300,000

2020 &3k



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

(d)

Fair values (d) AREE
Stock appreciation rights B% 17 18 B e
The fair value of stock appreciation rights is determined R IEERES A BERE = X&E
using the Binomial Model. The fair value and significant AT E2020F12 A31H
inputs into the model as at December 31, 2020 are as HARBEREZH AL RN
follows: T
2015
Grants
2015 &
BT
Stock
appreciation
rights
%13 12 {E R
2020
HK$
i
Fair value per unit BEITARER 0.11
Share price at grant date BT RRKRE 0.95
Fair value per share at period end HRBRALEE 0.12
Exercise price 1THE(E 0.01
Volatility (%) RE (B D) 79.65%
Dividend yield (%) REXR(BAL) -
Annual risk-free rate (%) FEERRAE(ESL) 1.78%
Remaining term (year) FIRRAARR (5F) 4.89
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

TSR AT (8)

Repurchased Currency
shares held translation
by trust reserve
B e
BERH ERE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT  ARETR
As at January 1, 2020 R2020%1518
Currency translation differences NEREEE
Change in the fair value of equity DA BEGEBREHHA
instruments at FVOCI (Note (a) EbirAEnER AL
MAEEED(H ()
Employees stock option scheme [ESBRERE
— value of employee sevices (Note 30) — EE R E(E (K3t 30)
As at December 31, 2020 R2020512831R
As at January 1,2019 R20195151A (89,976) (355,156)
Currency translation differences NEREEE = (69,103
Change in the fair value of equity AME [ERESECERIN
instruments at FVOCI (Note (a) Atrra RENERTAN
/Rﬁ EEEE (M) - -
Employees stock option scheme EEERIETE
— value of employee services —EERBEEHE0)

Note 30) - -
Disposal of subsidiaries RETATA - 106,474
As at December 31,2019 R2019%12A318 (89,976) (307,785)
(a) Financial assets at FVOCI

The Group has elected to recognise changes in the fair
value of certain investments in equity investments in
other comprehensive income, as explained in Note 13.
These changes are accumulated within the FVOCI
reserve within equity. The Group transfers amounts
from this reserve to retained earnings when the
relevant equity investments are derecognised

Share
based
payment
reserve

Bt
Xfri
RMB'000

ARETT

191,217

10,841

202,08

(a)

Safety Financial
fund assets at
reserve FvOCI Others Total
NAREE
fEEE L)
AR
72 GARKEN
Eofif SHEE 2 it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR
187,356 (13,336) (63,887) (143,782)
= = = (59,103)
= (3428) = (3428)
- - - 10,841
- = (1,050) 105,424
187,356 (16,764) (64,937) (90,048)
UAARBEFEEHSEHFTA
HiZeWEnNemEE
AR EE 13 P - AN BRI G

SR EN AR BEEEHEREH MW
ﬁé%m¢ NanEBEAERHE

FEARMERE WS RE E
MQ CEENEBERRT OB
FRE - BREESRERIEER
B ARERZHEREZNSEEA
Bfridas
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB HRRNE (8)

Deferred income tax assets:
— to be recovered after more than
12 months

Deferred income tax liabilities:

— to be settled after more than
12 months

Deferred income tax liabilities — net

(a) Movements of deferred income tax account

As at January 1,
Tax charged to continuing loss
(Note 31)

As at December 31,

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2019
RMB’000
AREETIT
EEFTBHREE :
— &R 1218 A& Uk El
816
EEFBHERE :
— BR12@ A% EE
(173,803)
EEFEHEE — F58 (172,987)
(a) EIEFTEHAREE
2019
RMB’000
ARETIT
M1B1H (114,068)
BRNSECEEIBER
(PfH#£E31) (58,919)
M12A31H (172,987)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

(b) Movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities, (b) ELEMIBEERABGENEHORE
(without taking into consideration the offsetting of EREHBUER BB EAIEKEE)

balances within the same tax jurisdiction):

Accelerated Asset

tax retirement
depreciation obligations Tax losses Total
HEAMRRE  EERERK B st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T N S ARETT ARBTT

Deferred income tax assets EEFREHEE
As at January 1, 2019 R2019€1818 600 2,669 166,547 169,816
Credited/(charged) to continuing ~ Utzs /(B F) IMSE LS
profit or loss BafEa 16 (294) (24,628) (24,906)
As at December 31, 2019 R20196€12A31H 616 2,375 141,919 144,910
Credited/(charged) to continuing I8/ (B ) REER &
profit or loss BaER - 5,057 (48,086) (43,029)
As at December 31, 2020 0202012 A 311 616 7,432 93,833 101,881
Accelerated Fair value
tax gains of
depreciations mining rights Total
REELAR
BB MR T EBERNS et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT

Deferred income tax liabilities  EZFIEHRERE
As at January 1, 2019 R2019F181H (256,520) (27,364) (283,884)

(Charged)/credited to continuing ~ (Bf), /Wi EER4

profit or loss ERER (37,871) 3,858 (34,013)
As at December 31, 2019 7H2019%F12H31H

(Charged)/credited to continuing ~ (Bf) N EEKL

profit or loss BamtER
As at December 31, 2020 72020512 A31H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB HRRNE (8)

(c) Deferred income tax assets not recognised

Deferred income tax assets RERIELEFBHREE

not recognised

Tax losses and temporary difference 73 f& 4 AT 15 45 8 HY) IS 1B AN

TRMEER

(c)

Deferred income tax assets AERIEIEFTSFHE &

not recognised

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carry-forwards and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit
through future taxable profits is probable.

Tax losses without recognition of deferred income tax
assets can be carried forward against future taxable
income. These losses amounting to RMB102.7 million
(2019: RMB102.7 million) will expire in 2021, RMBO0.6
million (2019: nil) will expire in 2025.

Trade and note payables FES R R B IR
Less: S
Non-current portion of trade and IEmEEMNER N EN R

note payables

Current RED

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

AERELEFEHEE

As at December 31,
M12A31H
2019
RMB’000
AREFTT

237,962

59,491

HREMEER A ENEREER
ERRELMEREENEE T
ARIBAR A] BE2E A O SR R FE AR B A1)
B IR A AR R IR IS F s R aR o

RERBLEMBHEENRIEEL
A AR IR PR EMFRFT1S5E « B R
FEiEeEARK 10275 87c(2019
F: ARB10278 & T) B R
2021 F R Hf - ARM06E & T
(20194 : %) 185 2025 G 5 H o

As at December 31,
M12H31H

2019
RMB'000
ARET T

460,245

(74,169)

386,076



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

(a) Aging analysis (a) BRERDAT
As at December 31,
MW12A31H
2019
RMB'000
ARBTT
Up to 6 months TiEB:E61E A 222,202
6 months—1 year 6IEAZE14F 93,183
1-2 years 12224 99,986
2-3 years 2E3%F 30,707
Over 3 years ZH34F 14,167
460,245
(b) Fair value (b) AAREE
The fair values of trade and note payables approximate ENERRENEENAAEERE
their carrying amounts. HIRMS AL -

(c) (c)

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2019
RMB'000
ARBT T
Amounts denominated in: UT5IEMREN:
RMB AR#K 460,245

2020 &3k



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB HRRNE (8)

Asset retirement obligations (Note (a))
Interest payable

Salary and welfare payable
Withholding and other tax payable
Other payables

Less: non-current portion of
— Asset retirement obligations
— Withholding tax payable

Current

(a) Asset retirement obligations

As at January 1,
Provision for the year (Note 6(b))
Accretion expenses (Note 28)

As at December 31,

As at December 31,

M12H31H

2019

RMB'000

ARETIT

BEZEE (K@) 86,264
FETFE 122,846
et & RAEF 84,615
RINA BT B H A FEAS 58,186
H b e~ 508 162,191
514,102

B IEREE D 2

—BEEEES (86,264)
— R EF (56,777)
(143,041)

e 371,061

(a) BEEEEHK

2019

RMB'000

ARETIT

R1A1H8 12,414

B F s (KRt e(b)) 73,378
HEER(WE28) 472
MW12H31H 86,264
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

(b) (b)
As at December 31,
MW12A31H
2019
RMB'000
ARKET T
Amounts denominated in: DRHEMREN :
RMB AR 120,526
USs$ e 385,191
HK$ oo 8,038
C$ n& 347
514,102
(c) Fair value (c) AREE
The fair values of provisions, accruals and other B EREEMEENAAER
liabilities approximate their carrying amounts. EAH BRTE S REARAT o

As at December 31,

®12A831H
2019
RMB’000
AREETIT
Current B

— 2022 Senior Notes (Note (a)) — 2022 BRI (5E (a) =
— On-Demand Borrowing (Note (b)) — BIREE B R (MEE (b)) 394,693
— Other loans (Note (c)) — HE(FI5E () 1,884,069
2,278,762

Non-current E17 %)
— 2022 Senior Notes (Note (a)) — 2022 B R EE (K15E (a) 1,720,505
1,720,505
3,999,267
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& Ot iR M ()

Note:

(a)

Senior Notes

2022 Senior Notes 2022 &% Zi% 13.75%  April 12, 2022

20224 H128

The 2022 Senior Notes was issued in April 2019 in the principal amount
of US$248.4 million bearing annual interest at 13.75% due on April 12,
2022. The 2022 Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited.

As detailed in Note 2.1.1, the Group did not pay the interest accrued on
the 2022 Senior Notes of RMB120.5 million (US$17.1 million) due on
April 12, 2020, which resulted in an event of default by the Group after
the expiry of the grace period to May 11, 2020. As a result, the entire
balance of the principal and related outstanding interest due on the
2022 Senior Notes became immediately repayable if requested by
Noteholders. This event of default also triggered the cross-default of the
On-Demand Borrowing (Note (b) below) and other loans (Note (c) below)
and immediate repayment of all such borrowings if requested by the
respective lenders (Note 2.1.1). Accordingly the outstanding principal of
the 2022 Senior Notes has been classified to current liabilities since the
occurrence of the event of default.

The Group is in discussion with certain Noteholders and the relevant
lenders for the Debt Restructuring Plans (Note 2.1.1). As at the date of
approving these consolidated financial statements, the Debt
Restructuring Plans have not been completed.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

fies -

(a)

BrRRE

As at December 31,

R12A318
2019
RMB'000
ARETTT
1,720,505
20228 R ZIER2019F4 %17 A& B

2484187+ FFIEKR13.75%  FIHA A
202244 128 °2022@ L ZEE B EH AN
WRHGMEHRXDHBRAE LT °

AP EE2.1.1 Bt - AN &R B R X (2020 F 4
A12 8 5| H#)2022(8 - R A FEETF1.2.1.205
BTARE(17108%%) ERAEEBER
20205 R 1M B ER AR BERERNE
o Bt REEFAAZRK - 20228%
SR A S MBBAREN SN2 BHE
S BIER - E—EXNFE MBS B T BIRE
15 5K (AT B 5E (o)) 0 E 4t B 5% (LA TR B 5
CNHRXEN  WEEERAREESR
ANEBE BN EEB I B E KW=
21.1) c Bt - BEEBLHEMHE 20228
EEBENARERSESBINTAREEE -

=

AEBIEEFUESKHEARBEERA
WESEETE (M5E2.1.1) - BEARES G
BREAEZ B - BEEEABRARTAK



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
SHIEHRERNFE(E)

Note: (Continued)

(b)

On-Demand Borrowing

The On-Demand Borrowing bears an interest of 8% per annum and is
wholly repayable by January 31, 2021. Pursuant to the loan agreement,
the lender has the right to demand immediate repayment of the
principal amount and any accrued interest during the terms of the On-
Demand Borrowing.

The On-Demand Borrowing was secured as set out below:

o Share charge over the entire issued share capital of MIE | held
by the Group

. Pledge over the Group's interest under the Daan PSC held by
MIE |

o Account charge over a bank account of the Group

o Other assets security and share charge

o Personal guarantees provided by Mr. Zhang Ruilin, Ms. Zhao

Jiangbo and Mr. Zhao Jiangwei.

The event of default of the 2022 Senior Notes on May 11, 2020 (Note
(a)) triggered cross-default of the On-Demand Borrowing and immediate
repayment of all outstanding balances if requested by the lender. As
detailed in Note 2.1.1, the On-Demand Borrowing was also
subsequently defaulted because of non-payment at the contractual
maturity date.

The Group is in discussion with certain Noteholders and the relevant
lenders for the Debt Restructuring Plans (Note 2.1.1). As at the date of
approving these consolidated financial statements, the Debt
Restructuring Plans have not been completed.

Bt - ()

(b)

BN RS R E K

BB EEBERFEF K AE8% + AR 2021 F1
A31AEE - BIRE K% - BERALELLEAD
B EEERFERRAGHEE AN EE A
EEAE REFFIE

BB (B AR T 5

AEEFFHMIE | 2FFAA

o AEEBBAME IBENRZERD
K& R TR ERER

o AEE R —EEREP
. HAO B EERMAEA

J RAARAE  EDRZ T RETHRE
A REEAER

7 _F T MY R (a) BT - 7420204F5 A 11 A %
ER2022 BAERBBOSHER T RGEER
BRORXEL  EERARLESR - A
REZSEXNEDRTSERLAEE -1
FisE2.1.1 it - REFERERERKRESE
FHAREE  MBERBENSTIE -

e EEREHEAHHEBIREREA
RARBE S ARITRS (HE2.1.1) - BLE
RAHMBREENEY B - EHEES)
R -

2020 &3k



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A M
= 7

B Hs R T ()

Note: (Continued)

(c)

Other loans

The other loans were secured as set out below:

o Pledge over the Group's interest under the Daan PSC held by
Gobi

3 Pledge over the Group's account receivable under the Daan PSC
held by Gobi

o Share charge over all issued share capital in an associate held by
the Group

o Pledge over the Group's other receivable from a third party

o Pledge over the Group's shareholder loan receivable from an
associate

3 A deposit of US$6.6 million of the Group (Note 17(b))

o Share charge over the entire issued share capital of Gobi and
certain other subsidiaries of the Group

The event of default of the 2022 Senior Notes on May 11, 2020 (Note
(a)) triggered cross-default of the other loans and immediate repayment
of all outstanding balances if requested by respective lenders. As
detailed in Note 2.1.1, other loans were also subsequently defaulted
because of non-payment at respective contractual maturity dates within
2020.

The Group is in discussion with certain Noteholders and the relevant
lenders for the Debt Restructuring Plans (Note 2.1.1). As at the date of
approving these consolidated financial statements, the Debt
Restructuring Plans have not been completed.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

fies -

(c)

(%)

HAtb K

HAEKIFE THIER
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£ 12022 BAEZIREN SR T HMER
RYEH - INRELBERNBEERARD
TR ZEERNEH ARG SEHTIAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

TSR AT (8)

Note: (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Effective interest rate and estimated fair value

Effective interest rate: BRI -
2020412 A31H
#2019% 12 A31H

As at December 31, 2020
As at December 31, 2019

Estimated fair value HErAREE :
7202012 A31H
©2019%12 B31H

As at December 31, 2020
As at December 31, 2019

The fair values of the 2022 Senior Notes are based on its closing prices
quoted on Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and are
within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy; On-Demand Borrowings and
other loans from other parties are based on the effective interest rate
from 8.00% to 36.00% and within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The 2022 Senior Notes bear fixed interest rates are not subject to

interest rate changes.

The Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows:

Amounts repayable
Within 1 year 161
Between 2 and 5 years 2EGF

FEHEBNSHE

BieE : ()

(d)

BEFIRUR G ALEE

On-Demand
Borrowing and

Senior Notes other loans Total
BB R AR
BERE R H AR st

(e)

13.75% 8.00% to 36.00% 8.00% to 36.00%
15.04% 8.00% to 25.58% 8.00% to 25.58%

117,050 2,065,387 2,182,437

1,090,757 2,278,762 3,369,619

2022 BAEZEN AR BESENEEH N
BEXGIHNBEREME  LERBEBRAR
BES—EB4#: RESERREMERRE
ENEEEFIR8.00% E36.00% © I 578 R
ARBEE=ER-

N

2022 B BEHEEHEEE - BTHHE
WD -

FEENERBFEMBENSTHOTIR :

On-Demand Borrowing

Senior Notes and other loans
BEES BB B R R AR
As at December 31, As at December 31,
H12A31H R12A31H

2019 2019
RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBFT
- 2,278,762
1,720,505 -
1,720,505 2,278,762
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB HRRNE (8)

25. BORROWINGS (Continued)

25. B (&)

Note: (Continued) BiaE - (48)
(f) (f)
As at December 31,
M12A31H
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETT
Amounts denominated in: SEUTSIEMREN :
us$ e 2,964,941 3,190,111
HKS ot 721,192 809,156
3,686,133 3,999,267

26. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

26. HMtFIE (BX) FHE

Year ended December 31,
BE12A31HLEFE
2020 2019
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETTT

Losses on changes in fair value of SERMTANAABESEELX
financial instruments - (71,159)
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries BEFAREERIER - (21,197)
Others HAth 3,051 11,640
3,051 (80,716)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
SHIEHRERNFE(E)

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A3MBLLEE

2019
RMB'000
ARETIT
PRC: HhE
Urban construction tax and education WER KRB ME
surcharge 8,585
Others HAftb 86
4,021
Corporate and others: HEES R A
Withholding tax and others (Note) RN TR B2 EAth (BT ) 3,838
7,859
Note: B
During the year, all (2019: all) withholding tax is related to interest arising from RAEE - A (2019F : FiE) RINR AT & EE
the shareholder loans to PBV. BT PBV MIRR R &SR FTE £ M FI S ABRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BHIERERNFE(E)

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A3MBLLEE

2019
RMB’000
ARET T
Finance income 3N
Interest income FEWA 42,518
Finance costs B8 A
Interest expense at coupon rates FEBEA(RBREMFEZE) (499,791)
Amortisation of discounts ARIREE SN
— Asset retirement obligations — BEEEERF (M 24()
(Note 24(a)) (472)
— Others — Hih (105,167)
Finance charges for lease liabilities HEABHRBYBER (WE7)
(Note 7) (2,615)
Other fees =) (2,267)
(610,312)
Exchange (losses)/gains, net BE N (3825) Mz - R 4,509
(605,803)
Finance costs, net BEER  FE (563,285)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BEHRRNE (8)

Employee benefit expense (Note 30)
Depreciation and depletion
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 8)
Impairment of oil and gas properties and
mining rights (Note 6, Note 8)
Impairment charges on investments in
associates (Note 9)
Net impairment losses on financial assets
Auditor’s remuneration
Included in continuing operations:
— audit and audit related services
— non-audit services
Included in discontinued operations:
— audit and audit related services
Operating lease expenses

B T H A (PR 30)

FrERIFT#E

B EESH (FIES)

R B E MEE R R E
(KizE6 - KizES)

BaEtERERE (HE)

TREERERK
GRS
BEERELE

— Bt LB AR
— FEFERT IR
BEERIERE

— Bt LB
REHEE A

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A3MBLEE
2019
RMB’000
ARETT

143,367

327,931
20,820

4,826
698,154

5,236
625

1,330
8,386
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB HRRNE (8)

TE  #FeREM

Wages, salaries and allowances
Share options — value of employee

services (Note 21) (ff&E21)
Stock appreciation rights expenses P& {EHEE A

Pension costs — defined contribution RIRB AR — RIE
plans (Note (a)) (P 5E (a)
House allowance and other welfare = AL M E b E A

(a) Pension costs — defined contribution plans

The Group is required to make specific contributions to
the state-sponsored retirement plan at a rate of 16%
(2019: 16%) of the specified salaries of the qualified
employees in the PRC. The PRC government is
responsible for the pension liability to the retired
employees.
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B —EEBRBEE

efFatEl

(a)

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A3MBLEE
2019
RMB’000
ARETFT

113,766

10,841
833

11,013
6,914

143,367

RAESHRE — RERFTE

AEBFZEERTEEEREL
EH16% (20194 : 16%) A FXIA
TR TERRAENEBRKSE
gl FEBNBEZERKEERN
BESEME-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

(b) Five highest paid individuals of the Group (b) XEEBEERSHFAL

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A3MBLLEE

2019
RMB'000
ARET T
Five highest paid individuals hEEEHFAL
Directors = 3
Non-director individual EEEAL 2
5
The five individuals whose emoluments were the AEAREBRABTZRHFAL  Ef
highest in the Group for the year include directors EZABNHINE BEERMEST
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown HERIEEE= A B AREEMNOT B
in Note 37. The emoluments payable to the remaining T

non-director individuals during the year are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A3MBLLEE

2019

RMB'000

ARETIT

Salaries and allowances e MoER 6,100

Discretionary bonuses [l 13,914
Pension costs — defined contribution B{RE& AR — R EIRTFETE

plans 48

House allowance and other welfare 5 B R E MR 194

Share options expenses EiREER 1,597

21,853
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

(b) Five highest paid individuals of the Group (b) TEBREEESH AL (E)
(Continued)

The emoluments fell within the following bands: WEHME YA ESSHBENA -

Number of individuals

A
2019
Emolument bands (in HK$) ZriMeEEE (B T)
HK$3,500,001-HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7 7t -4,000,000 /& 7T -
HK$5,000,001-HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 77T -5,500,000 %8 7T 1
HK$6,500,001-HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 77T ~7,000,000 7% 7T -
HK$19,000,001-HK$19,500,000 19,000,001 78 75-19,500,000 7 7T 1
2
(c) During the financial year, none of the Directors of the (c) AEHFEEAM - BERAQEE
Company or the five highest paid individuals: ERhEmEETATER T Z2E
I8 :
(i)  received any emolument from the Group as an (i) WEERMEERMARSE
inducement upon joining the Group; = B ) 22
(i) waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments. (i) WNEF B NE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

Current income tax
Deferred income tax (Note 22)

(a)

= SR

Current income tax

The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated under
respective jurisdiction of the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands are exempted from payment of
local income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided as the Group did not derive any assessable
profits in Hong Kong during the year.

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law
promulgated by the PRC government, the tax rate
applicable to the Group’s subsidiary established in the
PRC and the PRC branches of the Group’s subsidiaries
is 25%. Corporate income tax in the PRC is calculated
based on the taxable profit of the Company or branches
established in the PRC.

Taxation has been calculated on the estimated
assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

PSR (P RE 22)

(a)

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A3MBLEE
2019
RMB’000
ARETT

3,634
58,919

62,453

EHREH

ARBIMEERSEENEBER
REBEE TEMEZAM B LR
RRAE RS -

AR AKRERAFELRBERE
RS ERERBAE - I |AHR
BRFEH -

EMBRE  AEBEFBRKILAD
MIE AR M AL E B A RAH E
DRERFERBTREA25% o REM
B IRER P B AR
MDA BRI ERFFNEE -

B BLIR AR A [ (A SRR RS
R T A R T
FEERORTIE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB HRRNE (8)

(b)

The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the (b) AEEBBRFAIFEARIE - HiE
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted FA& £ = B8 ) 38 R &0 hn g 39
average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated EMEEEANIERHENZ=E0
entities as follows: ™

Year ended December 31,

BZ12B31BLLEE

2019
RMB'000
ARETTT
Loss before income tax FRETE T ATES 18 (1,398,673)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates EZEEBRROFBEIRERLN
applicable to profits in the B R E A EIE
respective countries 39,605
Tax effects of: TR 2
— Expenses not deductible for tax — AR
purposes 1,619
— Temporary differences for which no — RIERIRIEFTSTHEER
deferred income tax asset was TREMEER
recognised 973
— Recognition of temporary — A T TS A 7 T R RR B
differences relating to acquisition WS HREER AN
of oil and gas properties upon TR
agreement of tax authority 20,580
— Adjustments in respect of — AR EFE
prior years (324)
Tax charge BIEXH 62,453
During the year, the weighted average effective tax rate REFZIMEFHBERRER-3%
was negative 3% (2019: negative 4%). (20194 : -4%) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BEHRRNE (8)

The Board of Directors did not propose a dividend for the year
(2019: Nil).

(a)

(b)

Basic

KA BEEERERNEE TR A
(20194 : 4#) o

(a) E&

Year ended December 31,
BE12A3MBLLEE

2019
RMB'000
ARBTFT
(Loss)/profit for the year attribute to AREEEAER (E18),/
owners of the Company used to I Ea ) A WG
determine basic (loss)/earnings Fra&E (&R),/FH
per share
— Continuing operations — FELE (1,457,214)
— Discontinued operations — R 332,177
Weighted average number of IEEH T RREE (FR)
ordinary shares (thousands) 3,136,343
Basic (loss)/earnings per share ARG (BR), W
— Continuing operations — FELE (0.46)
— Discontinued operations — R 0.11
(0.35)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

Diluted

The dilutive (loss)/earnings per share is the same as the
basic (loss)/earnings per share.

ERGR(EE) WaEBREARR BN
BEMES(BR) /B BUAAEE
AERTEBRMIEFIHEHE -
(b) g

BRHE(BR) RaBEREK
(&18), Wz EmE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB HRRNE (8)

Continuing operations
Loss before income tax

Adjustments for:
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation
Interest expense — net (Note 28)

Net impairment losses on financial assets

Impairment charges

Share-based payment to employees

Exchange losses/(gains)

Losses on changes in fair value of
financial instruments

Losses on disposal of subsidiaries

Others

Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Inventories

Cash generated from operations

Cash flows from operating activities
Continuing operations

Interest paid

Income taxes paid

Discontinued operations

Net cash inflow from operating
activities

rEgE
BR P15 B A1 &S 18

P

PreE ~ IriE g
FF B H (FsE28)
TEVEERERK
BERERX
FERRHEET S T B B IRISA AR
PE H 1B (M)
SMTENAABEZEELX

BREFARIEK
Hity

LEETHE

I T R Ao e EL At FE MR
J A BR SR B ELA FE A 3R
TR

RETHELENRE

RETHNRERE
SRS

BEAFE

B AR

gl Sy

REFHRSFHE
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Year ended December 31,
BZ12A3NBLEE
2019
RMB'000
AREFTT

(1,398,673)

348,751
567,794
698,154
4,826

10,841
(4,509)

71,159
21,197

(3,678)
162,766
1,285
479,913
479,913

(418,196)

11,911

73,628



This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the
movements in net debt for each of the periods presented.

Cash and cash equivalents

Borrowings — repayable within one year
(including overdraft)

Borrowings — repayable after one year

Lease liabilities

Net debt

Cash and liquid investments
Gross debt — fixed interest rates

Net debt

R MREEHEY
B — —FUREE
(BEBEXER)
AR — —FALEE

HERE
FAE
Re Rk E

A E — BEM=X

FEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
SHIEHRERNFE(E)

KSR T EABOATARESH
HRE E EHEE -

As at December 31,
M12H831H

2019
RMB'000
AREET T
13,711
(2,278,762)

(1,720,505)
(13,445)

(3,999,001)

13,711
(4,012,712)

(3,999,001)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BHIERERNFE(E)

Cash and Borrowing Borrowing Financial
cash Liquid due within due after liabilities at Lease
equivalent  investments 1year 1year FVTPL Liabilities Total
JAFVTPL
RER FEH
RELEN nBRE -EURER  -FULER SRER HEER @it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARMTT  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR

Net debt FEE

As at January 1, 2020 #20206151A
Cash flows Re

New lease MERE

Foreign exchange adjustments ~ J\EHEZEHE
Other non-cash movements AFBRLES

As at December 31, 2020 120205125318

As at January 1,2019 #2019151A 28,115 17,755 (2,549,888) (1,786,066) (313,969) (7,056) (4,611,109
Cash flows B

— Continued operations -RERE (14,644) - 55,716 - 7,264 6,145 54,481

New lease ERE - - - = = (12,487) (12,487)
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ JMERTEZEHE 240 118 (24,658) (18,351) 14,023 (47) (28,675)
Other non-cash movements HiER 2% - (17.873) 240,068 83,912 292,682 - 598,789
AsatDecember31, 2019 H2019%128318 13,711 - Q8T (1720509 - (13445 (3,999001)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

(a)

(b)

Commitments

(i) Capital commitments for the purchase of
property, plant and equipment
Authorised by the Board of EEenibEBRED

Directors but not contracted for

(ii) Operating lease commitments
The Group has operating lease commitments
related to its non-cancellable operating leases for
offices and vehicles. The future aggregate
minimum lease payments under these operating
leases not recognised in lease liabilities are as
follows:
Less than 1 year DR—F

Contingencies

The Group has contingent liabilities in respect of claims
or other legal procedures arising in its ordinary course
of business from time to time. As at December 31,
2020, the Directors did not anticipate that any material
liabilities will arise from the contingent liabilities other
than those provided for in the financial statements.

(b)

Ak

(i) BEFAHE IRKR#EZ
BXMAEHER

As at December 31,
M12A31H
2019
RMB'000
AREFT

139,692

(i) REHEESHEE

AEBRAZEEHERDEM
BEWmAEA TR MBENLE
MO AE - BREHERT KR
BEHEMHERENRKRE
MERMFKEBIIRAOT

As at December 31,

M12H831H
2019
RMB'000
ARETIT
1,448

R RN

REET BT EB R e Ae
RENHEMEREFEENSBE
& - 2020612 A31H  ££78
HiRR BRI R R BB AN - T
EEMRBAEHEREREERN
£IF o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SRR AT (48)

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial MR TEIISRREM G ETIRTEIN - FEIE
statements, the Group incurred significant transactions and FEKSEEN NEEERBM S EEE
balances with related parties in the ordinary course of its BAR S RERBRE o

business.

(a) Significant transactions with related parties (a) EBHREES AW ZBIRMT :

are set out below:

Transactions with associates HEEMENRS
— Accrued interest income from — R F PBV IR B 3K
shareholder’s loan to PBV FiTEE A O ) B A

— Investment in PetroBroad — ¥ PetroBroad )% &

Transactions with controlling BRARR B RAER D FER
shareholder of the Company’s BRFARBRAER AT
ultimate holding company and/ora #ZERRRMNEE AT,
company/person related to the ATHR S (*)

controlling shareholder of the
Company’s ultimate holding
company (*)

— Purchase for oilfield services — BEEHRS

— Rental of vehicles and office — AEMNRAENTHE
premises

— Individual loan from Mrs. Zhang — RRABABRK

— Repayment of individual loan and — BB RKAMEAER LTS

interest of Mrs. Zhang

* The purchases of oilfield services and rental of vehicles and
office premises represented gross amount transacted between
the Group and Mrs. Zhang or entities controlled by Mrs. Zhang.
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Year ended December 31,

BZ12A3MBLEEE
2019
RMB'000
ARETFT

37,652
(4,883)

(111,814)

(193)
19,084

(17,055)

BREF RGO AEMBRAEEER
RI|RR AR AR AL GO EERETT
R DEVHEER ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

(b) Year-end balances with related parties are (b) BEBAEXRZERGEINRNMOT :
summarised as follows:

As at December 31,

MW12A31H
2019
RMB'000
ARET T
Included in ‘trade and other [EWERERREMERR] B1F :
receivables’:
Other receivables from Palaeontol B.V. E fh gl Palacontol B.V. 7118 7,121
Shareholder loans granted to % F Palaeontol B.V. IR &
Palaeontol B.V. 911,901
Other receivables from companies H b E U LR R B R AR T
controlled by the controlling 120 A% F& B8 120 1 B X B Y 2R 08
shareholder of the Company’s
ultimate holding company 1,734
920,756
Included in ‘trade and other [EFERREMESR]BTF :
payables’:
Trade payables to companies controlled FE1S2 AR A &) S 48128 i% 5 122 %
by the controlling shareholder of the — AXERIEHIA) A R E 5 /A
Company’s ultimate holding company 118,515
Other payables from Palaeontol B.V. H i fE {5 Palaeontol B.V. 718 532
Others HAth 1,595
120,642
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

(b) Year-end balances with related parties are (b) BEBAEXRZERGEINRNMOT :
summarised as follows: (Continued) (&)
Trade payables to companies controlled by the JEAT AN B B AR PR T R AR A R
controlling shareholder of the Company’s ultimate THIE N BN E S RIE AR S RE
holding company represent payables for oilfield related BlZRAmAZEERARREFAA
services from Jilin Guotai Petroleum Development MR B Z A BB RIS AR A A
Company and its subsidiaries, Songyuan Guotai REME BB TRERIRSES
Petroleum Technology Service Company and Jilin FR A &) Sz {~F ) M AE B8 AR 75 A B 1~ 3%
Guotai Drilling Engineering Technology Service IF o
Company.
(c) Loan to related parties (c) FEABEER
2019
RMB'000
ARETT
Loan to associates: FHESEER
As at January 1, M1B1H 879,895
— Repayment — B (27,578)
— Interest charged — FBUA 37,652
— Exchange (losses)/gains —EBH (BKX), Wi 21,932
As at December 31, M12A31H 911,901
The shareholders loans to associate as at December 31, R2020F 12 A31H * AEEIKRT
2020 is unsecured, carries interest ranging from 4.9% BEPENBRREEREERIFE
t0 5.0% per annum (2019: 4.9% t0 5.0%). FBRERFNNEEE RIINE

5.0% (20194 : 49% £5.0%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FEIIE SRR ()

(d) Loan from related parties (d) REFEESESERK
2019
RMB'000
ARETT
Loan from related parties REBFTEEER
As at January 1, ®1B1A 170
— Addition — 3 19,084
— Interest charged — RN EEH 417
— Repayment — EE (17,055)
— Exchange (losses)/gains — BN (Bx) s 17
As at December 31, M®12H31H 2,633
The loan from related parties is unsecured, carries N ER B B H 7 HRAS {ﬁm%?ﬁﬁfﬁﬁ
interest 8% per annum. All of the loan has been repaid f)ftﬂ %%iﬂfﬁw% - B EpE
within the year. REERFAER
(e) Key management compensation: () FEEBAEBMEIRNOT :

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A3MBLFE

2019
RMB'000
AREFIT
Basic salaries and allowances EARFre KOEBE 25,284
Discretionary bonuses [l=paen 39,429
Value of share based payment 1 2t %8
— employee services — EERSER 5,991
Other benefits including pension HEaEd (BIEENRE) 2,289
72,993
Key management includes directors and members of FEEBEABRREENSRERE
senior management. Bonuses fall due wholly within EAB - i8e e eERE il
twelve months after the end of the reporting period in FERRTES 1% 12 18 B B -

which management rendered the related services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BHIERERNFE(E)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEHNTEHNES
Employer's Stock
Salaries Share  contribution appreciation
and  Discretionary Housing options  to pension Other rights
Fees allowances bonuses allowance expenses scheme benefits granted Total
RIRGHER

it FERAY  MERE  REEM  BERER BRIt AMER  ROSER it
RMBOOD  RVBOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RVBOOO  RMBOOD  RNBOOO  RMBIOD
ARRTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARMIR  ARMTT  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR

Year ended December 31, 2020 BEANERANALER

Executive Directors 4783

Zhang Ruilin FAm

Zhao Jiangwei il
Non-Executive Director FiES
XieNa Eil
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHTES
Mei Jianping BET

Jeffrey Willard Miler Jeffrey Willard Miler
Guo Yanjun ks

Chief Executive Officer EREE

Mei Liming (note f) 1B (M ()

Year ended December 31, 2019 HZN19E1ANALEE
HTE

Executive Directors

Zhang Ruilin Fia - 3,500 4137 366 575 2% 467 - 9,069

Zhao Jiangwei BB - 3,000 345 27 57 3% 386 - 4599

Wang Xiong (note i) FH (e i) - - - = . - - i, _

Mei Liming (note {) R (B ) = 346 280 5 163 7 7 = 3408

Non-Executive Directors FuEz

Xie Na il = = = = = = = = =

Jiao Qisen note () FERAZR (IR3E () 12 - = - - - - - 1

Independent Non-executive Directors B U3 TEE

Mei Jianping Y 276 - - - 9 - - 9 377

Jeffrey Willard Miller effrey Willrd Miler 345 - - - 132 - - 9 486

Guo Yanjun i 276 - - - - - - - 276
909 6,846 1312 628 1527 67 860 18 18,221
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI RERME (E)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

Mr. Mei Liming was appointed as an executive
director and the chief executive officer of the
Company with effect from November 11, 2019
and was resigned as an executive director with
effect from June 18, 2020.

Mr. Jiao Qisen was appointed as a non-executive
director with effect from January 29, 2018 and
resigned with effect from January 16, 2019.

Mr. Wang Xiong was appointed with effect from
August 9, 2019 and resigned with effect from
November 11, 2019.

Directors’ retirement benefits

Employer’s contribution to pension scheme of Mr.
Zhang Ruilin during the year in respect of Mr.Zhang
Ruilin’s services as a director of the Company is
RMB16,557 (2019: RMB23,521).

Employer’s contribution to pension scheme of Mr. Zhao
Jiangwei during the year in respect of Mr. Zhao
Jiangwei's services as a director of the Company is
RMB18,987 (2019: RMB35,636).

(a)

(b)

ESRERUTEMS (B

(ii)

(iif)

IR EW T D ABRITE
EMEEHNITE © H20194F
1M A1 B 4% 82020
FoH18HREB IR TES °

EHZ L4 8201841 529
BR#EmAIERNITES
B 201941 A 16 B £ &8 -

F # 55 £ R 201968 A9 H
WA 0 W 2019 11 A

11 B BeE -

ESMERARER

REFE  ARAFTEEREEAE
AR RET AR ESREREmMR
HEKRFAEETHREEERR B
AR¥16,557 7 (20194F : ARKE
23,521 7T) °

AEE - AEIREEREEAAR
AR RET AR ESREREmMR
HEKRAEETHREEER B
AR¥18,9877L(20194F : ARKE
35,636 7T) °
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Statement of financial position of the Company

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Interests in subsidiaries

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Loans to subsidiaries

Right-of-use assets

Financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income

Current assets

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Equity

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Share capital

Other reserves

Accumulated losses

Total equity

aE

FRBEE
TEE - TRERE
FRAER

BN REE REARYGK

FARER
ERREE

WA EEEHE B BB A
HiuRA MR S REE

RBEE
TR - REE RHEMEUR

Re LR EEY

BEME

R
BERARAMBENER

LN
H A ek
REtEE

REEE AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

DB BRI R

As at December 31,
M12H31H

2019
RMB'000
AREET T

787
2,901,832

385,029
618,737
10,26

2,263

3,919,643

20,679
3,053

23,732

3,943,375

1,101,249
1,451,724
(3,892,213)

(1,339,240)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BEHRRNE (8)

Statement of financial position of the Company
(Continued)

Liabilities af&

Non-current liabilities FkRBEME
Borrowings (R

Provisions, accruals and other liabilities ~— Y£/% - JEIR R E b & (&
Lease liability HEBE

Current liabilities RBEE

Provisions, accruals and other liabilities ~ Y6% - JEIR R E b B (&
Borrowings EE

Amounts due to subsidiaries FEfHT A R FKIE

Lease liability HEBE

Total liabilities BEHHE

Total equity and liabilities ERREERE

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on March 31, 2021 and
was signed on its behalf.

Zhang Ruilin
R
Director

EZ

R BB E ()

As at December 31,
M12HA31H

2019
RMB'000
ARETT

1,720,505
56,776
4,433

1,781,714

S7/8898
1,219,854
1,949,872

8,682

3,600,901
5,282,615

3,943,375

RABFHEARARE R 202143 A31H
Esfaeitf  TREREFZERE -

Zhao Jiangwei
Director

EZ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI TS RERMIE ()

Statement of financial position of the Company AT IERRTR ()
(Continued)
(a) Other reserve movement of the Company (a) ADFREMFEEEE
Repurchased Currency Share based Financial
shares held Capital  translation payment assets at
by trust reserve reserve reserves FvOCI Total
BAR
EEER
HBHHFA
Hitme
ERRE S 13) 63
20§ AR 4 EXRE THRE X R SREE @zt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARKTT ARETE AR%TT ARKTR

As at January 1, 2020 20201 81H

Currency translation INEEER
differences
Employees stock EERBRIEE
option scheme
— Value of employee — REREERE
services

As at December 31,2020 42020412 B31H

As at January 1, 2019 H2019F181H (89,976) 1,366,956 932 178,034 206 1,456,152
Currency translation INEFTEER

differences - - (15,269) - - (15,269)
Employees stock ESRERETE

option scheme

— Value of employee —EERKERE

services - - - 10,841 - 10,841

As at December 31,2019 20195128318 (89,976) 1,366,956 (14,337) 188,875 206 1,451,724
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MIE HOLDINGS CORPORATION
MI RERIZR AR AT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(REI2E B ME L2 HRAR])
(Stock code B&faft5%: 1555)

www.mienergy.com.cn


http://www.mienergy.com.cn
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